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Mission of the Bank of Albania

The Bank of Albania is the country’s central bank and monetary authority and 
has the exclusive right to: 

(i) 	 formulate, adopt and implement the monetary policy of Albania. The principle 
objective of the Bank of Albania is to achieve and maintain price stability, 
which is the best contribution of the monetary policy for sustainable and 
long-term economic growth of Albania; 

(ii) 	 issue and circulate the Albanian currency, by ensuring the public confidence 
in the currency, by guaranteeing the quality of banknotes and coins and 
providing a safe and efficient currency supply to meet the needs of the 
economy for money; 

(iii) 	 hold and manage the official international reserves of the Republic of Albania, 
as a guarantee for withstanding adverse shocks in the real sector of the 
economy and support for Albania’s financial stability. 

As the issuer of the national currency, the Bank of Albania promotes the smooth 
operation of payments systems to ensure a safe and fast circulation of the currency 
in the economy at minimum costs, prevent systemic risk, and safeguard the stability 
of financial institutions and markets. 

The Bank of Albania promotes financial system stability - public confidence in 
institutions, markets, and financial infrastructure - through regulating, licensing, and 
supervising banks and other financial institutions, as well as regularly identifying 
and analysing risks and threats to financial stability.

vision of the Bank of Albania

The Bank of Albania aims at fostering good-governance with a view to boosting 
public confidence in the Bank of Albania, through: 

a)	 strengthening the independence in accomplishing the mission and legal objectives, 
in conformity with the obligations arising from the gradual approximation of 
Albania’s legislation and policies with the EU and ESCB legislation.

b)	 increasing the accountability to the Assembly of the Republic of Albania 
and the public for the fulfilment of the main duties, the primary objective and 
other legal objectives of the Bank of Albania. This also includes adopting 
best accounting and auditing standards, publishing regularly financial reports 
and ensuring the integrity of external and internal audit processes, as key 
elements for public accountability.

c)	 enhancing the transparency on the activity of the Bank of Albania, through an 
open and transparent communication with the public. The Bank of Albania will 
take the appropriate measures, in accordance with the law and its policies, 
to increase the comprehensibility and predictability of the monetary policy, 
improve accountability, and boost public confidence in the Bank.



Gent Sejko, Governor of the Bank of Albania



Annual Report, 2017

9 Bank of Albania

years Bank of Albania

FOREWORD BY THE GOVERNOR
 

Dear reader,

In compliance with our legal obligations for transparency and accountability, the 
Annual Report presents the highlights in the activity of the Bank of Albania during 
the previous year.

As the monetary authority and the institution responsible for regulating and 
supervising the banking activity in Albania, the Bank of Albania is responsible for 
maintaining price stability, supporting financial stability, issuing and circulating the 
Albanian currency, promoting lending and the development of payments systems, 
as well as other duties that contribute to the sustainable and long-term development 
of Albania.

Our work during 2017 materialised in tangible results, across all the aspects of 
our activity. 

In the economic aspect, our accommodative monetary policy boosted aggregate 
demand and economic growth, contributed to the growth of employment and the 
improvement of financial balances of the economic agents, and created the premises 
for the return of inflation to target over the medium-term.

In the financial aspect, the prudential supervision and pro-active approach to banking 
regulation contributed to the overall improvement of the soundness parameters of the 
banking sector and increased its ability for financial intermediation. In particular, 
the action plan to reduce non-performing loans continued to produce results, almost 
halving this indicator over three years.

To improve the security of the financial system and in the framework of public interest, 
the Bank of Albania drafted new regulations, with well-defined procedures to be 
ready to intervene and restructure banks that may face solvency issues. Also, in view 
of supporting financial stability, we continued to cooperate with all our domestic 
and foreign partners to exchange information and enhance the coordination and 
efficiency of our measures.

To support the economic and financial development of Albania, we continued 
working for the most efficient operation of the payments systems. This year, efforts 
were made to improve the regulatory framework of payments services, which 
increase transparency for the provided services and strengthen the legal basis on 
consumer protection. The improvement of these aspects helps in expanding the 
financial inclusion of the population, taking into account that Albania has a low 
ranking in this aspect. 

In addition, the Bank of Albania continued to be an active contributor to fulfilling 
Albania’s EU integration criteria, the standardization and unification of statistics 
compiled in accordance with international standards, as well as financial education 
of the public at an early age. The series of “Museum Nights”, where academics 
from different fields deliver lectures related to numismatic and collection issues was 
a welcomed innovation during this year.
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In its communication philosophy, the Bank of Albania aims to be open and promote 
cooperation, exchange of opinions and supply information. This year registered a 
number of activities involving both the professionals and the general public. Also, 
important memorandums of cooperation were signed, among others, with the 
authorities of Albania to increase the use of the domestic currency in the financial 
system and in the economy.

At the end of 2017, the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania approved 
the Medium-term Development Strategy of the Bank for the next three years. This 
strategy sets out our ambitions to develop and prepare in accordance with the best 
international standards. The document is a concrete expression of our pro-active 
philosophy towards the challenges of the environment in which the Bank of Albania 
operates. 

Finally, as it has become a tradition, I would like to draw attention and thank the 
employees and the management of the Bank of Albania; their dedication and 
professionalism has been and will continue to be the real guarantor of the success 
of our work.

Gent SEJKO

Governor
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Highlights of 2017

•	 The Albanian economy grew by 3.9% during the first nine months of 2017, 
improving the growth rate for the third consecutive year. The expansion of 
the economic activity was supported by all the components of aggregate 
demand and helped increasing the output across all the main sectors of the 
economy. 

•	 The average inflation rate rose to 2.0% during 2017, but it continues to 
undershoot our target. Although upward, domestic inflationary pressures were 
still insufficient to offset the low inflation rate in our trading partner countries, 
the effects of the exchange rate appreciation, and the growing inertia of the 
price formation process over the last years.

•	 Based on the trends of economic development and the underlying factors, 
the Bank of Albania expects economic growth to continue further in the next 
years and inflation to return to target over the medium-term.

•	 The monetary policy stance of the Bank of Albania remained accommodative. 
The policy rate did not change and, at 1.25%, stands at its lowest historical 
level. Meanwhile, the Bank of Albania increased the liquidity injection and 
continued the forward guidance on monetary policy. The monetary policy 
pass-through to the financial markets has been complete, while its transmission 
to the economic activity and to prices is increasing. 

•	 The fiscal policy was less consolidating compared with the previous year. 
This policy supported economic growth mainly through the expansion of 
investments. The budget deficit was assessed at 2.0% of the GDP, while 
public debt reached 69.6% of GDP in 2017.

•	 The banking sector activity has been improving: profitability indicators 
increased, capitalisation and liquidity are at good levels and the non-
performing loans ratio declined. The latter is at 13.2% from 18.2% in 2016 
and reflects the implementation of the plan of measures for reducing non-
performing loans.

•	 Although credit and market risks remain present, the indicators monitored 
for the assessment of systemic risks suggest financial stability improved in 
Albania. The resilience of the financial system to operational risks remains 
good.

•	 The regulatory framework on supervision and financial stability continued to 
be aligned with the Basel Committee principles and EU directives. Among 
the most significant regulatory changes were those on the Internal Capital 
Adequacy and Assessment.

•	 In February, in collaboration with the World Bank, we organised the workshop 
on “The financial system in Albania - From 2025 scenarios to action today”. 
The aim was to discuss different scenarios and combinations of factors that 
could affect our economy in the distant future, and their impact in today’s 
decision-making. 

•	 In April, was signed a Memorandum of Cooperation between the Bank of 
Albania, the Ministry of Finance and Economy, and the Financial Supervision 
Authority “On increasing the use of the national currency in the Albanian 
financial system and economy” (the de-euroization strategy). Following this 
Memorandum, the Bank of Albania prepared a package of measures that 
included the de-euroization strategy policy document and some regulatory 
amendments. After a series of consultations with the relevant stakeholders, 
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these measures were approved in February 2018.
•	 In May, the National Payments System Committee, chaired by the Bank 

of Albania held its regular meeting. The Committee initiated a number of 
important projects that help to promote the reform of the small-value payments 
market and the use of electronic payments instruments. 

•	 In May, in cooperation with the International Monetary Fund and the Swiss 
Government, an international conference was organised on “Negative Euro 
Area Interest Rates and Spillovers on Western Balkan Central Banks’ Policies 
and Instruments”. A panel of experts discussed the impact of non-conventional 
policies on Western Balkan countries by major central banks.

•	 In June, the First Conference of the Museum of the Bank of Albania was 
organised on “Money and Banking in Albania, from Antiquity to Modern 
Times”. The conference brought together experts from various fields, who 
discussed findings in the area of monetary production and circulation, the 
economic history and the development of banking in Albania, as well as the 
educational role of the Museum.

•	 In July, the Law “On the recovery and resolution of banks in the Republic 
of Albania” entered into force, establishing the Bank of Albania as the 
Resolution Authority for banks and branches of foreign banks that exercise 
their activity in Albania. The Resolution Department was established as the 
unit responsible for the implementation of this mandate. The Regulation “On 
the Resolution Fund and the procedures for its management”, which defines 
the establishment of the resolution fund the respective procedures for its 
contributions and management was approved in October.

•	 In August, the Macro-prudential Policy Strategy was approved. It is a guideline 
for macro-prudential measures available to the Bank of Albania to maintain 
financial stability. These measures aim at preventing risk accumulation and 
increasing the resilience of financial institutions.

•	 In November, in collaboration with the South East European Studies Centre 
at the University of Oxford, the Annual Conference of the Bank of Albania 
was organised. This year, it focused on the banking market developments 
and the role of financial markets infrastructure in risk mitigation and financial 
intermediation.

•	 In November, the Governor of the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey, Mr 
Murat Çetinkaya, visited the Bank of Albania. During the visit, at the Bank of 
Albania a Memorandum of Cooperation was signed, aimed at enhancing 
the cooperation between the two central banks. 

•	 In November, the Supervisory Council approved the Medium-Term 
Development Strategy 2018-2020 of the Bank of Albania. In accordance with 
the objectives of this strategy, it approved the guiding medium-term budget 
for 2019-2020.

•	 In November, the Decision on the transfer of Veneto Bank’s shares to the 
Intesa Sanpaolo Bank was approved. The absorption of Veneto Bank into 
Intesa Sanpaolo Bank is expected to be completed in 2018, thus reducing 
the number of banks in the banking sector. 

•	 In December, a Memorandum of Understanding was signed between the Bank 
of Albania, the Minister of State for the Diaspora and the Ministry of Finance 
and Economy, which aims to increase the awareness, facilitate dialogue and 
promote cooperation on issues related to the contribution of remittances by 
the Albanian emigrants on economic development.
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sUPERVISORY cOUNCIL of the Bank of Albania 

(left to right)

Mr. Petraq Milo, Member
Ms. Ela Golemi, Member
Mr. Arben Malaj, Member

Ms. Elisabeta Gjoni, Deputy Chair
Mr. Gent Sejko, Chair

Ms. Natasha Ahmetaj, Member
Mr. Dhori Kule, Member

Ms. Denada Prifti, Member 
Mr. Tonin Kola, Member
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1. Activity of the Supervisory Council of the 
Bank of Albania

The decision-making process at the Bank of Albania is guided by the 
principles of lawfulness, professionalism, independence, and transparency. 
The Supervisory Council is the highest decision-making and supervisory body 
of the Bank of Albania. It is composed of nine members voted and appointed 
by the Assembly of the Republic of Albania.

The Supervisory Council has the ultimate responsibility to decide on the strategy 
of the Bank of Albania, the appointment of heads of departments, the approval 
of the organisational structure, as well as the fulfilment of obligations related 
with risk management and compliance. 

In order to increase efficiency, the internal audit functions are delegated to the 
Audit Committee, which is responsible for the financial reporting process and 
the internal audit system.

The Supervisory Council has performed its activity in line with the provisions 
of the organic law and the procedures established in the regulation on the 
organisation and functioning of this body.

Highlights in the activity of the Council for 2017, include: (i) the establishment 
of the Resolution Department; (ii) the approval of the Macro-prudential Policy 
Strategy; (iii) the approval of the operational risk tolerance level at the Bank of 
Albania; and, (iv) the update of the Medium-term Development Strategy of the 
Bank of Albania. 

The Supervisory Council - the highest decision-making body 
of the Bank of Albania

The Council held 15 meetings in 2017. Eight of these meetings focused 
on the review and approval of the monetary policy, divided in 4 quarterly 
and 4 intermediate meetings. In these meetings, after reviewing the latest 
macroeconomic development and factors that affect the performance of 
consumer prices in Albania, the Council took decisions on the key interest rates. 

Throughout 2017, the Council has not changed the key interest rates, namely: 
(i) the policy rate at 1.25%; (ii) the overnight deposit rate at 0.25%; and (iii) the 
overnight lending rate at 2.25%.

Four meetings were dedicated to the analysis of the developments in the banking 
sector and in non-bank financial institutions. The other meetings addressed: (i) 
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the annual programme of the Council; (ii) the Annual Report of the Bank of 
Albania; and, (iii) the medium-term strategy, and the annual and medium-term 
budget. 

a.	 Decision-making 

The Supervisory Council has the power to approve all the decisions, regulations 
and guidelines of general application, issued by the Bank of Albania.

During 2017, the Council approved 82 decisions, of which 61 were acts 
approved for the first time and 21 were amendments to existing acts. The 
Council approved 29 regulations (of which 8 new and 21 amendments to 
existing regulations) and 1 guideline of general application. 

These above-mentioned acts were issued in accordance with the duties of 
the Council, as defined in the organic law, such as: (i) monetary stability; (ii) 
licensing, regulation and supervision of banks and other financial institutions; and 
(iii) provision of the financial infrastructure (currency issue, the functioning of the 
Albanian Financial Instrument Settlement and Registration system, statistics, etc.). 

b.	 Management and internal organisation 

The organic law stipulates that the Council is responsible for: (i) approving the 
Statute and the internal regulations of the Bank of Albania; (ii) determining the 
organisational structure; and, (iii) approving the appointment of the heads of 
departments and defining employment conditions at the Bank of Albania. 

In November, the Council approved the Medium-term Development Strategy 
2018-2020 of the Bank of Albania, which is an update of the Strategy 2016-
2018. The update was a necessary step before the approval of the budget of 
the Bank of Albania for 2018 and its medium-term heuristic budget for 2019-
2020. 

The strategy includes the main functions of the Bank of Albania: the policies 
(monetary, international reserve, banking supervision); financial infrastructure 
(currency issue, payments systems); other functions (research, statistics); and 
supporting services (human resources, legal issues, accounting and finance, 
procurement and services, IT).

In March, at the end of the probationary period, the Council approved the 
appointment of the head of the Financial Statistics Department.

c.	 Budget

The Council decides on the budget of the Bank of Albania, the management 
policies and the procedures on using financial assets to carry out the operational 
activity of the institution. 
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In November, the Council approved the 2018 annual budget and the medium-
term guiding budget 2019-2020. The budget was drafted in accordance 
with the Medium-term Development Strategy of the Bank of Albania and 
departmental projections on medium-term incomes and expenditures. For the 
first time, this year, capital expenditures and the projections included in the 
budget were preliminarily approved by the Capital Expenditures Committee. 

The budget aims at providing for the implementation of the main functions, 
the normal conduct of the activity and the fulfilment of the strategic objectives 
of the Bank of Albania. It is prepared by based on reference to the current 
situation in international markets, developments in the domestic market, the 
capital expenditure plan, and reflects the necessary operational expenditures 
for due management of assets and human resources.

The Supervisory Council as the highest supervisory body of 
the Bank of Albania

The Council considers the exercise of its supervision responsibility on the 
policies, management and operations of the Bank of Albania as particularly 
important. 

To ensure compliance with the law and other acts regulating the daily activity 
of the Bank of Albania, the Council has been regularly informed by the relevant 
internal and external audits.

a.	I nternal audit 

The internal audit is an activity independent of the management, which 
provides evaluation, reporting and objective certainty, as well as includes the 
compliance, internal auditing and risk management functions. 

i.	 Control over management 

According to the organic law, the Governor is accountable to the Council for the 
implementation of the approved decisions, as well as for the guidance, control 
and oversight on the management and operations of the Bank of Albania.

The administrators (the Governor and the two Deputy Governors) have informed 
the Supervisory Council on monthly basis about the economic, financial and 
monetary developments, in accordance with the legal obligations. 

The Council has been also informed about the institution’s management policies 
and methods of using the financial assets for the realisation of the operational 
activity of the Bank of Albania. Every month, information was presented on the 
financial position and result of the Bank of Albania and the international reserve 
management. 



Annual Report, 2017

18Bank of Albania

ii.	 Activity of the Audit Committee

In order to improve the decision-making of the Council and the management 
of the institution, the Audit Committee exercises its duties supporting 
the strengthening of internal and external control lines. This Committee is 
responsible for: (i) the financial reporting process; (ii) the internal control 
system; (iii) the internal and external audit; and, (iv) compliance with the legal 
and sub-legal acts into force.

The Committee is composed of three members of the Council, appointed by the 
Council, for a three year period. The members of the Committee are: Mr Petraq 
Milo (Chair), Ms Ela Golemi and Ms Denada Prifti, appointed on May 2015. 

In 2017, the Audit Committee met six times and discussed issues such as: (i) the 
annual work plan; (ii) the drafting of financial statements; (iii) the external audit; 
(iv) the performance of the Audit Department commitments; and, (v) the annual 
and medium-term budget.

The Committee meets regularly with the Inspector General, without the presence 
of the administrators, and discusses the organisation of the Audit Department, 
the auditing annual plan and the commitments’ performance. These meetings 
enabled members of the Committee to be informed on the internal control 
systems and risk management. 

The Inspector General has regularly informed the Committee, and in turn the 
Council, on the findings and recommendations by the Audit Department, which 
provide an independent guarantee on the effectiveness and quality of the 
systems mentioned above.

In March, the Audit Committee held a meeting with the external auditor 
(KPMG) to discuss on the audit for 2016 and the certification of the financial 
statements. During the meeting, the external auditor communicated to the 
members of the Committee: (i) its assessment on the accounting principles at 
the Bank of Albania implemented in financial reporting; (ii) the main issues 
discussed with the management during the auditing process, particularly 
those significant on financial statements and the audit report; and, (iii) the 
main difficulties encountered during the auditing process. The Committee 
was also made aware about the innovations in this year’s external audit 
report, as a result of the adoption of the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

The members of the Committee met with the head of the department responsible 
for finance to discuss issues like: the preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with the IFRS, internal control on financial reporting, the external 
audit process performance, and the draft of the annual and medium-term 
budget. 
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iii.	 Internal audit 

The Inspector General and the Audit Department, periodically and independently: 
(i) assess the accounts and the accounting records, the management and 
operational procedures of the Bank of Albania, to ensure the implementation 
of the legal and sub-legal acts; and, (ii) offer reasonable assurance on the 
efficiency of the control system, risk and processes management, in order to 
fulfil the institutional objectives.

Based on the Internal Audit Policy, the Council approved the work plan of 
the Audit Department for 2017, which had been preliminarily approved 
by the Audit Committee. The annual plan is based on international internal 
audit standards and updated risk assessments on the identified functions in 
the revised audit universe. It also reflects the suggestions of the Council, Audit 
Committee and administrators related to the functions/processes that need to 
be audited, or requests for advising/investigating on specific issues, as well as 
the available budget for the year.

The Inspector General reported regularly to the Council on the realisation of this 
plan and the results of the auditing commitments. 

iv.	 Risk management

In March, the Council approved, for first time, the operational risk level of 
tolerance at the Bank of Albania. The residual operational risks, classified as 
“high” and “medium”, by the periodic assessment of the Inspector General, are 
now treated in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Operational Risk 
Management Policy. The approval of the level of tolerance was preliminarily 
discussed at the Audit Committee. The administrators, after joint consultations, 
may decide on how to handle risk, in accordance with the Policy and the level 
of tolerance defined by the Council.

In December, a regulation was approved on the administrative investigation 
of signalling (whistleblowing), protection of confidentiality and protection from 
retaliation at the Bank of Albania. The Regulation is pursuant to the relevant law 
and aims to prevent and counter corruption, promote signalling on actions or 
practices suspected of corruption, and protect the signalling employees.

b.	E xternal audit

The organic law provides that the Bank of Albania’s accounts and records 
may be checked by external auditors of internationally-recognised auditing 
institutions appointed by the Council. The external auditor expresses his opinion 
if the reports prepared by the Bank of Albania represent fully and fairly the 
financial situation of the institution, in accordance with generally-accepted 
international accounting standards.
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The financial statements of the Bank of Albania are audited so as to offer a 
reasonable reassurance that they are not inaccurate, as a result of errors or 
fraud. This provides the external auditor with a key role in maintaining the trust 
of financial markets and of the public in the financial statements of the Bank of 
Albania. 

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness and appropriateness of the 
external audit function. Prior to submitting the opinion on the financial statements, 
the Committee meets with the external auditor, without the presence of the 
administrators, where the progress of the audit process is discussed. 

Accountability and transparency

The Council has regularly complied with Bank of Albania’s accountability 
obligations to the Assembly and its transparency obligations to the public, the 
financial system and the media. 

The Council approves all reports and recommendations that are presented to 
the Assembly or the Council of Ministers, as well as the annual and financial 
reports of the Bank of Albania. These reports explain the decision-making at the 
Bank of Albania and its performance in light of achieving its legal objectives. 

a.	A pproval of the Annual Report 

In March, the Council approved the Annual Report 2016 and sent it to the 
Assembly and the Council of Ministers. The report describes the economy and 
financial situation in Albania and the activity of the Bank of Albania over the 
reporting period. The financial statements and the external auditor’s opinion are 
an integral part of the Report. Information on the annual activity and results of 
the Audit Department for the period January-December 2016 was attached to 
the Annual Report. This document constitutes an additional instrument towards 
the accountability of the institution. 

b.	A pproval of financial statements 

An integral part of the annual report are also the financial statements verified 
and certified by the external auditor and his opinion. The financial statements 
were audited by KPMG Albania. Based on the review of the International 
Standard on Auditing 720 “The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other 
Information”, the auditor also used other information, from the Annual Report 
2016, to consider whether this information was materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements.

In the opinion of KPMG Albania, the financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the Bank of Albania’s financial position as at 31 December 2016, its 
financial performance and cash flows in accordance with IFRS. 
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c.	 Distribution of profit 

In March, the Council approved the distribution of profit of the Bank of Albania 
for 2016 and the financial statements, in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The value of net profit realised during 
2016 was ALL 908,214,091.75 (calculated as difference between net 
income from the activity of the Bank of Albania, ALL 982,011,140.77, and 
net provisions, ALL 73,797,049.02).

The profit is approved by a separate decision from the one approving financial 
statements, which represent the value of the profit to be distributed. The value 
of profit is set in advance, in accordance with the organic law that provides for 
all possible deductions, subject to approval by the Council, before distribution.

d.	 Reporting to the Assembly and Council of Ministers

In accordance with the organic law, the Bank of Albania must publish: (i) a 
detailed opinion on the situation of the economy, every quarter; and (ii) a 
statement on the threat to the financial system stability, half yearly.

Monetary policy decisions in February, May, August and November are 
accompanied by the publication of the quarterly report of the monetary policy, 
which constitutes the main instrument of accountability and transparency in 
this field. These reports present a comprehensive description of the latest 
macroeconomic developments and factors that affect the performance of 
consumer prices in Albania.

In March and September, the Council discussed and approved the half-yearly 
reports of financial stability. These reports present Bank of Albania’s assessment 
on the financial system developments in Albania, underline potential risks to 
financial stability and make recommendations in relation to the necessary 
measures for reducing risks. 

The reports have been sent to the Assembly, the Council of Ministers and other 
central institutions of the Republic of Albania.
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2. Activity of the Bank of Albania during 
2017

2.1 Monetary Policy

The main objective of the monetary policy is to achieve and maintain price 
stability. A stable price economic environment: (i) provides to households and 
enterprises the possibility to take well-informed decisions on consumption, 
savings and investments; (ii) helps maintaining the purchasing power and 
prevents the unforeseen distribution of income; (iii) facilitates the efficient 
allocation of resources in the economy; and, (iv) promotes financial stability 
in Albania. Hence, monetary policy supports the stable and long-term growth 
of Albania, providing an important contribution to the economic and social 
welfare.

The target of the Bank of Albania’s monetary policy is to keep inflation around 
3% in the medium term. To hit this target, the Bank of Albania operates an 
inflation targeting regime, while the exchange rate is freely determined by the 
demand and supply for foreign currency in the market. On the operational 
aspect, the monetary policy is fulfilled through the intervention with indirect 
instruments in the financial markets.

Albania’s economy and financial system were characterized by improving 
trends during 2017
The available economic and financial data of 2017 represents a positive 
picture, overall. Economic growth strengthened further, growth sources 
appeared more balanced, and the economic activity in Albania approached 
its potential level.

According to INSTAT data, the volume of economic activity registered 3.9% 
annual growth during the first nine months of the year. Indirect data suggest 
that the Albanian economy has continued to grow in 2017 Q4 as well, 
although with a somewhat lower intensity compared with the previous quarters. 
Economic growth was generated by the expansion of domestic demand, in 
the form of increasing consumption and investments, and by the expansion of 
foreign demand, in the form of increasing exports. Both the services and the 
production sectors have benefited from this expansion of aggregate demand.

The expansion of economic activity increased production capacities, as 
illustrated by the increase of employment, the decrease of unemployment, and 
the improvement of the financial situation of enterprises. The annual growth 
of employment averaged 2.9% during the first nine months of the year, while 
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the unemployment rate decreased at 13.6% at the end of 2017 Q3. Also, 
enterprises report a capacity utilisation near the average level of the previous 
year, while the improvement of their financial situation was reflected by the 
decrease of the non-performing loans ratio and the further increase of unused 
liquidity, deposited in commercial banks.

The main economic and financial balances of Albania tended toward 
strengthening
The current account deficit and the level of public debt declined during 2017, 
while financial markets were overall quiet and the main financial soundness 
indicators improved.

The current account deficit decreased at an average of 6% of GDP during the 
first nine months of the year, against the 8% registered in the previous year. 
The current deficit was financed mainly with non-debt-creating flows, helping 
control liquidity risk and foreign debt stability.

Fiscal indicators registered a consolidation during 2017, reflecting a low level 
of budget deficit and a decrease of public debt to GDP ratio. The continuation 
of fiscal consolidation has enabled a better transmission of the monetary stimulus 
to the economy, has helped reducing fiscal weaknesses, and has increased the 
resilience of the public sector against future challenges.

Financial markets were quiet and characterised by low interest rates and 
contained risk premiums. The banking sector appeared sound, with good 
liquidity, capitalisation and profitability indicators. The balances of this sector 
improved, but its lending policies continue to be conservative.

Despite the cyclical improvement, the economic activity remained below the 
potential and inflation below the 3% target.

Average inflation for 2017 resulted at 2.0%, up from the 1.3% in 2016. 
The upward inflation reflected the improving trend of economic activity, but 
its undershooting continues to reflect the operation of the economy below the 
potential, the low inflation in trading partner countries, as well as the appreciation 
of the exchange rate. In particular, inadequate production capacity utilisation 
implies that the level of employment, the wage growth rate and the business 
profit margins continue to lag below their medium and long-term equilibriums.

The Bank of Albania maintained unchanged the size and intensity of the 
monetary stimulus during 2017
Despite the positive development trends, the weakness of general inflationary 
pressures, the still incomplete utilization of production capacities, the medium-
term orientation towards fiscal policy consolidation, and the downward 
concentration of risks’ balance have dictated maintaining the direction and 
intensity of the monetary stimulus unchanged.
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The monetary stimulus was transmitted through three 
main instruments:

−	 The policy rate, which maintained its lowest 
historical level, 1.25%. The low refinancing cost of the 
banking sector has created the premises for an overall 
decrease of financing costs in the real sector of the 
economy.

−	 The injection of liquidity into the interbank 
market, which simultaneously increased its volume 
and average duration. Liquidity injection contributes 
to the normal functioning of the interbank market and 
facilitates the fulfilment of its role as an intermediary of 
funds in the economy. The Bank of Albania injected 
on average about ALL 34 billion per week in the 
interbank market, while a year earlier this indicator 
marked the level of ALL 24 billion. In addition to the 
one-week operations, the Bank of Albania increased 
its three-month liquidity injection, aiming for better 
control over medium and long-term interest rates.

−	 Monetary policy forward guidance; the Bank 
of Albania has used it to suggest the strength and 
intensity of the monetary stimulus will be maintained in 
the next quarters. This instrument has been successful 
in anchoring medium-term inflation expectations and 
reducing long-term interest rates, as shown by the 
flattening of the yield curve in recent years.

Chart 1 Key interest rates

Source: Bank of Albania.
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The accommodative monetary policy provided the main contribution to the 
improvement of the economic indicators.
The accommodative monetary policy has aimed and has managed to boost 
aggregate demand and economic growth, creating the necessary premises for 
the return of inflation to target.

The monetary stimulus was transmitted to the economy through a series of 
channels.

First, the accommodative stance of the monetary policy has boosted the growth 
of consumption and investments by reducing the cost of their financing and by 
improving the liquidity situation of the borrowers. The monetary stimulus has 
enabled the creation of a financial environment characterized by low interest 
rates, ample liquidity, and low risk premiums. The policy rate has decreased 
by 5.0 percentage points since the beginning of 2009, which has enabled the 
decrease of credit interest rates, 12-months T-bills and deposits in lek at 6.9, 
4.5 and 6.6 percentage points, respectively (Chart 4).

Low interest rates have increased demand for new loans and have decreased 
the servicing cost of existing loans. In response to them:

-	 The volume of lek loans to the private sector increased by 7.2% in 
2017, being the main contributor to total credit growth. The new bank 
credit to enterprises is mainly used to finance investment projects, 
whereas those for households mainly to finance consumption.

-	 The servicing cost of existing loans declined, as a consequence of 
the decrease of the 12-months T-bills yields, whose price is used as 
reference rate for lek loans. According to a approximate estimation, 

Chart 4 Interest rates in lek

Source: Bank of Albania.
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in the absence of an accommodative stance of the 
monetary policy, the servicing cost of this credit 
to the private sector would have been around ALL 
11.5 billion higher during 2017. This financial 
saving creates spaces for higher consumption and 
investments, through the use of its own funds.

Second, the monetary policy has boosted domestic 
demand, through the reduction of uncertainties in 
the economy. The monetary policy forward guidance 
has helped reducing private sector uncertainties, 
which has promoted a greater orientation towards 
consumption and investment.

Third, the accommodative stance of the monetary 
policy has helped improve the balance of trade, 
through curbing appreciating pressures of the 

exchange rate and boosting the competitiveness of Albanian exports. 
Improving the positive balance of trade has led to further growth in aggregate 
demand and economic activity.

Finally, the accommodative monetary policy has supported the strengthening 
of Albania’s financial stability. The financial environment with low interest rates 
has improved the financial balances of borrowers, by bolstering aggregate 
demand, by easing the servicing cost of debt, as well as encouraging the 
restructuring of existing loans. In this way, the monetary stimulus has helped 
improve the quality of banking sector assets, which is also the main systemic 
financial risk in Albania.

Through the above transmission channels, the accommodative monetary policy 
has helped increasing aggregate demand and enabled the further expansion 
of economic activity. Our assessments suggest that the monetary policy has 
contributed positively, by around 0.7 percentage point, to the economic 
growth rate of 2017 (for more information, see Box 1).

Growth in aggregate demand has led to higher employment and improved 
capacity utilization rates, boosting medium-term inflationary pressures. However, 
inflation remains below our target. This performance reflects the presence of 
spare production capacities, various short-term shocks as well as other structural 
factors that have impeded the stable return of inflation to target. Also, this 
illustrates the need to continue the accommodative stance of the monetary 
policy in the medium-term as well.

Chart 5 Credit performance in 
years (annual change, in %)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Box 1: Monetary policy in Albania and its contribution to 
economic growth

This box aims to provide and assessment on the impact of monetary policy 
on economic growth. The first section addresses the theoretical aspect of the 
impact of monetary policy transmission channels on the economy. The second 
section addresses the methodology applied to assess the impact of monetary 
policy on Albania’s economic growth. The last section discusses the outcomes 
of the assessment. 

Monetary Policy Transmission Channels 

Monetary policy affects the interest rates in the financial market, the expectations 
of the economic agents, as well as the behaviour of the exchange rate, through 
the spread between the interest rates in lek and those in foreign currency.

Through the impact of the interest rates channel, the monetary policy has a 
significant role in defining financial incentives and the availability of liquidity 
for consumption and investments. Through the expectations channel, the 
monetary policy affects the decision of economic agents for consumption and 
investments. Finally, through the exchange rate channel, the monetary policy 
affects the exchange rate performance and - in the short and medium term - the 
competitiveness level of Albanian exports. In euroized economies, like Albania, 
the exchange rate also affects the financial situation of borrowers in foreign 
currency, unhedged against exchange rate changes. These two exchange rate 
impact channels have opposite effects in the economy.

The monetary policy is accommodative when the policy rate remains below its 
equilibrium level and the real interest rates in financial markets are lower than 
their long-term trend. Such policy is undertaken when inflation is below its target 
and when the volume of economic activity is below its potential. The monetary 
policy is tightening when the policy rate is above its equilibrium level and the real 
interest rates in financial markets are above their long-term trend. Such policy is 
undertaken when inflation is above its target and when the volume of economic 
activity is above its potential. Finally, the monetary policy is neutral when the 
policy rate is at its equilibrium level and the real interest rate is similar to its 
long-term trend. The size of the gap between the policy rate and its equilibrium 
level defines the accommodative or tightening intensity of monetary policy.

An accommodative monetary policy stance:

−	 promotes the increase of consumption and investments, through the 
decrease of financing costs; the increase of liquidity in the market; and 
expectations for growth of demand in the future;

−	 tries to temporarily depreciate the real exchange rate and improve, also 
temporarily, the foreign competitive position of the economy;

−	 attempts to deteriorate the financial situation of borrowers in foreign 
currency, unhedged against exchange rate changes, by decreasing their 
purchasing power. This last channel is viable for euroized economies and 
its impact is the opposite of the two other channels.
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A tightening monetary policy operates in the opposite direction in all the channels 
listed above. 

In all cases, the monetary policy serves as an instrument for the return of the 
economy to equilibrium, which serves the stable and long-term growth of Albania. 
The macroeconomic equilibrium is a prerequisite for medium and long-term 
price stability. 

Assessment methodology of the monetary policy impact on economic growth

The assessment of the contribution of the monetary policy to economic growth 
implies the measurement of the impact of the interest rates on the market and 
the real exchange rate in the real economy, which derive only as a result of 
the monetary policy stance. Two parallel exercises were conducted to obtain 
this assessment. 

−	I n the first exercise, the impact of monetary policy on the real economy 
has been obtained through the interest rate channel. The impact of 
all the components that define the cyclical position of the economy is 
decomposed and the impact of real interest rates on economic growth is 
singled out. 

−	I n the second exercise, the impact of monetary policy on the nominal 
exchange rate has been obtained through the condition of covered interest 
parity. The estimated impact is subtracted from the actual exchange rate, 
to generate an alternative exchange rate without the impact of monetary 
policy. Through this alternative exchange rate, Albania’s economic growth 
has been re-evaluated without the impact of monetary policy. 

These assessments were carried out through the macro-econometric model used 
by the Bank of Albania for medium-term projections.

Estimation results

The pint estimation of the monetary policy impact on the performance of the 
economy has been conducted since 2011. After this year, the monetary policy 
has consistently maintained its accommodative stance. The results are presented 
in a chart at the end of this Box.

In summary, our conclusions are as follows:

−	T he positive impact of monetary policy on economic growth has picked up 
significantly since 2014. The contribution of monetary policy to economic 
growth for 2015, 2016, and the annualized growth up to 2017 Q3 is 
around 0.17 p.p., 0.4 p.p., and 0.69 p.p., respectively. The economic 
growth at 2.23%, 3.37% and 3.93% for 2015 and 2016 and up to 2017 
Q3 would be 2.06%, 2.97% and 3.24%, respectively, in the absence 
of the contribution of monetary policy (see chart 6 on the left).

−	 Beyond the impact on growth rates, the positive contribution of monetary 
policy has a cumulative impact on the economic activity level as well, 
measured by the real GDP. For 2017, real economic activity in Albania is 
about 1.26 p.p. higher, as a contribution of the accommodative monetary 
policy pursued by the Bank of Albania (see Chart 6 on the right).

−	T he main impact on economic growth by the accommodative monetary 
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policy has been through the interest rates channel. The impact of monetary 
policy through the exchange rate channel also is positive, but its size is 
smaller. This comes as a result of the opposite impact that the change of 
competitive position and the financial situation of unhedged borrowers. 

Chart 6 Cumulative economic growth, real and excluding monetary policy 
contribution (left); cumulative annual GDP, real and excluding monetary policy 

contribution (right)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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In institutional terms, the Bank of Albania has continued to work on meeting the 
strategic development objectives of monetary policy

To achieve the objectives set out in the Medium-term Strategy1, the Bank of 
Albania has worked meticulously to improve the drafting and implementation 
process of monetary policy. During 2017, progress has been made in the 
following aspects.

•	 Further improvement on the analytic, forecasting, and assessing 
process of the impact of monetary policy. The integration of the various 
aspects of the process in a unified policy-making framework enables 
the: (i) forward guidance monetary policy decisions; (ii) generation of 
macroeconomic forecasts, with regular frequency and according to a 
standardized process; (iii) consistency of monetary policy decisions 
with the actual trends in economic development and our projections.

The macro-econometric models2, which are used to generate macroeconomic 
forecasts and to analyse the monetary policy impact, are the main elements of 

1	 These objectives are set out in Bank of Albania’s Medium-term Strategy 2016-2018.
2	 Macroeconomic models describe the long-term structural relation between various economic 

variables, where the relations are assessed by contemporary econometric methods or calibrated 
according to the historical behaviour of the variables in models.
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this framework. During 2017, we worked towards: (i) overall improvement of the 
existing models; (ii) achieving a more complete inclusion of the financial sector 
in their existing structure; as well as, (iii) enriching models with diagnostic and 
analytical functions. In this aspect, we benefited from the technical assistance 
of the IMF, the Swiss State Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO), and the 
Geneva Institute in the framework of the cooperation agreements.

The results of this work have served to establish a complete and more advanced 
set for analysing and forecasting macroeconomic variables, as well as for 
assessing the monetary policy response.

•	 Deepening research on the structure of functioning of the economy 
and on the monetary policy transmission channels. In the field of 
monetary policy, during this year, attention was paid to the: (i) study 
of the determining factors of low inflation in Albania; (ii) reassessment 
of the determining factors of long-term growth and the identification of 
the potential growth rate; (iii) analysis of the appreciating behaviour 
of the exchange rate and the assessment of its impact on inflation; 
(iv) impact of demand and supply factors on credit performance; (v) 
structural analysis of the economy, etc. Research findings are reflected 
in Boxes in the Quarterly Monetary Policy Reports, as well as in the 
research materials published on the website.

Research results have supported the decision-making and communication of the 
monetary policy, and have enabled a more comprehensive macroeconomic 
forecasting framework.

•	 Improvement of the quality, structure and clarity of the main monetary 
policy communication instruments, in order to increase transparency 
and its effectiveness. In this regard, our work focused on simplifying 
the communication language, increasing the emphasis on future 
developments, as well as enriching the reports with boxes to address 
specific phenomena affecting the economy and finance of Albania. 

•	 Increasing the efficiency of monetary policy instruments. In this regard, 
the framework of forecasting the needs of the banking sector for liquidity 
has improved, aiming to enhance the efficiency of the programming and 
implementation of our interventions for its management. At the beginning 
of 2018, the short-term liquidity forecast was published, increasing 
transparency and helping to improve the liquidity management by the 
market agents themselves. 

•	 Increasing the efficiency of operational decisions. For the second year, 
the new assessment framework of the international reserve adequacy 
level was implemented, supported by the optimisation approach. 
The assessment of the optimal level of the international reserve takes 
into account a number of factors, balancing the sources of risk in an 
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economy - against which the international reserve serves as a hedge - 
with the opportunity costs associated with maintaining a certain level of 
the international reserve. Such an approach prevents large operational 
fluctuations and decreases the reputational costs from unforeseen 
shocks.

•	 Coordination of monetary and fiscal policies, in support of 
strengthening macroeconomic stability. The government’s commitment 
in pursuing a consolidating fiscal policy in the medium-term is factorized 
in the forecasts of the Bank of Albania and has enabled pursuing a 
more accommodative monetary policy stance.

The monetary and fiscal policies mix is assessed to be adequate. On one 
hand, it preserves an accommodative result of main economic policies; on the 
other hand, it addresses the weaknesses deriving by the relatively high level of 
public debt.

Inflation and its determining factors

The overall inflationary pressures increased during 2017, confirming the 
forecasts of the Bank of Albania.

However, owing to the still incomplete utilisation of production capacities, the 
low inflation in trading partner countries and the exchange rate appreciation, 
the intensity of these pressures was insufficient for the return of inflation to 
target.

Annual inflation in 2017 averaged at 2.0%, up against the 1.3% in the 
previous year and confirming our expectations for its performance. The inflation 
profile during the year was characterized by a fast growth in 2017 Q1, a 
decelerating trend in Q2 and Q3, and a slight increase in 2017 Q4. In 2017 
H1 and H2, inflation averaged 2.2% and 1.8%, respectively.

In macroeconomic terms, the upward trend of average inflation reflected the 
strengthening of domestic inflationary pressures, due to the improvement of 
the economic activity and increased utilisation of production capacities. On 
the other hand, inflation fluctuations throughout the year reflected supply-side 
shocks. In particular, the increase of inflation in 2017 Q1 was driven by 
increasing inflation in unprocessed food prices, as a result of adverse weather 
conditions, fuel and services prices related with it, as well as the effect of the 
low comparative base of the same period in the previous year. The mitigation 
of the above-mentioned effects was reflected in a slowdown of inflation in the 
following quarters. Also, the decrease of inflation in 2017 H2 was largely 
driven by curbing foreign inflationary pressures, as result of the combined 
impact of slow price growth abroad and the exchange rate appreciation.



Annual Report, 2017

32Bank of Albania

On a broader context, the performance of inflation in Albania continues to 
have a similar profile to the performance in the countries of the region and 
our main trading partner, the European Union. Also, in 2017, a convergence 
tendency was observed for the level of inflation in Albania with the level of 
inflation in our trading partner countries.

The level and fluctuations of inflation continued to reflect mainly the 
performance of unprocessed food prices
Goods in the category of “Unprocessed food”, which are continuously 
subject of short-term shocks, had the main share in the formation of inflation 
during 2017 (in average around 60%). These shocks are related mainly 
with specific weather conditions, fluctuation of the exports’ demand, as 
well as various shocks in the chain of production and trading of agricultural 
products. On the other hand, the inflation of the “Processed food” category 
showed a different behaviour during 2017. Its contribution to headline 
inflation registered a significant decrease during the year3. The inflation of 
this category is affected by both the lek appreciation and the slower increase 
of food prices, especially of grains, in foreign markets. These developments 
have reduced the contribution of the imported component of this category to 
headline inflation.

3	 The contribution of this category to headline inflation decreased from 0.6 percentage point 
in 2017 Q1 to almost zero at the end of the year.

Chart 7 Annual in�ation and target (left).
In�ation in regional and EU countries (right)

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania and www.tradingeconomics.com
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Table 1. Contribution of key items to annual inflation (p.p.)
Q4:15 Q1:16 Q2:16 Q3:16 Q4:16 Q1:17 Q2:17 Q3:17 Q4:17

Processed foods (p.p.) 0.0 -0.4 0.1 0.4 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.2 0.0
Bread and grains (p.p.) -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
Alcohol and tobacco (p.p.) 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
Unprocessed food (p.p.) 2.6 1.5 0.9 1.2 0.9 1.3 1.1 1.2 1.3
Fruits (p.p.) 0.9 0.7 0.6 0.4 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.6
Vegetables (p.p.) 1.7 0.8 0.3 0.8 0.6 0.9 0.7 0.7 0.6
Services (p.p) 0.0 -0.1 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1
Goods with regulated prices (p.p.) 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Fuels and energy (p.p.) -0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Housing (p.p.) -0.2 -0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2
Non-food consumer goods -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.1 0.1 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2
Durable goods (p.p.) 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 0.0
Consumer Price Index (annual change, %) 2.1 0.7 0.7 1.9 1.9 2.4 2.0 1.7 1.8

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania. 
*The table shows some of the main groups of categories.

Other basket items have given a higher contribution to average inflation in 
2017, which has been overall consistent during the year.
The category “Non-food consumer goods” had the highest average contribution 
to 2017 headline inflation, although this indicator had a slight downward 
trend during the year, driven mainly by the performance of fuel prices in 
foreign and domestic markets. The inflation of “Services” has also shown the 
same performance and profile. After a long negative period, the performance 
of “Housing-rent” prices returned to positive contributions, although low, to 
headline inflation in 2017 H2. The categories “Goods and services with 
regulated prices” and “Durable goods” maintained low contributions to 
headline inflation; the second category often times provided negative values.

The improvement of the cyclical position of the economy is reflected in the 
increase of domestic inflationary pressures. 
Our analyses suggest that the expansion of aggregate demand is accompanied 
by a gradual, but still incomplete, movement of the economy towards potential. 
The increase of the production capacity utilisation strengthens the increase of 
wages, production costs and profit margins, in line with our inflation target.

This chain of phenomena has been present throughout 2017. This year’s core 
inflation resulted at 0.8%, significantly higher than the previous year (0.2%).

However, our analyses suggest that the strengthening of domestic inflationary 
pressures has not yet reflected completely the improvement of the cyclical 
position of Albania. This transmission has been curbed by the appreciation of 
the exchange rate, the structural improvements in the employment market, as well 
as the high inertia showed by the complete return of inflationary expectations to 
target.4 Core inflation contributed more consistently to the formation of headline 

4	 For an assessment of the factors that have contributed to keeping inflation low, see thee Box 
on “Cyclical and structural factors leading to low inflation in Albania”, Monetary Policy Report 
2018/I, February 2018.
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inflation during 2017 H2. Its stabilisation suggests 
a more complete materialisation of the impact of 
medium-term factors in the formation of inflationary 
pressures in the economy, despite short-term shocks.

The foreign environment continued to generate 
low inflationary pressures during 2017, which 
weakened even further because of the appreciation 
of the exchange rate
The imported inflationary pressures index (IIPI)5 
registered an average annual decrease of 0.3%, 
while in the previous year this decrease was at 1.7%. 
This development reflected the increase of the foreign 
prices (4.2%) and the average annual appreciation 
of the nominal effective exchange rate (4.5%).

Economic activity

The economic activity continued to grow during 
the first nine months of 2017, mainly supported 
by the improved performance of the services and 
construction sectors.

Domestic demand was the main driver of growth, with 
positive contribution from both of its components, 
consumption and investments.

According to available INSTAT data, the economy 
grew by 3.9% during the first nine months of the year.6 
This growth rate reflected the same contribution, 
by 1.7 percentage points, of the services7 and the 
production sectors.

In the services sector, the highest contributions to economic growth are 
assessed to be from the “Trade, hotels and restaurants, transport” and 
“Public administration, education and health”, at 0.7 and 0.6 percentage 
point, respectively. Meanwhile, the improved dynamic of the production 
sector reflected positive contributions from all its main activities. Among them, 
construction continued to generate the highest contribution to GDP growth, at 
5	 The annual change in the IIPI is the algebraic sum of annual changes in the import price index 

and the NEER index.
6	 Until 14 March 2018, the latest GDP data published by INSTAT by production and 

expenditures cover developments until 2017 Q3. In the three first quarters of the year, economic 
growth resulted at 4.0%, 4.1% and 3.5%, respectively. 

7	 The main branches of services are: “Trade, hotels and restaurants, transport”, “Information 
and communication", “Financial and insurance activities”, “Real estate activities”, “Professional 
activities and administrative services”, “Public administration, education and health”, "Arts, 
entertainment, recreation,  goods production activities of families for own use and other 
services”.

Chart 8 Output gap (%), unemployment rate gap 
(pp)*, and core in�ation (%)**

*Unemployment rate gap is calculated as the difference between the natural 
rate of unemployment and the factual one published by INSTAT, to simplify the 
interpretation of the direction with the output gap which is calculated in % of 
potential output. **The indicators in terms of gaps are �attened through 4 

terms moving averages. For the core in�ation is given the annual average. 
Source: INSTAT and BoA’s calculations.
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around 1.2 percentage points, driven by the growth of public investments, the 
continuation of work in major energy projects (where foreign direct investments 
dominate) as well as the realisation of new constructions8. Meanwhile, the 
industrial9 and the agricultural activity supported the economic growth of the 
first nine months of the year at 0.3 and 0.2 percentage point, respectively. 

Developments in the labour market resulted positive during the first nine 
months of 201710

Employment in the economy registered an average annual growth of 2.9% during 
the first three quarters of 2017. Notwithstanding the positive performance, this 
growth was slower than the 6.8% growth registered in the same period in 
the previous year.11 Employment grew largely determined by the increase of 
employees in the services sector. This growth has led to a further decline of 
the unemployment rate. The unemployment rate remained at around 13.6% in 
2017 Q3, or around 1.1 percentage points lower than the rate registered in 
the same period the previous year.

8	 Referring to the volume index in construction, disaggregated in: new constructions, restructuring 
and engineering works.

9	 Among the branches included in the industry sector, to the processing industry is attributed 
the highest contribution to the GDP annual growth during the period under review, at around 
0.4 percentage point. 

10	 Analysis of employment and unemployment is based on the data of the Labour Force Quarterly 
Survey, and refers to the indicators for those 15 of years and older. 

11	 The expansion of employment during 2016 is assessed to have also reflected, to some extent, 
the effects of the formalization process undertaken by the government starting from 2015 Q3.

Chart 10 Annual growth of real GDP (in %) and contribution of production-side 
components (in p.p.). Trend of real GVA in economy and sectorsº 

*Semi-­nal data. ** A preliminary assessment.
º Indices of the real GVA for the economy and its sectors re�ect the trend of the relevant value added, 

calculated as the moving sum of quarterly values for four quarters, based on 2010 Q4.
Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania. 
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The expansion of domestic demand and economic activity during 2017 is 
supported by the increase of investments and private consumption
Domestic demand increased by 4.3% during the first nine months of 2017.12 
Investments and consumption of the population provided the main contribution. 
In the case of investments, the main increasing contribution is assessed to have 
come from the public sector, while the contribution of the private sector has 
slowed down. At the same time, the contribution of public consumption has 
increased compared with 2016.

Information from indirect indicators suggests a positive performance of domestic 
demand during 2017 Q4, formed by downward contribution of investments 
and upward contribution of consumption of the population.

Private consumption continued its upward cycle during the first nine months 
of 2017
Private consumption grew 2.5%, on average, during the first three quarters of 
the year. The increase of consumer spending was slower in 2017 H1 (+2.2%), 
but accelerated in 2017 Q3 (+3.3%). The growth of long-term durable goods 
and services expenditures is assessed to have contributed to the expansion of 
private consumption13. The growth of employment and wages, the improvement 
of consumer confidence, and the favourable financial conditions were the main 
factors that supported the growth of consumer expenditures.

12	 Domestic demand components are final consumption (including final consumption of the 
population, of the public administration and of non-profit institutions) and gross fixed capital 
formation. In terms of national accounts, private consumption in this report refers to final 
consumption of the population, whereas investments are equivalent to gross fixed capital 
formation

13	 Based on indirect indicators, except those published by national accounts, which do not give 
a disaggregated measurement of private consumption.

Chart 11 Domestic demand, contribution by components and ESI

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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Investments continued to grow during 2017
Investments in the economy grew by 9.8% during the first nine months of 
2017. In the last three years, this component has contributed significantly to the 
expansion of aggregate demand. Investments in construction and, to a lesser 
extent, also investments in machinery and equipment contributed positively to 
its growth during the year.

The main factors that supported the growth of private investments are the 
improvement of confidence and the financial situation of enterprises, the 
gradual recovery of consumer demand, as well as low financing costs in the 
banking sector. Confidence indicators in the sectors of trade and construction 
remained very close to the historical average during 2017, and above the 
historical average in the sectors of industry and services. 

Chart 12 Private consumption and con�dence in trade and consumer con�dence 

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.

-6

-4

-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

2010Q
1

2010Q
3

2011Q
1

2011Q
3

2012Q
1

2012Q
3

2013Q
1

2013Q
3

2014Q
1

2014Q
3

2015Q
1

2015Q
3

2016Q
1

2016Q
3

2017Q
1

2017Q
3

Private consumption
Moving average - 4Q

annual change

-5
-4
-3
-2
-1
0
1
2
3
4

-10
-8
-6
-4
-2
0
2
4
6
8

2011Q
1

2011Q
3

2012Q
1

2012Q
3

2013Q
1

2013Q
3

2014Q
1

2014Q
3

2015Q
1

2015Q
3

2016Q
1

2016Q
3

2017Q
1

2017Q
3

Private consumption
Con�dence in trade (la)
Consumer con�dence (ra)

moving average, change from l-t average

Chart 13 Annual performance of investments in the economy

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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Fiscal indicators improved, but the intensity of fiscal consolidation decreased 
during 2017
The budget deficit of 2017 was assessed at around 2% of GDP, slightly 
upward from the 1.8% registered in 2016. In absolute terms, the budget 
deficit of 2017 registered ALL 31 billion14. The deficit growth led to the 2017 
fiscal policy shifting towards easing and giving a direct positive contribution 
to increasing aggregate demand during this period (see Box 2). The higher 
deficit ratio from the previous year was dictated by almost in the same measure 
developments in revenue and expenditures. The growth of the share of budget 
expenditures reflected mainly the increase of public investments, while the 
decrease of revenues reflected mainly the slowdown of non-tax revenues.

Budget expenditure for 2017 amounted to around ALL 461.4 billion, increasing 
6.4% in annual terms. The increase of capital expenditures formed 32% of 
the expansion of budget expenditures. Except for foreign and domestic debt 
interest expenditures and operational expenditures, all the other items of current 
expenditures contributed positively to the increase of expenditure. Measured by 
the volume of budget expenditures, the share of the public sector was assessed 
at around 29.5% of GDP, from 29.4% in the previous year. The slight increase 
of this ratio was driven by the expansion of the components related directly to 
aggregate demand (public consumption and investments), while the share of 
interest expenditures declined.

Budget revenues increased by around 5.7%, in annual terms, remaining around 
27.5% of the GDP. This ratio registered a very slight decrease compared with 
the previous year. To a large extent, the increase of revenues was formed 
by VAT (around 35%), social insurance (32%) and local government (15%) 
revenues. In addition, national tax revenues also contributed to the increase of 
total revenues.15 In view of minimal changes in the tax policy, the growth profile 
of tax revenues during 2017 reflects the recovery of economic activity and the 
improved dynamics of labour market indicators.

During 2017, the government had privatisation revenues of ALL 0.4 billion 
and increased the domestic and foreign net borrowing by ALL 45.4 billion. 
Available funds, ALL 31 billion, were used to finance the 2017 deficit, and the 
remainder, ALL 14.8 billion, to improve the situation of the deposit.

Borrowing increased in the domestic market consisted only in long-term debt 
instruments, whose issue also compensated the decrease of short-term issues. 
This borrowing strategy resulted in the extension of the domestic debt maturity 
to 780 days at the end of 2017, from 753 days of the previous year.

14	 Data on fiscal indicators of 2017 come from the MFE publication of 5 March 2018.
15	 This was due to the increase in revenues from the Law on real estate reassessment which 

temporarily enabled (until May) the reassessment of assets by natural and legal persons at 
2% and 3%, respectively, of the taxable base, from 15% defined by the current law.
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The public debt stock is assessed to have decreased at 69.6% of GDP in 2017, 
from 72.4% in 201616. The decrease of public debt in 2017 is explained by 
the positive values of the primary balance, the higher rate of nominal economic 
growth against the average cost of public debt, the appreciation of the national 
currency, as well as the decrease of the guaranteed debt stock. Divided by 
residency, the public debt is dominated at 55% by domestic creditors, almost 
the same ratio as in the previous year.

16	 The GDP used in the construction of fiscal indicator ratios refers to BoA’s assessment after 
the publication of GDP for 2017 Q3 by INSTAT. The data of debt stock is referred to the 
publication of MFE for 2017 Q4. 

Chart 14 Budget de�cit and �nancing (left) and public debt (right) to GDP

Source: MFE, INSTAT and Bank of Albania's staff calculations.
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Source: MFE, INSTAT and Bank of Albania's staff calculations.
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Box 2.  the nature of fiscal policy in Albania

This box aims to give an overall assessment on the nature of fiscal policy 
pursued in Albania during the last 15 years. For this purpose, we first address 
the theoretical aspects of fiscal policy and their usefulness. Then we briefly 
explain the methodology and the identification of the fiscal policy direction in 
Albania during the period.

Fiscal policy: and business cycles

The economic literature offers three definitions on the nature of fiscal policy. 
Depending on the direction of the change of the budget balance and the cyclical 
position of the economy, the fiscal policy may be pro-cyclical, counter-cyclical 
and neutral.

−	F iscal policy is called pro-cyclical when the economy is below potential 
and the budget deficit/surplus is contracting/expanding (tightening pro-
cyclical policy), or when the economy is above potential and the budget 
deficit/surplus is expanding/contracting (easing pro-cyclical policy).

−	F iscal policy is called counter-cyclical when the economy is below potential 
and the budget deficit/surplus is expanding/contracting (easing counter-
cyclical policy), or when the economy is above potential and the budget 
deficit/surplus is contracting/expanding (tightening counter-cyclical policy).

−	F iscal policy is called neutral when the budget deficit or surplus remains 
unchanged, while the automatic stabilizers act freely in the economy (EC, 
2009 “Public Finances in EMU”).

When seen exclusively from the point of view of the stabilising function of an 
economic policy, the desired nature of the fiscal policy is counter-cyclical. Its 
counter-cyclicality: (i) complements the impact of monetary policy, (ii) helps 
mitigating the economic fluctuations; and (iii) tends to be associated with more 
stable levels of public debt.

However, in practice, fiscal policy may depart temporarily from its counter-cyclical 
nature if: (i) the fiscal incentive is non-ineffective or impossible; and if (ii) the 
lack of fiscal incentives may be offset by the increase of the monetary incentive. 
Counter-cyclical easing fiscal policy may be: (i) non-effective, in the event the further 
expansion of public debt increases the risk premiums and the financing costs of 
the private sector, leading to a decline in private expenditures; or, (ii) impossible, 
in the event of liquidity shortfall in the market (Gavin and Perotti, 1997).

The consolidating trend of fiscal policy in Albania during the last years has 
been formed by the above-mentioned considerations. Even though aggregate 
demand has not been able to ensure a full utilisation of production capacities, 
fiscal consolidation has been assessed as desirable, as long as it lowers risk 
premiums in financial markets, helps financing the private sector, and enables 
the pursuit of a more accommodative monetary policy.

Methodological notes

The assessments on the nature of fiscal policy during the business cycles overall 
are based on the direction and the measure of change of the primary balance, 
corrected for the impact of automatic stabilizersI and the impact of temporary 
measuresII.
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However, to identify the nature of fiscal policy in Albania, we have referred to 
the primary balance corrected only for the factors that affect it temporarily. This 
choice is motivated by two reasons. First, it is in line with the previous assessments 
made in the case of Albania, which evidence a relatively low share of automatic 
stabilizers in AlbaniaIII. Second, it avoids the discussion and construction of 
technical suppositions on the cyclical components of the primary balance.

Given the above, the following discussion should be interpreted only as an 
approximation of the true nature of fiscal policy in Albania.

The nature of fiscal policy in Albania

The results of the application of the above methodology in the case of Albania 
are shown in the Chart below.

During the analysed period, 2003-2017, fiscal policy in Albania has taken 
all three possible features: pro-cyclical, counter-cyclical, and neutral. In terms 
of balance, the pro-cyclical feature has a slight dominance, followed almost 
equally by the counter-cyclical and neutral features.

For 2017, fiscal policy had counter-cyclical features, generating a fiscal impulse 
of 0.8 percentage point. For 2017, the easing nature of fiscal policy in support 
of economic growth was shaped by growth in public investments and in wages 
policies.

I	 The automatic stabilizers are those fiscal indicators that react automatically to the business 
cycle, without the need of a change in the economic policies of the country for that time 
period (Macroeconomics, 5th edition, p 382, Mankiw, G.)

II	 Temporary measures are those that have no impact on *over-time* budget position and 
as such are accounted during the assessments on the nature of discretionary fiscal policy. 
These measures have been evidenced in the case of Albania both in terms of revenue (as 
e.g. revenue from the reassessment of assets) and of expenditures (as e.g. expenditures 
on arrears). For more details, see “Public Finances in EMU, 2006” pp.112-113.

III	 Gazidede A., 2013 “An alternative method of assessing the fiscal position in Albania: 
The budget balance corrected for business cycles” 

Chart 16. Nature of �scal policy in Albania

Source: MFE, INSTAT and Bank of Albania's staff calculations.
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The foreign exchange balance improved significantly during 2017, 
contributing positively to economic growth in the first nine months of the year
During the first nine months of 2017, net exports provided a positive contribution 
to aggregate demand growth. The determining factor in this regard has been 
the good performance of exports, which contributed to the narrowing of the 
trade deficit in real terms, amid increased demand for imports.

General import expanded by around 13.7% in annual terms, with the main 
contribution from the growth in services import by around 15.1%. Additional 
positive contributions from other service groups have also been added to the 
positive performance of tourist services. In parallel, the performance of the 
export of goods has also resulted in positive growth (8.9% in annual terms) and 
with a broad base. Favourable international pricing conditions, coupled with 
several positive domestic supply developments (particularly in the fields of oil, 
metals and unprocessed food) have fuelled a high growth in export of goods, 
concentrated during 2017 H1. On the other hand, imports’ recovery continued 
throughout 2017 as well. The real growth of imports resulted at 7.6%, mainly 
driven by the import of goods. Import growth intensified especially during 2017 
Q3, due to the rapid expansion of electricity and fuel imports.

Data for 2017 Q4 evidence a different picture, at 
least in terms of goods trade. The growth of exports 
has reduced significantly, affected by a base effect 
created in the last months of 2016 as well. This 
perspective is expected to continue during 2018 H1 
as well, mainly related with the impact of processed 
fuel exports. On the other hand, imports continued to 
show growth. This behaviour is expected to continue 
during 2018 H1 as well.

In terms of structure by sector, exports remain relatively 
concentrated in some categories despite the high 
growth rates during 2017. “Textiles and clothes” 
accounted for 43% of the total export of goods, 
unchanged from 2016. Other important categories 
are “Minerals, fuel and electricity” and “Construction 
materials and metals”. Also, “Food, beverages, 

tobacco” contributed significantly to export growth, due to the continuous 
increase of respective exports in the last two years. 

In terms of structure by destination, the European Union countries and specifically 
Italy, remain Albania’s main trade partners. During 2017, the share of 
neighbouring countries such as Kosovo, Serbia, Macedonia and Montenegro 
saw relative growth, due to high exports of “Food” and “Construction materials 
and metals” towards these destinations. Concerning farther destinations, the 
shares of Sweden and Estonia increased related to the higher export of some 
categories of processed food towards them.

Chart 17 Contribution of net real exports 
(in p.p. to GDP)

*For 2017, data apply for the �rst three quarters.
Source: Bank of Albania.
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The sectorial structure of imports remains more diversified. With the exception of 
“Machinery, equipment and spare parts”, whose share resulted relatively high 
during 2017 (around 21% of total imports), the other categories show similar 
contributions, such as “Foods, beverages, tobacco,” “Construction materials 
and metals”, “Chemical and plastic products”. Imports of “Textile and clothes” 
(around 14% of the total imports) were also important, due to the raw materials 
imported for products that were then re-exported. As far as import partners 
are concerned, the European Union countries, in particular Italy and Greece, 
maintained the main shares. Significant contributions also came from other 
partners like Turkey and China. During 2017, the shares of Serbia and Russia 
saw relative increase. This is related to increased imports of fuel, electricity and 
grains, especially during 2017 H2.

Financing of the current account deficit is based on non-debt creating flows.
The contraction of net exports deficit also contributed to the contraction of 
the current account deficit during the first nine months of 2017. The positive 
developments are mainly related with the services account. On the other hand, 
the trade in goods deficit expanded mainly due to the impact of imports. 
Regarding income sub-accounts, net surpluses declined, in the case of both 
primary and secondary income.

The profile of financing the current account deficit continues to be based on non-
debt creating foreign currency flows, in the form of foreign direct investments and 
capital account inflows. Financing by debt-creating flows resulted somewhat 
lower compared to the previous year. At the end of 2017, the stock of foreign 
currency reserve assets was sufficient to cover 6.9 months of imports of goods 
and services and 166% of the short-term external debt.

Foreign debt stability indicators have improved
Foreign debt sock registered EUR 7.85 billion in 2017 Q3, down by 0.4% 
compared with the previous year and was assessed at 68.6% of the nominal 
GDP. In structural terms, government debt dominates with around 43.7% of the 
total, followed by debt related to direct investments at 22%. In maturity terms, 
long-term debt dominates at around 79.7%. Regarding instruments, loans and 
investments in foreign currency and deposits constitute around 70.6%. The 
share of portfolio investments is somewhat low.

In terms of stability, the long-term repayment ability indicators improved during 
2017. The ratio of debt stock to the exports of goods and services was around 
174.5% at the end of 2017 Q3, while in the previous year, this ratio stood 
at 212.1%. At the same time, the ratio of debt stock to fiscal revenue marked 
246.9%, compared with 272.9% registered in the previous year.
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Table 2	The main macroeconomic and financial indicators
  2013 2014 2015 2016 2017*
Annual average inflation
Headline inflation (in %) 1.9 1.6 1.9 1.3 2.0
Core inflation (in %) 0.2 0.1 -0.2 0.2 0.8
Economic growth        
Real GDP growth (annual, in %) 1.0 1.8 2.2 3.4 3.9
GDP pro capita (EUR) 3,323 3,443 3,556 4,043  
Labour Market1  
Participation rate in the labour force (15-64 years) 59.6 61.5 64.2 66.2 66.6
Unemployment rate (15-64 years) 15.9 17.5 17.1 15.2 13.9
Fiscal sector  
Budget balance (including grants, in % of GDP) -5.0 -5.2 -4.1 -1.8 -2.0
Budget revenues (in % of GDP) 24.2 26.3 26.6 27.5 27.5
Budget expenditure (in % of GDP) 29.2 31.4 30.6 29.3 29.5
Public debt (in % of GDP) 70.4 72.0 73.1 72.4 69.6
Domestic (only central government) 44.3 43.3 39.9 39.6 38.3
Foreign (only central government) 26.1 28.6 33.1 32.8 31.3
External sector  
Current account (official transfers exempted in % of GDP) -9.3 -10.8 -8.6 -7.5 -6.4
Imports of goods (fob, in % of GDP) 31.5 31.6 29.9 30.8 31.6
Exports of goods (fob, in % of GDP) 11.1 9.4 7.5 6.6 7.1
FDI inflows (in % of GDP) 9.8 8.7 8.7 8.7 8.3
International reserve (in EUR million, end of period) 2,015 2,192 2,880 2,945  2,994
Monetary and financial sector  
Repo rate (end of period) 3.0 2.3 1.8  1.25  1.25
M3 aggregate (annual growth, end of period) 2.3 4.0 1.8 3.9 0.3
Credit to the private sector (annual growth, end of period)2 -1.4 2.0 2.4 3.1 3.2
Deposit/GDP3 72.4 73.0 72.9 74.2 70.9
Credit/GDP3 38.0 37.5 37.5 37.5 36.5
12-month average yield 5.2 3.4 3.3 1.8  2.4
ALL/USD average exchange rate 105.7 105.5 126.0  126.0 119.1
ALL/EUR average exchange rate 140.3 140.0 139.7  136.1 134.2
NEER 113.7 112.1 113.8 110.2 105.0
Banking Sector
Non-performing loans ratio/total loans (%) 23.5 22.8 18.2 18.2 13.2

Source: INSTAT, Bank of Albania, Ministry of Finance and Economy. 
*Data on economic growth for labour market and the external sector are from 2017 Q3. 
1/ “Labour force survey results”, published by INSTAT.
2/ The data is adjusted for written off loans.
3/ GDP assessment for 2017.

Financial markets and monetary indicators

Financial markets were characterised by low interest rates, downward risk 
premiums, and low volatility during 2017. The accommodative monetary 
policy was transmitted to reduced financing costs for the private sector. In 
the foreign exchange market, the national currency continued to appreciate, 
reflecting the decrease of risk premiums and the improvement of foreign 
currency inflows and outflows balance.

Despite low financing costs, banks’ credit to the private sector maintained 
moderate growth rates, due to the still low demand of economic agents for 
financing as well as the conservative lending policies by the banking sector. 
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On the other hand, the low interest rates for households’ savings has not 
affected the growth of deposits in banks, but has been reflected in the shift of 
their structure towards extreme maturities.

Interbank rates ranged close to the policy rate, in accordance with the 
operational target of the monetary policy
Liquidity management by the Bank of Albania has been successful. The 
increase of demand for financing by the banking sector is accompanied with 
the increase of the volume of liquidity injected by the Bank of Albania and the 
extension of its average maturity term. The interbank rates ranged closer to the 
policy rate and showed lower volatility compared with the previous year. The 
trade volumes in this market remained unchanged from the previous year.

Yields on Government securities increased slightly in 2017
Yields on Government debt securities, T-bill and bonds, showed a more stable 
performance in the primary market, following significant fluctuations in late 
2015 and in 2016. After decreasing in the first months of the year, they 
started to increase moderately, reflecting a prudent borrowing policy by the 
government. The 12-month yield resulted 2.4% in average during the year, 
from 1.8% in the previous year. The yields increased almost uniformly for all 
maturities, while the yield curve gradient remained unchanged compared with 
the previous year, thus showing unchanged risk premiums related with the 
monetary and fiscal policy orientation.

Interest rates on loans in lek decreased for private enterprises
The accommodative monetary policy has been reflected in the reduction of 
banks’ financing costs in the last years, which has enabled the transmission of 
the monetary stimulus to credit interest rates. Along with this factor, the reduction 
of credit risk and the improvement of banks’ balance sheets have allowed 
banks to lower interest margins, balancing yields growth over this period. 

Chart 18 Interbank and primary market rates 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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The reduction of interest rates has been present in the credit to enterprises, 
whose average interest rate decreased from 7.6% in 2016 at 6.7% in 2017. 
The interest rate on credit to households resulted at 7.3% this year, remaining 
close to the average levels of 2016.

The Albanian lek appreciated further during 2017
The national currency continued to strengthen against the currencies of the main 
trade partners during 2017. The appreciating trend of the lek, started at the end of 
2015, has reflected the decrease of risk premiums in domestic financial markets, 
the acceleration of real economic growth, the decrease of the current account 
deficit and the high foreign currency inflows from foreign direct investments. The 
appreciation intensified during 2017 H1, due to the plentiful foreign currency 
supply in the market, as a result of the rapid increase of exports and higher flows 
of foreign direct investments (for more information, see Box 3).

Chart 19 Interest rates in lek

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 20 Developments in the exchange rate*

Source: Bank of Albania.
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During 2017, one euro was traded at ALL 134.2 on average, or 2.3% 
less than in the previous year. The appreciation of the lek against the euro 
accelerated in 2017 Q2 and Q3, while the EUR/ALL rate appeared stable in 
Q4. The USD/ALL rate continued to follow the EUR/USD rate in international 
markets. The positive developments in the euro area economy in 2017 H2 
rapidly strengthened the euro and of lek against the US dollar. From June to 
the end of the year, the US dollar was traded around 12% cheaper than in the 
previous year. The lek also appreciated against the other two main currencies, 
the Turkish lira, and the Chinese renminbi. In effective nominal terms17, the 
annual appreciation of the lek resulted at 4.5% on average in 2017, from 
3.2% in 2016. Real appreciation resulted close to the nominal one, due to 
approximation of inflation in Albania with the average inflation of trade partner 
countries.

17	 The nominal effective exchange rate (NEER) is calculated against the currencies of the five 
major trading partners (Italy, Greece, Germany, Turkey and China), using the relevant market 
shares. For the purpose of calculating the lira/lek and the renminbi/lek rates, the official 
reference rates remain those of the Turkish lira and the Chinese renminbi against the US dollar. 
The real effective exchange rate (REER) is calculated similarly to the nominal, but it considers 
the domestic inflation and those in the trading partners, as well.

Box 3. The exchange rate appreciation - determining factors and 
implications

After almost five years of stability, the lek has appreciated during the last two 
years. This appreciation peaked in 2017 Q3. Although the Bank of Albania 
follows an inflation targeting monetary policy and a free regime of the exchange 
rate, it dedicates particular attention to the analysis of the exchange rate, due 
to its important role in the economy.

Our analyses show that the exchange rate appreciation 
reflects both the impact of long-term factors and the 
temporary impact of short-term factors.

In the long run, based on the available models and 
empirical studies of the Bank of Albania, the value 
of lek is assessed as being overall in line with the 
performance of its determining macroeconomic 
factors.I Thus, the long-term exchange rate appreciation 
trend reflects the difference of the marginal productivity 
of the Albanian economy compared with our trade 
partners and the reduction of structural risk premiums 
in the Albanian economy.

On the other hand, the appreciating exchange rate 
resulted from short-term shocks as well, which have 
led to faster appreciation of the currency than that 
dictated by fundamental long-term factors. These 
short-term shocks derive from the rapid improvement 
of the external balance of the economy - or, in other 

Chart 21 EUR/ALL exchange rate in real terms 
and its long-term trend*

*The real exchange rate trend represent the exchange rate level 
that is determined by the ratio of demand and supply derived by 

structural or long-term factors such as competitiveness between 
countries, difference in return on capital, structural risk premiums, 

etc.
Source: Bank of Albania. 
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words, the rapid contraction of trade and current account deficits at the end of 
2016 and the first three quarters of 2017 - and, in parallel with it, the increase 
of inflows in the financial account, which have corresponded with the peak of 
foreign direct investments.

As shown in the Chart 21, our analyses suggest that the exchange rate has 
performed overall in line with its fundamental factors. However, although to a 
small extend, deviation from this trend were noted during 2009-2016, when 
the real exchange rate was weaker than that dictated by fundamentals, and in 
2016-2017, when this rate was stronger than the theoretical level defined by 
fundamentals. (In any case, given the sensitivity of the results to the econometric 
analysis, the conclusions derived by such assessments should be treated with 
caution.)

The appreciation of the exchange rate is assessed to have produced a downward 
impact on inflation, due to the decrease of the price of imported goods, whether 
they are for consumption or intermediate use purposes.

On the other hand, the assessment of the impact of this appreciation on economic 
activity is more complex. As long as the long-term appreciation trend of the 
exchange rate reflects the effect of real fundamental factors and not unexpected 
shifts of financial portfolios, it does not cause adverse consequences for the 
Albanian economy. This appreciation is a characteristic feature of emerging 
economies during the convergence stage with more developed trade partners. 
Also, temporary deviances from long-term equilibrium do not have significant 
or durable consequences. By contrast, great and long-term deviances from 
equilibrium tend to produce more serious impact on the economic activity.

In any event, fluctuations of the value of the national currency are inevitable 
in a free exchange rate regime. For this reason, the Bank of Albania has 
continuously brought this to the attention of the economic operators, to avoid 
open and unhedged foreign exchange positions and to increase the use of the 
national currency.

*	 The balance rate and deviations against it are studied by Hoda, B., (2012), “The balance 
exchange rate in a developing economy” Bank of Albania, Paper 04(54) and Vika, 
I., Luçi, E., (2011), “The balance rate of lek against euro: How deviated it is” Bank of 
Albania, Paper 07(30)

Lending improved slightly during the year, supported by loans in lek 
Credit to the private sector18 expanded moderately in 2017. Excluding the 
impact of loan write off, the credit portfolio increased by 3.3% during 2017, 
compared with 3.1% in the previous year.

At the end of the year, the banking credit portfolio reached 36.5% of GDP, or 
1 percentage point lower than the previous year. The contraction of this ratio 
is affected mainly by settlements and restructuring of banks’ credit portfolio, in 
accordance with the plan of measures for reducing non-performing loans, as 
18	 Credit data are adjusted for written off loans and refers to monetary data that include credit 

to residents. Written off loans registered ALL 16.7 billion in 2017. 
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well as by the appreciation of the exchange rate, which has decreased the 
value of the credit portfolio in foreign currency.19

Low interest rates supported the growth of credit in lek during 2017, whose 
annual growth at 7.2% is the main contributor to the expansion of credit to 
the private sector. Unlike in the previous year, the expansion of loans in lek 
served mostly for households’ financing. Credit to households improved its 
annual growth pace, registering 7.1% in December. Meanwhile, the annual 
expansion of 1.4% of credit to enterprises is lower than in 2016, driven by the 
weak performance of loans for liquidity and the slowdown of growth of loans 
for investments. The dynamic of credit to enterprises continues to reflect both 
the sluggish demand for financing and the banks’ reluctance to ease lending 
standards.

19	 Adjusted for the appreciation of lek against other currencies, the annual growth of credit to 
the private sector is around 5%, improving from 2016.

Chart 22 Credit to the private sector (annual change in %)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Box 4. Changes to the credit structure over the years

Banks’ credit portfolio grew rapidly before the crisis and slowed down 
significantly after it. This behaviour reflected the performance of the Albanian 
economy, the credit demand, as well as the fluctuations of banks’ credit supply. 
In particular, the contraction of the post-crisis credit supply reflected the decline 
in their risk appetite, as well as the policies applied by parent banks on the 
activities in the region.I

Beyond the growth profile of the total portfolio, credit performance also showed 
important structural changes. These changes conditioned the structure of bank 
credit and, potentially, also affected the pace of its expansion.
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The bank credit portfolio was characterised by three distinct features in 2004-
2008: it had a significant concentration in the enterprises’ segment (61%), in 
foreign currency lending (71%), and in construction and services sectors’ lending 
(78%). The expansion and concentration of credit portfolio in these sectors was 
dictated by their high demand for credit, as well as by the favourable policies 
applied by the banks.

The slowdown of economic activity in Albania and the pre-crisis depreciation 
of lek against foreign currencies were reflected in the overall increase of non-
performing loans. However, the underestimation of business and financial risks 
associated with exchange rate fluctuations, as well as the relatively high exposure 
of these segments to bank credit, resulted in a proportionally faster increase 
in non-performing loans in the above-mentioned segments. The non-performing 
loans ratio peaked in 2014 with 26% for foreign currency credit, 28% for credit 
to enterprises, and 41% for credit to the construction sector.

These developments had two significant consequences.

Chart 23 Structure of pre-crisis banks’ credit portfolio (data refers to 2008).

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 24 Non-performing loans ratio by main categories 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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First, the lessons learned from the post-crisis period have re-oriented banks’ 
policies on the distribution of bank credit towards:
−	C redit in the national currency. This shift is driven by the awareness of 

economic agents on the exchange rate risk as well as by the decrease of 
interest rates in lek. In the credit portfolio sub-segments, long-term credit 
for investments, for both enterprises and households, has shifted most 
towards lek. The high increase of loans in lek has contributed to the shift 
of the credit portfolio towards a more balanced currency structure.

−	C redit to households, as well as to small and medium-sized enterprises. 
In the framework of banks’ conservative approach towards credit to 
enterprises, credit standards have been more favourable for small and 
medium-sized enterprises. Also, banks have preferred to expand the 
portfolio of credit to households, perceived by them as a lower risk and 
under-credited segment. This credit is assessed also as favoured by the 
measures taken to increase formalisation in the labour market.

−	C redit to the industrial sector. The preference for lending to this sector reflects 
the growth in demand, as well as the low level of the use of by them.

The dynamics of the credit portfolio pre- and post-crisis are presented in Chart 26.

Chart 25 Credit standards, credit demand and the spread, responses’ 
balance, p.p.*

*Credit standards and demand are cumulative since 2009 Q1. 
Source: Bank Lending Survey, Bank of Albania. 
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Chart 26 Credit portfolio by main segments (2008=100 index) 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Second, they have curbed the speed of post-crisis credit improvement. On one 
hand, the need for restructuring the existing credit portfolio, the development 
of internal analytical capacities, as well as the deterioration of banks’ financial 
balance in response to the high level of non-performing loans, have led to a 
decrease of bank credit supply. On the other, the need for improving balances 
and restructuring the business model of the Albanian economy has curbed the 
expansion of bank credit demand.

Given the above, the completion of the restructuring process of credit will help 
increase the speed and improve credit stability in Albania.

I	  For more see Box 5: “The impact of demand and supply in credit performance”.

Box 5. The impact of demand and supply on credit performance

The growth of credit to the private sector continued to 
record low rates during 2017. Our periodic analyses 
and empirical studies have sought to explain the factors 
determining this phenomenon. Analyses suggest that 
credit performance reflects both the sluggish expansion 
of credit demand and the slow recovery of bank credit.

The decline of demand immediately after the crisis 
reflected the overall economic slowdown, as well as 
the over indebtedness of some sectors of the economy. 
On the other hand, the tightening of supply reflected, 
initially, the liquidity problems of parent banks and, 
later, the increased credit risk in response to the 
overall slowdown of the economic activity. These 
two indicators have improved during the last years, 
although credit demand seems to have improved faster 
than supply.I These developments are reflected in a 
negative gap of credit to the economy, which suggests 
that, in the presence of a more elastic credit supply, 
lending in Albania would be slightly higher.

The slowdown of bank credit supply is explained through three factors:

−	F irst, the growth of non-performing loans. The rapid expansion of the 
portfolio of these loans and the issues the banks faced with collateral 
execution affected the two dimension of credit risk: the perceived 
probability on non-repayment of the loan and potential loss of the bank 
in such an event. This factor reduced the banks willingness to lend. At 
the same time, the orientation of banks’ attention to address existing 
non-performing loans further reduced their credit supply.

−	S econd, the overall deleveraging of foreign banking groups and the 
increase of their risk aversion after the Greek crisis further contributed 
to the reduction of the bank credit supplyII. The parent bank’s tightening 
policies are not necessarily linked to Albania’s specific risk, but reflect 
more the parent’s risk profiling and readiness for exposure to certain 
regions (group of countries).

Chart 27 Credit/GDP ratio and its 
trend (in %)

*Trend calculated with the Hodrick–Prescott �lter. 
Source: Bank of Albania.
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−	T hird, the changes made in the European regulatory framework of banking 
supervision in 2013III strengthened the requirements for liquidity and 
capital of parent banks, limiting their space to increase the exposure in 
the region, even dictating the need to partially withdraw from region.

Chart 28 illustrates graphically the performance of the above factors over time. 
While the level of non-performing loans and credit risk in Albania continues to 
decline, the other two factors - of foreign origin - continue to affect the tightening 
of credit supply, mainly among European banks operating in Albania.

I	 See for example “Box 4: Lending - an assessment of the impact of credit demand and 
supply” in the Annual Report of the Bank of Albania, 2016.

II	 Note, S. and E. Suljoti, 2017, “Evaluation of bank credit definers in Central and South 
East Europe countries” Paper of the Bank of Albania, 24 (83).

III	 The so-called CRD IV package contains the Directive 2013/36 / EU and Regulation 
(EU) No. 575/2013, which lay down higher bank liquidity and capital requirements 
in order to create adequate reserves of European banks to cope with crisis situations.

Chart 28 Non-performing loans ratio (left) and credit demand and 
supply in CESEE countries (cumulative balance, right)

*Credit demand and supply on the right-hand Chart are cumulative balances of the period September 2012 
- March 2013. Source: Bank of Albania, FSI - IMF and European Investment Bank - Bank Lending Survey in 

CECEE countries, http://www.eib.org/about/economic-research/surveys.htm.
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The supply of money in the economy showed moderate growth, reflecting, on 
one hand, the weak demand of economic agents for financing and, on the 
other, the structural changes in currency holdings
The supply of money in the economy registered moderate annual growth rates, 
particularly in 2017 H2. Broad money continues to be conditioned by the 
still sluggish financing of the private sector and by the structural changes on 
the liabilities side, dictated by the shift of deposits towards above two years 
maturity and government securities.20 The time structure of money has shifted 
towards the liquid component, due to the rapid expansion of demand deposits. 

20	  Both these components are not included in the calculation of monetary aggregates.
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Deposits at the end of the year resulted 1.5% higher than the previous year.21 
Their stock was assessed at around 71% of GDP. Deposits in foreign currency 
expanded faster, driven by inflows from abroad throughout the year. Deposits 
in lek registered a moderate growth, reflecting the low creation of money in 
lek. Alternative instruments outside the banking system have also attracted part 
of households savings, partially affecting the performance of deposits from 
households (for more, see Box 4). Households deposits overall registered a 
positive performance during the year.

21	  Regulated for the impact of the exchange rate, they registered a 2.4% growth. 

Chart 29 Monetary supply and deposits in the banking system

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Box 6. Structural changes of money in the economy

The pursuit of an accommodative monetary policy by the Bank of Albania has 
lowered interest rates across all financial market instruments. In parallel, the 
interest rates of financial instruments in foreign currency are also at very low levels 
due to the aggressive monetary policy pursued by the European Central Bank 
and the Federal Reserve. In addition to the positive impact of this development 
on bolstering economic activity, it was accompanied by structural changes in 
money holding in the economy.

The economic agents have reacted in two different ways to this environment 
with low interest rates.

−	F irst, a part of savers have preferred to shift their financial savings from 
time deposits to current accounts and demand deposits. This category of 
savers has preferred the added liquidity introduced by these instruments, 
while the opportune cost of this shift is at low levels. Current accounts 
and demand deposits constitute around 42% of the total deposits stock in 
the banking systemI at the end of 2017, or around 2 percentage points 
higher than the previous year.
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−	S econd, a part of savers have preferred to shift their savings in time 
deposits with over two year maturity. In search for higher profit margins, 
this category has accepted the decrease of liquidity of their savings. Time 
deposits with over two year maturity constitute around 10% of the total 
deposits stock, registering 2.5 percentage points growth in 2017.

These developments have affected directly the structure of money. The expansion 
of demand deposits has had an impact on the growth of liquid components of 
broad money, while the shift towards deposits with over two years maturity, 
which statistically are not included in the calculation of the M3 aggregateII, has 
affected its decrease. As a consequence the M3 monetary aggregate registered 
an average annual growth of 2.6% during 2017. Adjusted for deposits with 
over two years maturity, this indicator registered an average rate of 4.6%, but 
overall preserving the downwards trend of its growth pace.

At the same time as these developments, some of the deposits of households 
have been shifted to financial instruments outside the banking system, namely 
in public debt securities. During 2017, yields on securities have increased and 
has stirred the interest to invest in them. Also, offering long maturity instruments 
and attractive rates serves as an additional incentive for shifting deposits to these 
instruments. Households’ investments in securities increased by around ALL 6.6 
billion during 2017. The decrease of time deposits under two years maturity in 
the banking system and their shift in these instruments has further affected the 
decrease of the growth pace of broad money.

I	  In the deposits’ analysis are also included time deposits with over two years maturity. 
II	 The Bank of Albania follows the methodology set by the IMF for the statistical construction 

of monetary indicators. Broad money in the economy is measured by the M3 aggregate, 
which excludes time deposits with over two years of maturity. For more on compiling 
monetary statistics, please refer to the following address: 

	 https://www.bankofalbania.org/web/pub/Metodika_e_SMF_Banka_e_Shqiperise_
Korrik_2003_902_1.pdf

Chart 30 Annual changes in instruments included/not-included in the 
calculation of the M3 aggregate

Source: Bank of Albania.
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2.2 Monetary operations in the money market 

The Bank of Albania implements its monetary policy by using indirect market 
instruments. They include open market operations, standing facilities and the 
required reserve. The main market operations are the repurchase and the 
reverse repurchase agreement of seven-day maturity, whose interest rate 
represents the policy rate. 

Open market operations

Open market operations consist in three sub-items: main operations; fine-tuning 
operations; and structural operations. They are used for managing the short-
term liquidity in the money market, aiming at achieving Bank of Albania’s 
operational objective - orienting short-term interbank interest rates close to Bank 
of Albania’s policy rate and limiting their fluctuations. 

During 2017, the overnight interbank rate was rather close to the policy rate, 
at 1.22%, averaging 0.03 percentage point lower than the 0.07 percentage 
point average, every year in the period 2014-2016. Also, the one-week 
interbank rate stood close to the policy rate, on average 0.02 percentage 
point below the policy rate, against 0.06 percentage point in the two previous 
years. Interests on one-week transactions floated in a relatively broad interval, 
1.05% - 1.52%. The last two years trend, when structural surplus of liquidity in 
a part of the banking system has driven liquidity trading in the interbank market 
below the policy rate of the Bank of Albania, persisted in 2017, mainly in the 

first months of the year. As at end-2017, the overnight 
and one-week interbank rates averaged 0.02-0.03 
percentage point higher than the Bank of Albania’s 
policy rate. Liquidity trading for maturities longer than 
one week continues to be rather sporadic. 

During 2017, the average injected liquidity by the 
Bank of Albania through temporary liquidity injection 
operations increased ALL 34.40 billion on average, 
after an average ALL 25-30 billion in 2014-2016. The 
need for liquidity by the banking system maintained 
an upward trend throughout 2017, averaging ALL 
38.70 billion in December. The increase of liquidity 
shortage in the banking system drove the Bank of 
Albania to gradually increase the share of long-
term injections with maturity 7-91 days, on average 

Chart 31 Banking system liquidity

Source: Bank of Albania
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39.40% of total injections, against the 19.30% average during 2016, the 
lowest usage of long-term injections since 2009.

Table 3. Structure of liquidity injection operations by the Bank of Albania
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Main instrument 55% 58% 74% 55% 60% 64% 55% 80.7% 61.6%
Long-term injections 45% 42% 26% 45% 40% 36% 45% 19.3% 39.4%
Source: Bank of Albania. 

During 2017, the Bank of Albania has carried out structural operations, 
purchasing 12-month Treasury bills and maturing 3-month and 6-month T-bills, 
due to the changes in the structure of issues of the Ministry of Finance and 
Economy. The total amount of T-bills purchased by the Bank of Albania was ALL 
9.3 billion, during 2017, while the holding of the government securities fell by 
ALL 500 million, compared with the end of 2016. 

Standing facilities

Standing facilities – overnight deposits and overnight loans - at the Bank of 
Albania are instruments available to commercial banks to manage liquidity on 
a daily basis and to define a corridor in which interest rates fluctuate in the 
interbank market. This corridor narrowed in 2016, from 3.50 percentage points 
to 2.50 percentage points and, since the last cut of Bank of Albania’s policy 
rate in May 2016, the overnight deposit stands at 0.25%, and the overnight 
loan at 2.25%, unchanged during 2017. During 2016, the overnight deposit 
was used continuously by banks, but at lower amounts, from the average ALL 
5.5 billion in 2017 Q1, at less than ALL 1.0 billion in 2017 Q4. The overnight 
loan was used in 20 cases, over 2017. This figure is similar to that in 2016, 
25 cases; meanwhile, the average used amount fell at ALL 1.1 billion, from 
ALL 1.7 billion in 2016. 

Required reserve

The level of the required reserve is applied to the amount corresponding to 10% 
of deposits up to two years of the commercial banks, denominated in lek, euro 
and US dollar. The required reserve in lek is a monetary policy instrument that 
aims to adjust liquidity in the banking system and stabilise the interest rates. The 
Bank of Albania allows banks to use up to 40% of the required reserve in lek on 
daily basis, while observing the obligation to keep the monthly average level 
of the required reserve not lower than its defined level. The performance of the 
required reserve has been in line with the performance of the deposits that are 
subject to this instrument. 

The remuneration ratio on the lek required reserve reflected the performance 
of the Bank of Albania’s policy rate (70% of the policy rate). Starting from 
September 2016, the banks pay for the required reserve in euro an interest 
rate equal to the deposits rate of the European Central Bank. This interest 
rate remained unchanged during 2017, and was negative at -0.40%. The 
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remuneration rate on the required reserves in US dollars has been 0%, since 
2011.

The remuneration rate on the surplus reserves in lek and US dollars remained 
0% during 2017, unchanged from the previous year. On the other hand, the 
remuneration rate on the surplus reserves in euro has changed since 2016. It 
was determined at 0.25 percentage point lower than the deposits’ interest rate 
of the European Central Bank. 
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2.3 Financial Stability 

Financial stability is crucial for sustainable growth. The Bank of Albania 
has the exclusive right to implement the monetary policy, to supervise the 
banking sector and the authority to apply the resolution tools and to exercise 
the resolution powers. The Bank of Albania has a crucial role in safeguarding 
financial stability in Albania, in collaboration with other authorities. 

For the purposes of exercising its function to safeguard financial stability, the 
Bank of Albania defines the financial stability as a situation in which: a) the 
financial system exercises financial intermediation and risk management by 
assisting the public and economic entities in conducting financial operations 
related with savings, borrowing and payments; and b) financial institutions are 
resilient to unfavourable financial shocks in their activity. 

The spectrum of Bank of Albania operations for its contribution to financial 
stability includes also the compilation and implementation of a macro-prudential 
policy. The purpose of this policy is, through macro-prudential instruments 
(mainly regulatory and prudential ones) to act for preventing and mitigating 
systemic risks, and to strengthen financial system capacities to prevent or cope 
with these risks. 

To assess systemic risks, definite objectives are laid down and financial 
indicators of financial system (banking sector) and real economy are monitored. 
The performance of these indicators is analysed regularly, through statistical 
techniques and experts’ opinion, to note the trends and levels of risk. 

The Bank of Albania regularly informs the public, every six months, on the 
financial situation and the risks to banks and financial institutions it supervises, 
through the Financial Stability Report and the Financial Stability Statement. The 
Financial Stability Report assesses the risks arising from the developments within 
the financial system and from its interaction with the internal and external real 
economy. The financial system’s resilience against risks is tested through the 
stress test. 

Financial stability highlights during 2017

The Bank of Albania considers that, overall, the activity of the banking sector 
and of the financial system has been stable during 2017. Stress-test results show 
that the banking sector’s resilience to operational risks is good. The domestic 
and external developments in the real economy have contributed to the positive 
performance of banking sector indicators. 
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Global and regional economic developments were positive during 2017. 
Economic growth was faster in both emerging and advanced economies. 
Overall, inflationary pressures remain subdued, although in advanced 
economies they showed recovery. Also, in Albania, economic growth till 2017 
Q3 affirmed the positive trend of the recent years. Maintaining of favourable 
financing conditions and continuation of accommodative monetary policies 
supported economic growth both in Albania and abroad. 

The Albanian banking sector continues to dominate the financial system, but its 
share to GDP fell slightly in 2017 H2, due to the difference in the growth rates 
in the GDP and the banking sector’s balance sheet. Banking sector’s assets 
recorded a modest growth, with the growth rate slowing down throughout 
2017, due to the slowdown in the increase of both customer and securities 
transactions. 

The net financial result of the banking sector improved considerably during 
2017, driving profitability indicators up. The main positive contribution to the 
financial sector’s performance has come from the decline in credit risk provisions. 
Meanwhile, although remaining the main item in the total income from the 
activity, net interest income continued to drop. The reduction in provisions for 
credit risk reflects the considerable fall of non-performing loans. The fall in net 
interest income shows that intermediation is carried out amid low interest rates, 
where the decline in interest expenditures (with positive effect) did not offset the 
fall in interest income (with negative effect). The capital adequacy ratio stood 
at 16.6% at the end of 2017, up by around 0.2 percentage point from a year 
earlier.

The indicators employed by the Bank of Albania to monitor the performance 
and accumulation of systemic risks, overall, have reflected decrease of risks to 
financial stability over 2017. From the macroeconomic aspect, the improvement 
is attributable to the economic growth recovery, the positive developments in the 
labour market, the improvement in current account deficit, fiscal performance 
and the improved debtor position of enterprises. In banking sector activity, 
the improvement of indicators reflects the fall of non-performing loans, the 
improvement of the financial result and the good levels of capitalisation and 
liquidity. 

Credit risk continues to be significant for the activity of banking sector 

During 2017, the level of non-performing loans fell considerably as a result of 
banks’ actions to collect, restructure and write off lost loans from banks’ balance 
sheets. During 2017, the outstanding non-performing loans shrank by 27% and 
their ratio stood at 13.2% at end-2017, against 18.2% at end 2016. Credit 
quality improved across all maturities. Meanwhile, currently, the lowest quality in 
non-performing loans is noted in the foreign currency credit, credit to enterprises 
and credit with longer-term maturity. The reduction of non-performing loans is 
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accompanied by the improvement of their coverage with capital, whiles the 
coverage with provisions, overall, remained stable. These developments are 
expected to positively affect credit supply, through the improvement of banking 
sectors’ perception of lending, and the release of banks’ resources previously 
engaged in the management of non-performing loans. The commitment of 
banks to early restructuring supports the further reduction of the outstanding 
non-performing loans, and a better control of their new flows. Regardless of 
the significant improvement against the average level of the last 3- 4 years, the 
level of non-performing loans in the banking sector is estimated as still high. In 
addition, the non-performing loans unhedged against exchange rate volatility, 
notwithstanding the slight fall during 2017, still account for 25% of total credit. 

The risk of the banking sector from exposure to exchange rate and interest 
rates volatility remains present.

The size of the direct impact from the exchange rate fluctuations on the banks’ 
balance sheet is directly related with the size of the net open foreign currency 
position of the banking sector. The higher this position is as a ratio to regulatory 
capital, the higher is the expected direct impact of exchange rate fluctuations on 
the banking sector’s balance sheet. During 2017, the banking sector’s net open 
position in foreign exchange, driven mainly by the larger banks, maintained 
the “long” position and ranged within long-term levels. This position was down 
during 2017 H1, and slightly up during 2017 H2, albeit remaining below the 
level in the previous year, and below the average of the two previous years. 
This shows a limited exposure of the sector to the direct exchange rate risk. On 
the other hand, the indirect exposure against the exchange rate fluctuations has 
remained at high levels, due to the still high share of unhedged loans against 
exchange rate fluctuations22 against outstanding credit (25%), and against 
the total credit in foreign currency (44%). While both ratios fell slightly during 
2017, the Bank of Albania deems that banking sector should continue the 
efforts to reduce exposure steadily. 

The banking sector remains exposed to interest rate volatility when the mismatch 
between interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities, by repricing periods, is 
relatively high. Also, a possible increase in interest rates in the future may drive 
to a pressure for a fall in repayment capacity of borrowers that have variable-
rate loans. 

The high use of foreign currencies in the banking sector is accompanied with 
market and liquidity risks

As at end 2017, foreign currency deposits at the banking sector accounted 
for 53% of total deposits, while foreign currency credit fell at 56% of total 
credit portfolio. The low interest rates environment affected the performance 
of the indicators, but the possible change of this environment may re-introduce 
22	 The credit unhedged against the movements in the exchange rate is the loan granted in a 

currency different from the borrower’s dominated currency income. 
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channelling resources in foreign currency towards lending in foreign currency. 
If this were followed by an unfavourable movement in the exchange rate, the 
borrowers’ repayment capacity for unhedged loans in foreign currency would 
fall; this would drive to a weakening of the financial situation and liquidity 
of the banking sector. For these reasons, it is necessary that the exposure 
in foreign currency of both the banking system and customers take place in 
compliance with prudential requirements, and be limited only for customers that 
have natural protection against market risks.

Liquidity risk in the banking activity remains low

The liquidity ratios, both in lek and in foreign currency, monitored on on-going 
basis by the Bank of Albania, stand significantly above the minimum regulatory 
requirements. Deposits are the main source of financing, whose value is almost 
double higher compared with the outstanding credit granted by the banking 
sector. The growth of the share of demand deposits and current accounts in the 
structure of financing sources is a development that requires attention. As at end 
2017, demand deposits and current accounts together shared 42% of total 
deposits, from 40% in the previous year. The considerable share of demand 
deposits drives banks to maintain high levels of liquid assets, and seek higher 
return through longer-term investments or be exposed to high-risk products. 

The effect of macro-prudential measures implemented by the 
Bank of Albania

Given the considerable slowdown of credit growth pace, the fast increase of 
banking sector investments in non-resident financial entities, and the overall fall 
of credit quality, the Bank of Albania has undertaken a package of counter-
cyclical measures since 2013, which aimed at: a) removing the capital 
requirements in cases the annual growth of capital stock is within the interval 
4-10%; b) increasing the capital requirements on the additional banking sector’s 
investments with non-resident financial entities; and c) changes related to the 
requirements for standard credit restructuring. Measure (a) was repealed at the 
end of 2016, while measures (b) and (c) remained in force, as amended, till 
the end of 2017. 

The measure which stipulates an increase of capital requirements when 
investments with non-resident financial entities increase, during the two-year 
moving period, resulted with a fall of the annual growth of investments with 
non-residents, at 1% in 2017, from 25% at the beginning when this measure 
started to be applied. 

Measure (c), stipulates the restructuring of credit since the stage the credit is 
classified as regular, but the borrower has started to show the first problems 
in repaying the credit, and the reduction from six months to nine months of the 
time in which the restructured credits may turn into standard credit, as far as 
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the borrower has regularly paid three credit instalments (principal and interest). 
Restructuring aims to maintain the borrower’s solvency and the quality of credit. 
If the restructuring takes place under these conditions, the credit continues to 
be classified as regular, but is subject of a higher provisioning rate than 10%, 
compared to the rates of 1% and 5% of standard and sub-standard credits 
provisioning. A quantitative assessment of the size of this measure’ s effect 
shows that the ratio of non-performing loans fell by around 1 percentage point, 
and excluding the effect of this measure, this ratio would have been 14.2% at 
the end of 2017. 

Activities and new products during 2017 

In 2017, the Bank of Albania was engaged in some important projects for the 
financial stability. In more concrete terms: the Macro-prudential Policy Strategy 
was drafted and approved in August 2017; the financial cycle and capital 
reserves for systemic risks were determined; and the strategy for increasing 
the use of the national currency in the activity of the financial system and real 
economy was drafted, consulted and finalised. 

The macro-prudential policy is dedicated to the systemic risk analysis, and 
includes the implementation of measures, mainly prudential measures, aimed 
at mitigating and minimising the systemic risk. The macro-prudential measures 
contribute to safeguarding financial stability in two aspects: a) preventing 
the accumulation of risks in the financial system; and b) strengthening the 
resilience of the financial system. The Macro-prudential Policy Strategy23 shall 
be a guideline of future measures and activities of Bank of Albania. It features 
the intermediate objectives of macro-prudential policy, a list of instruments for 
addressing the systemic risks, a set of indicators to signal the risk level and the 
implementation of a certain instrument, a description of the decision-making at 
the Bank of Albania and inter-institutional coordination, and the principles of 
public communication on the macro-prudential policy. 

In parallel, the phases of a financial cycle and the concept of capital reserves 
in the banking sector for systemic risks have been determined. Defining the 
financial cycle is a difficult, but indispensable process to operationalize some 
of macro-prudential policy instruments. The global financial crisis in 2008 
showed risks accumulate during the boom phase of a financial cycle. In this 
phase, the financial system should strengthen its positions of capital and of 
various reserves, in order to withstand the potential losses arising as a result 
of the change in direction (decreasing) of the financial cycle. Also, in 2017, 
the indicators of various risks, in particular of credit and liquidity risks, were 
identified. The determined levels of these indicators, which serve as signals for 
the implementation of macro-prudential instruments, will be assessed through 
the statistical methods. 

23	 The Macro-prudential Policy was approved with the Decision No. 38, dated 02.08.2017 
of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania. 
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In the Programme of Economic Reforms 2016-2018, the Albanian authorities 
were committed to preparing a strategy on increasing the use of the national 
currency (ALL) in the Albanian financial system and economy, known as the 
de-euroization strategy. This commitment was triggered by the need to improve 
the effectiveness of the economic and financial policies and to decrease the 
risks to financial stability. In terms of macroeconomic policies, a high level of 
euroization, or use of foreign currency, leads to the reduction of the monetary 
policy effectiveness; limits the role of the free exchange rate as an automatic 
stabilizer in the case of macroeconomic shocks; and, undermines the fiscal 
policy effectiveness through the possible increase in the cost of debt service 
and unwanted change of its structure. In addition, unhedged borrowing in 
foreign currency and its possibility to contribute to the fall in asset quality, the 
deterioration of the financial situation and liquidity of the banking sector are 
important challenges to the financial system stability. 

The Bank of Albania collaborated with the Ministry of Finance and Economy 
and the Financial Supervision Authority to establish the strategy. The three 
institutions approved the Memorandum of Cooperation on 18 April 2017, 
which was immediately released24. According to the Memorandum, the 
signatory parties commit to identifying, in the respective areas of competence 
and in a harmonized manner, the relevant actions, including communication 
with the public. 

In 2017 H2, the Bank of Albania committed to real steps in the framework of 
the de-euroisation strategy. It prepared the Policy Document “On increasing the 
use of the national currency (ALL) in the activity of banks and non-bank financial 
institutions, subject to the Bank of Albania regulation and supervision”25 and 
compiled regulatory amendments, to make more costly the activity of the banking 
sector in foreign currency and strengthen the mechanisms awareness-raising of 
borrowers, mainly those unhedged against the exchange rate risks, on the risks 
surrounding the foreign currency borrowing. In addition to the commitment for 
maximum transparency on every decision and action committed, the Bank of 
Albania will collaborate with the banking industry and other authorities that 
supervise the financial markets in Albania. 

Notably, this package of measures, part of inter-institutional strategy: 

-	 does not aim the reduce to zero the use of the foreign currency in 
the activity of banking sector; given the characteristics of the Albanian 
economy and financial system this is objectively impossible, and in 
terms of the economy it would be rather costly. It aims at decreasing 
euroisation at average levels of economies with a similar size and 
structure;

24	 At the signing moment the name of the “Ministry Of Finance and Economy” was the “Ministry 
of Finance”.

25	 The Policy was adopted by Decision No. 9, dated 07.02.2018 of the Supervisory Council 
of the Bank of Albania. 
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-	 does not pose administrative restrictions to banks and their clients; it 
only provides the stimulus for banks to gradually increase the use of 
national currency in their activity;

-	 does not have additional costs to banks in the medium term, and does 
not considerably affect the exchange rate, whose performance is 
determined by a set of factors of demand and supply;

-	 after the Memorandum of Cooperation, the package of measures of 
the Bank of Albania was subject of prior discussions with the banking 
industry throughout 2017, in a transparent and detailed way. The 
Governor of the Bank of Albania had public interviews about this 
package, and it was discussed in the Financial Stability Report 2017 
H1; 

-	 other measures may be included in the package, coordinated among 
the signing authorities of the Memorandum, if they become necessary 
from the monitoring of certain performance indicators. 

Box 7.  Measures of the Bank of Albania in the framework of de-
euroisation strategy

Research by national and international authors evidences the considerable level 
of euroisation in the Albanian economy and financial system. These studies 
analyse the reasons and risks, and highlight that this phenomenon needs to be 
addressed to control the risks to the financial stability of economic entities, which 
are exposed to unfavourable shocks in the foreign currency flows and exchange 
rate, in order to safeguard financial stability and enhance the effectiveness of 
the economic and financial policies. Taking into account the characteristics of 
its economy and trade relations, Albania will have an euroisation level higher 
than zero. The last joint study between the International Monetary Fund and 
the Bank of Albania, among others, has aimed to quantify the target level of 
deposits in foreign currency against the broad money indicator for Albania, 
by comparing the monetary and economic indicators of Albania with those in 
countries of similar size and structure of the economyI. After finding that the 
level of that indicator needs to be reduced, the study evidences that the return of 
euroisation to “optimal” level may be achieved over time through: (i) maintaining 
economic and monetary stability; (ii) differentiating the remuneration rates of 
deposits in foreign currency; and (iii) applying targeted prudential measures to 
limit the credit to unhedged borrowers against the exchange rate risk. 

Referring to the above analysis, and in the framework of inter-institutional strategy 
to address euroisation, the Bank of Albania adopted some measures that include: 

-	 Drafting the policy document of the Bank of Albania for increasing the 
use of the national currency in the activity of banks and other institutions, 
which are regulated and supervised by it. This document determines the 
way the Bank of Albania will contribute in this process, and how it will 
assess the effect of this contribution;

-	 Raising the borrowers’ awareness on the risks that accompany the 
foreign currency borrowing, in particular when it is unhedged against 
the exchange rate risk; in this framework, banks should be required 
to provide the potential borrowers with an alternative loan in lek, and 
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provide the borrower with an example that shows the way how the loan 
instalments change in case of a hypothetical strong depreciation of lek 
exchange rate. 

-	I ncreasing the minimum requirement for liquid assets in foreign currency, 
as a ratio to short-term liabilities in foreign currency, at 20%; for lek, this 
ratio stood at 15%;

-	I ncreasing the required reserve rate for deposits in foreign currency at 
12.5% (from 10%), if the ratio of the deposits in foreign currency to total 
deposits is not higher than 50%; and at the level 20% for that part of 
deposits in foreign currency that exceeds the level 50%; lowering the 
required reserve rate in lek at 7.5% (from 10%) when the maturity term of 
the deposits is less than 12 months, and at the level 5% when the maturity 
term of the deposit is higher than 12 months (up to 24 months).

The Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania approved the package of 
measures in its meeting on 7 February 2018. The measures shall enter into 
force, by stages, till June 2018.

I	 Della Valle, G., et al. “Euroization Drivers and Effective Policy Response. An Application 
to the Case of Albania”. IMF Working Paper, WP/18/21.
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2.4 Supervision

Bank of Albania’s supervision function is based on three pillars: licensing, 
regulation and supervision. The latter is carried out through off-site surveillance 
and on-site examinations. The constant supervision and regulation of financial 
activities in Albania, mainly of banking activities, are at the focus of this 
function and represent its main activity26.

The supervision function at the Bank of Albania is exercised through: consistent 
improvement of the regulatory framework, in compliance with the European 
directives and best practices and market specifics; entry into market of 
sound financial entities by adding value to enhancing market competition; 
implementation of a continuous supervision, being materialised from on-site 
inspections and periodic analyses; implementation of effective corrective 
measures; and, cooperation with international supervisory and regulatory 
authorities, or other national authorities responsible for supervising financial 
entities. The constant supervision and regulation of financial activities in Albania, 
mainly of banking activities, are at the focus of this function and represent its 
main activities.

Through the supervisory function, the Bank of Albania aims at: ensuring a sound 
activity of the financial entities; increasing the contribution to strengthening 
financial stability; and enhancing the market discipline and fair competitiveness. 

In this view, year 2017 marked a range of developments related to supervision 
and in the financial institutions supervised by the Bank of Albania. The supervisory 
practice improved regarding the methodology for controlling banks through 
approximation with Basel principles and efforts to adopt best international 
practices. These developments are based on the continuous review of the 
regulatory framework. The self-assessment process of banks on the internal needs 
for capital is one of the important developments that are expected to improve 
the management structure of banks. It increases the supervisory responsibility 
to adopt to these developments through the review of the internal methodology 
for the assessment of corporate governance. Considerable changes have taken 
place on anti-money laundering, through the review of the respective regulatory 
framework and the establishment of internal methodologies for assessing the risk 
profile of supervised institutions. The increased cooperation with the European 
Central Bank is expected to support these developments.

In addition, the banking system has improved the risk profile, while the non-
performing loans ratio has fallen by around 5 percentage points, over 2017, 
26	 The Bank of Albania publishes detailed data on the developments in the banking sector and 

the banking system and banking supervision process in the Supervision Annual Reports. 
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standing at 13.2%. Liquidity and capital are at adequate levels. Special 
attention is being paid to the consolidated process with the expected merger of 
two banks and the strategic plans on the re-positioning in the market, depending 
on the dominant short and long-term factors. 

Approximation of supervision practices

The preparation of the regulatory framework on the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP) was one of the main highlights of supervision 
in 2017, regarding the approximation of supervisory practices with Basel 
principles and EU directives. This process is particularly important, as its 
complements the supervisory perspective with the self-assessment dimension 
of banks. It contributes qualitatively to establishing an objective risk profile for 
banks and, consequently, improves the risk-based supervision process. 

The document that regulates this process is compiled in the framework of a 
guideline and in compliance with the Basel II Pillar 2, which sets out the criteria 
for the establishment of an internal process by banks to assess risks that are not 
covered by the existing regulation on capital adequacy. The document identifies 
the core requirements to assess additional risks and calculate additional capital 
to cover these risks according to the determined methods and those built by 
banks, based on the risk profile and their strategy. The Bank of Albania shall 
review the report of this assessment during 2018. The adequacy of control 
self-assessment environment for risk management and the relevant capital 
quantitative requirements will be discussed with banks. 

In 2017, the project established in collaboration with the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development for the revision of the supervisory methodology 
in the qualitative assessment of banks’ structures was implemented. This project 
considers the analysing and addressing the supervision of corporate governance 
elements for the established structures, the functioning and independence of 
bank committees, structures and functions of internal control structures of risks 
assessment. The development of this project is in the final stage; the areas 
that need to be reviewed for improvement are introduced and discussed in 
principle. A formalised assessment document with concrete recommendations is 
expected to be presented in the first quarter of 2018, with the purpose to adopt 
the improvements and render the reviewed framework in 2018 functional.

The Bank of Albania is preparing the regulatory framework for the approximation 
of Basel-III supervisory practices for the calculation of liquidity. The regulatory 
framework in compliance with the EU Directive was drafted last year, and, 
in parallel, the structure for the conduction of a prior exercise with banks on 
the calculation of the LCR (Liquidity Coverage Ratio) was established. This 
exercise aims the early identification of problems in its interpretation and the 
prior assessment of banks’ position against this indicator. This process shall take 
place over 2018.
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Monitoring and addressing non-performing loans

Non-performing pursued the downward trend of the last four years. In 2017, 
the absolute value of non-performing loans decreased more than a quarter, 
at 27%, lowering the relevant indicator at 13.23%, down by 5 percentage 
points in annual terms. The value of these loans remained in the balance sheet 
is provisioned at higher than 70%. The fall by around ALL 30 billion of non-
performing loans in 2017, was driven by the writing off from the balance sheet 
of these loans, at ALL 16.7 billion, solution of large borrowers, the payment of 
arrears by the borrowers and the restructuring, by improving the classifications. 
Bank of Albania assesses that the non-performing loans ratio is still high and 
needs attention to further improve the falling trend, though the maintenance of 
the regular existing portfolio and the rather efficient solution of non-performing 
portfolio.

In this context, the fulfilment of the annual objectives of banks related with 
the performance of non-performing loans and the preparing of Recovery and 
Resolution Plans of large borrowers are specially monitored through the regular 
reports required to banks in 2017. The submitted information aimed at clarifying 
the level of the relationships with every borrower, as well as the exceptions and 
plans on future developments. They used to be subject of discussion with banks 
to find space for sustainable solutions and to expand this spirit throughout the 
system. This reporting will continue in 2018, through standardised reports and 
will serve as a base to start the regulatory framework for common borrowers.

With assistance of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund, a 
regulatory framework, aiming to encourage the collaboration and coordination 
of banks for addressing common borrowers starting at an early stage of 
problems appearance, is being compiled. This framework determines 
encouraging elements to bring banks into a common denominator in their 
decision-making and the coordinated solution of the occurred problems, by 
providing the cooperation agreements among them and with the borrowers 
with the purpose the definition of the criteria and the way of collaboration. 
Currently, this regulatory framework is drafted and following the discussion 
with the banking industry, is expected to be approved in the first part of 2018. 

The analysis quality of credit performance is improved through the detailing of 
the received data regarding the shift among classes by which the credits are 
classified, the factors that affect the performance of credit and by the main 
currencies where it is concentrated the lending activity. This way of analysing is 
tested and put in function in the last year and will continue on quarterly basis.

Cooperation with foreign institutions

The cooperation with the international supervisory authorities is considerably 
intensified, notably, the cooperation agreement between the Bank of Albania 
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and the European Central Bank. This agreement paves the way towards 
a stable collaboration through the share of common-interest information, of 
professional experiences and the decision-making coordination, an important 
step in the integration process of the Albanian institutions in the European 
Union structures. Meanwhile, Bank of Albania was invited to participate as 
observer in two supervisory colleges organised for Greek banking groups of 
international presence (including the Albanian presence) and in a targeted-
inspection in one bank of EU origin. The shared information and the meetings 
with the homologue authorities in other countries contributed in the coordination 
of actions and supervisory measures, and in the establishment of a more clear 
profile for banks in Albania and in the relevant group. This collaboration is 
expected to continue in 2018 and further. 

Banking system consolidation

The consolidating trends of banking system being identified in the previous years, 
materialised in 2017, with the decision on the merging of Intesa SanPaolo Bank 
with Veneto Bank, mainly driven by the international developments and by the 
decision of the Bank of Italy and the European Central Bank in coordination with 
Intesa SanPaolo group in Italy, following the announcement on the bankruptcy 
of Vento Banking group. The merger by absorption of Veneto Bank is expected 
to end in 2018, while the banking system will have a lower number of banks. 
The Bank of Albania deems that there is still scope for further consolidation, 
expected to be materialised and is carefully monitoring all developments in 
this regard. This assessment is based on the interest stated by some banks to 
expand and shrinkage of some other banks due to the revision of presence 
banks in Balkans by the parent banks. 

Evaluation of Anti-Money Laundering Measures and the 
Financing of Terrorism process by MONEYVAL 

In 2017, important amendments were made to the regulation of the Bank of 
Albania for all institutions subject to its jurisdiction (banks, non-bank financial 
institutions, savings and loan associations, and foreign exchange bureaus) 
regarding anti-money laundering and financing of terrorism. The amendments 
consist in additional requirements for reporting by financial institutions of 
qualitative and quantitative data, according to a standardised form, on annual 
basis (including a questionnaire). The amendments, in addition to the problems 
identified in the implementation of the applicable legal and regulatory 
framework, aimed to address the implementation of international standards 
and the recommendations provided in the fourth round of Albania’s evaluation 
by Moneyval’s experts. 

These amendments drove to the need to improve the supervisory framework for 
the above-stated institutions. The framework is completed with the compilation 
and approval of a methodology for off-site evaluation dedicated to the risk on 
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anti-money laundering and combating the financing of terrorism (AML/CFT) 
accompanied with a matrix of risk evaluation in this field. The off-site evaluation 
of AML/CFT risk is a crucial tool in supporting the supervisory process in 
accordance with a risk-based approach. Based on data reports for 2016, the 
Bank of Albania, for the first time, performed the evaluation of this risk exposure 
of the institutions, and currently is carrying out the second analysis based on the 
data reported by institutions for 2017. The results of this evaluation shall serve 
to the supervisory process focusing on institutions and activities that pose high 
risk in terms of AML/CFT. 

In 2017 Q4, the Committee of Experts on the evaluation of anti-money 
laundering measures and the financing of terrorism (MONEYVAL) carried out the 
fifth round of Albania’s evaluation. The Bank of Albania was an important part 
of this process as the supervisory authority of the financial system, and was very 
active in completing the necessary information requested through both template 
forms and direct meetings. The CoE Moneyval Committee Experts evaluated 
positively the above-stated developments. Currently, the fifth evaluation round 
for Albania is in the drafting stage of the evaluation report by the experts 
and the final report with the respective recommendations is expected to be 
approved by this Committee within 2018 H1.

On-site examinations

In 2017, 14 full-scope and partial examinations were performed in banks, 
non-bank financial institutions and savings and loan associations. In view of 
orienting the resources from activities that expose the entities more to risks, 
and in view of risk-based supervision purposes, the Bank of Albania visited 
three systemic banks, in 2017. Also, a large number of partial examinations 
were carried out in banks, while the attention was paid to the examination 
of non-bank institutions, whose number and share in the financial system has 
been increasing. The main objective of the examinations remains defining a 
complete risk profile for the licensed institutions. 

In light of the above developments and factors, the main fields at the focus of 
2017 examinations are summarised as follows:

In the banking sector, improvements are finalised regarding the internal 
framework, the compliance with the supervisory regulatory framework (in 
particular the reflection of the classification and establishment of provisions for 
the borrowers’ exposure), the recovery of non-performing loans, the compliance 
with the regulatory indicators (capital and liquidity), etc. At the same time, the 
improvement of governance systems, the strengthening of the oversight role of 
the management bodies, and the increase of independence, effectiveness and 
preventive ability of audit systems remain important issues of supervision. In 
addition to the prudential increase of lending, the efforts to solve and recover 
the non-performing loans are assessed as well. The assessment of strategic 
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plans of banks, in terms of identifying the market expectations, the orientation 
of sources and the adoption of structures with these expectations, as well as 
the acceptability of the shareholder/parent bank’s philosophy have been 
considered attentively. The careful addressing of bank activity expansion 
and the selected forms of investments with their complexity was part of this 
assessment. Also, the transparency with customers is always an important part 
of assessment and verifications throughout the on-site examinations. 

Regarding the non-bank financial institutions, the audit systems in these 
institutions still have room to ensure effectiveness, independence and the 
required authority. The improvement of information systems support would 
contribute in this regard. These factors are materialised in a higher level of 
deficiencies regarding the correct reflection of classification and provision 
funds to the exposures of borrowers, transparency issues with customers, etc. 
On the other hand, non-bank institutions are rather active, not only in increasing 
or combining the activities, but also in expanding the use of loan instruments 
(in addition to their capital) to finance the activity (debt securities, participation 
in national financing programs/development, borrowing from banks or 
international institutions, etc.). This trend is considered as a normal developing 
phase for these institutions, and the increase of stakeholders, investors, that 
analyse and monitor the activity of non-bank financial institutions are expected 
to contribute positively to the strengthening of governance systems and their 
control. 

Some of the savings and loan associations were subject to examinations for 
the first time, after the conclusion of the consolidating process and separation 
from the Unions. Overall, the separation process has been carefully managed 
by the governing bodies of the associations, maintaining the positive pace of 
both the activity and financial results. On the other hand, they need to improve 
the internal framework of these institutions, the completion of operational units, 
the increase of the professional capacities of management bodies, the clear 
separation of tasks and responsibilities, etc. The response to the examination 
recommendations was positive, and within the established deadline. 

At the conclusion of the examinations, recommendations on the necessary 
improvements were provided, and their implementation was monitored closely. 
Also, supervisory measures are applied on some institutions, for which recurring 
breaches of the regulatory requirements had been identified. 

Review of the legal and methodology frameworks

The drafting and the review of the supervision regulatory framework was 
aimed at supplementing and improving it, in order to ensure compliance with 
the applicable legal requirements and alignment with the directives and the 
regulations of the European Union (EU) and the standards of the Basel Committee, 
by continuously considering the identified problems and the suggestions of the 
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supervised institutions, provided though an on-going communication with them. 
The main regulatory changes are as follows:

•	 The Bank of Albania, with the purpose to complete the regulation on 
the supervision of banking groups that operate in Albania, realised 
the complete review of the Regulation “On consolidated supervision”. 
This initiative considered all the provisions stipulated in the Law “On 
banks in the Republic of Albania” on consolidated supervision, as well 
as the requirements and principles laid down in the directives and 
the regulations of the European Union (EU), and the standards of the 
Basel Committee. This Regulation lays down the conditions, rules and 
regulatory requirements of conducting consolidated supervision, for the 
purposes of risk management deriving from a banking group and a 
financial group. 

•	 The Regulation “On capital adequacy ratio” was partially reviewed, 
with the aim to continue the implementation of the measures that 
penalises (in terms of capital requirement) the placements of the banking 
sector with non-residents. 

•	 To fulfil the recommendations of the Moneyval Experts Committee, 
provided in the last evaluation for Albania, and to resolve some issues 
concluded in the on-site supervision regarding the implementation 
of the requirements of the supervisory authority on the prevention of 
money laundering, the requirements set out in the Regulation “On the 
prevention of money laundering and terrorism financing” were reviewed 
and fulfilled. 

•	 The Regulation “On the transparency for banking and financial products 
and services” was partially reviewed aimed at further strengthening 
transparency, addressing some problems manifested in banks regarding 
the transparency to customers, and further aligning it with the European 
Directive on consumer protection. 

•	 The Regulation “On establishing the decision-making level in the 
supervision of banking and financial activities” was partially reviewed, 
with the aim to ensure the compliance with the decision-making process 
and its delegation, in particular the reflection of processes set out in the 
new supervision regulations on the savings and loan associations and 
their unions. 

•	 The Regulation “On granting the license to non-bank financial institutions” 
and the Regulation “On risk management in the activity of savings and 
loan associations and their Unions”, were simultaneously and inter-
dependently reviewed. The amendments mainly consist in addressing 
some problems identified in the supervision process, also aiming some 
facilities for the institutions while carrying out their financial activity.

•	 In compliance with the requirements laid down in the Law 133/2016 
“On the recovery and resolution of banks in the Republic of Albania”, 
to complete the regulatory framework with regulatory acts, the existing 
guideline “On recovery plans” was completely reviewed. The new 
regulation “On recovery plans of banks”, which replaces the applicable 
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guideline, sets out the supervisory requirements on the recovery plans of 
banks and banking groups, mainly the content of these plans the way 
and term to present these plans and their updating, the inclusion of a list 
of qualitative and quantitative indicators, as a very important integral 
part, as well as the criteria stipulated by the supervisory authority to 
assess them. 

•	 The important process of the effective governance of banks and the 
approval criteria of banks’ administrators were strengthened through 
the new requirements set out in the partially reviewed Regulation “On 
the core management principles of banks and branches of foreign 
banks and the criteria on the approval of their administrators”. The 
reviewed Regulation aims to align it with the recent requirements of the 
European Union regulatory acts on the good-governance and ensure 
compliance with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
recommendations provided in the project on the assessment of the relevant 
legal and regulatory framework and supervisory practices applicable 
at the Bank of Albania. The amendments mainly consist in the new 
requirements of the supervisory authority regarding: the definition of risk 
appetite/tolerance and the capacity of banks’ risk and the obligation 
to publish the appetite/tolerance statement as part of their annual 
report; the compilation of a special policy on the appointment of the 
Steering Council members of the bank; some additional requirements 
on the risk management unit/structure and the compliance structure/
unit; the requirements to realise an analysis and self-assessment of the 
bank for the administrators proposed for approval, on the adequacy 
of professional knowledge with the proposed position; as well as the 
regular re-assessment process of administrators and, whenever deemed 
necessary depending on the circumstances, throughout the conduct of 
their function in the bank, etc.

•	 The Regulation “On internal audit system” was partially reviewed, to be 
adapted to the amendments in the Regulation “On the core management 
principles of banks and branches of foreign banks and the criteria on 
the approval of their administrators”, and aligned with the best practices 
on internal audit.
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Box 8. Guideline “ On the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process ”

The Bank of Albania Supervisory Council with the Decision No. 26, dated 
3.5.2017 approved the guideline “On the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment 
Process”.

This guideline completes the three-pillar framework of the Basel Capital Accord, 
through the presentation of the detailed requirements for banks, already also for 
Pillar II - Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). This guideline 
sets out the requirements for banks on drafting and implementing the ICAAP, 
as well as the expectations of the supervisor on the structure and content of 
the report of this process to be submitted at the Bank of Albania. The ICAAP is 
independently realised by the bank, and ensures the assessment of the current 
and future levels of capital adequacy, based on its risk profile and strategies. 

For the realisation of this process, the bank shall follow two steps: first, it shall 
determine the level of a specific risk they can undertake, in order to define their 
risk-bearing capacity and ensure adequate capital to cover this risk; and, second, 
it shall make a critical analysis of the risk level that is rational to undertake, 
taking into account all the possibilities and threats that correspond to this risk 

The ICAAP process is fully based on the internal processes and systems of 
the banks that helps to manage and effectively control the risk profile and, 
consequently, to determine the necessary capital level. This process is oriented 
toward the quantitative elements of the risk management process - the assessment 
of internal capital requirements and of the capital for covering the risk, as well as 
its qualitative elements, created to strengthen the internal rules of management 
and control of the bank, which enable an effective management and mitigation 
of this risk.

Banks, in drafting ICAAP, shall consider at least the implementation of the 
following basic principles:

a)	 Responsibility. The bank shall be responsible for the implementation and 
development of ICAAP. 

b)	P roportionality. Banks shall implement ICAAP, regardless of their size and 
complexity. Each bank shall use appropriate tools and processes in its 
ICAAP, and shall prove/argument for the Bank of Albania that ICAAP is 
complete and appropriate for the risks arising from the activity and the 
environment in which this activity is conducted.

c)	 Materiality of risks. ICAAP must be focused on risks that may have a 
material impact on the current or future capital adequacy situation of the 
bank.

d)	L ooking forward. ICAAP shall focus on ensuring the bank’s capital 
adequacy, taking into account future developments and its activity’s 
performance. 

Bank of Albania, based on the ICAAP carried out by the bank, will establish 
the Supervisory Review an Evaluation Process with the purpose to establish an 
overall opinion on the risk profile of the bank and of its needs for capital.
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Licencing and approvals

The Albanian banking sector continues to be dominated by EU-based banking 
group subsidiaries. Currently, 16 banks exercise their activity in the Republic 
of Albania

Table 4. Banks’ ownership structure (number of banks at period-end)
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Banks in Albania, of which: 16 16 16 16 16 16
Branches of foreign banks - - - - - -
Banks’ ownership structure, by capital origin, of which:
Majority foreign owned1 14 14 14 13 13 13
-	 EU2 10 10 10 9 9 9
-	 Turkey3 1 1 1 1 1 1
-	 Owned by IFIs (Saudi Arabia)4 1 1 1 1 1 1
-	 Kuwait5 1 1 1 1 1 1
-	 Swiss Confederation6 1 1 1 1 1 1
Majority Albanian owned7 2 2 2 3 3 3

1	 “Majority” is in any case the simple majority of 50 per cent plus 1 vote.
2	 Banks with capital origin from EU countries are from: Italy (Intesa Sanpaolo Albania, Veneto 

Banka), Austria (Raiffeisen), Germany (Procredit), France (Societe Generale Albania), Greece 
(Banka Tirana, Alpha Bank Albania, NBG Albania), and Bulgaria (First Investments Bank 
Albania).

3	 National Commercial Bank
4	 United Bank of Albania
5 	 Credit Bank of Albania
6 	I nternational Commercial Bank
7 	 Majority Albanian owned banks at the end of 2017 are: Union Bank, Credins Bank, and 

American Bank of Investments.
Source: Bank of Albania.

In 2017, the Bank of Albania approved: the transfer of the 100% of the 
ownership of shareholders’ equity of a bank; the transfer of the qualifying 
holding to the shareholders’ equity of a bank; and, three applications by 
banks for additional financial activities, established in the licensing annex were 
assessed and approved; the application of a bank to open an affiliate outside 
the territory of Albania, through the transformation of its branch into an affiliate. 

Based on the regulatory and legal framework, 36 managers of banks were 
approved, by position classification: 16 members of the management board, 
6 members of audit committees and 14 executive managers. 

In 2017, the banks network was expanded only with two new branches, while 
banks have informed on the reduction of the number of branches/agencies in 
Albania (through merger or closure). At the end of 2017, banks carried out 
their activity through 473 branches/banking agencies, from 494 at the end 
of 2016. 

Based on the submitted applications, the Bank of Albania decided on granting 
new licences and provided prior approval to non-bank financial institutions. 
Three new institutions were added to the number of non-bank financial 
institutions, mainly to conduct the activity of: lending (micro credit); financial 
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leasing; payment services; and money transfer. The number of licensed non-
bank financial institutions was 31 at the end of 2017. Meanwhile, approvals 
to non-bank financial institutions included the prior approvals for two managers, 
and the approval to conduct additional financial activities for two institutions, 
and for the transfer of qualifying holding of capital quotes for three institutions. 
The licences of two non-bank financial institutions were suspended. One of 
them has turned active, after the ending of the suspension period. 

The approval of the managers of savings and loan associations, as a requirement 
of the Law “On savings and loan associations and their Unions” and of the 
Regulation “On licensing and activity of savings and loan associations and 
their Unions” was a new development in 2017. Approval was granted for 
5 chairs of steering councils of the savings and loan associations, 6 heads 
of audit committees of the savings and loan association, and 5 managers of 
savings and loan associations. Based on the legal and regulatory framework, 
in 2017, the reorganisation of savings and loan associations was finalised. 
The licence was revoked for one savings and loan association. As at the end 
of 2017, there were 13 savings and loan associations and 1 union of savings 
and loan associations

The licencing of foreign exchange bureaus continued in 2017: 39 new foreign 
exchange bureaus were licensed; 41 licenced institutions that exercised foreign 
exchange activity returned their licenses to the Bank of Albania for termination 
of activities. At the end of 2017, 426 foreign exchange bureaus conducted 
their activity in the foreign exchange market. 

Table 5. Number of financial institutions licensed by the Bank of Albania (end 
of period)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Banks and branches of foreign banks 16 16 16 16 16 16
Non-bank financial institutions 21 21 22 27 28 31
Foreign exchange bureaus 322 333 356 397 428 426
Unions of Savings and Loan Associations 2 2 2 2 2 1
Savings and Loan Associations 126 121 113 111 13 13

Source: Bank of Albania.
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2.5 Resolution

In 2017, the Law No. 133/2016 ‘’On the recovery and resolution of banks in 
the Republic of Albania” entered into force. This Law designates the Bank of 
Albania as the Resolution Authority for banks and branches of foreign banks 
that conduct their activity in Albania. 

Banking resolution is the process of restructuring a bank by the Bank of 
Albania through the resolution tools, in the framework of safeguarding public 
interests and financial stability. This resolution aims to minimize the impact of 
a bank, which fails to fulfil its obligations or is facing financial distress, on real 
economy, financial system and public funds in Albania. The Bank of Albania, 
as the resolution authority, may employ some tools to implement the structured 
resolution in a bank. 

1.	 Sale of business implies either the partial or complete sale of a bank’s 
business to a private entity. 

2.	 Asset separation aims to transfer the assets, rights and liabilities of the 
bank under resolution to an assets management company, which is 
wholly or partially owned by a public authority.

3.	 Bridge bank implies the partial or whole transfer of the business of a 
bank under resolution, to a bank with public capital.

4.	 Bail-in aims the loss absorption by the shareholders and creditors of 
the bank, through the write down of shares and/or converting debt 
instruments in capital. 

In March 2017, the Bank of Albania established the Resolution Department, 
as the responsible unit to accomplish the mandate of the Bank of Albania in 
this field. During the first year, the Resolution Department was committed in 
drafting the regulatory base of the legal obligations deriving from the Law 
No 133/2016 ‘’On the recovery and resolution of banks in the Republic of 
Albania”. 

In the capacity of the resolution authority, the Bank of Albania is responsible 
for: compiling the bylaws for the operationalization of resolution; preparing 
the resolution plans, which aim to set out the way to intervene structurally in 
a bank; and the establishment of the resolution fund that will serve for the 
implementation of resolution tools available to the Bank of Albania. In 2017, 
the Bank of Albania has worked to fulfil the above-stated elements, as follows:
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Drafting the by-laws

In September 2017, the Bank of Albania adopted the Regulation “On the 
organisation and functioning of the Resolution Department”, by setting out the 
main functions of the department to accomplish the new function. The Regulation 
“On the Resolution Fund and the procedures for its management” was adopted 
in October 2017. This Regulation lays down the establishment of this fund and 
the set of procedures on the contributions and full management of this fund. 

Resolution Fund

The “Resolution fund” was established for the implementation of the resolution 
tools by the Bank of Albania. The target funding level, 0.5% of total liabilities, 
calculated as the difference between assets and capital of all banks licensed 
in the Republic of Albania, to be reached by 2027. Banks pay regular annual 
contributions, for the achievement of the target level of the fund, within the term 
set out in the Law. 

During 2017, the Bank of Albania compiled the methodology on the calculation 
of these contributions and the payment procedure for each bank. The first 
contribution into the “Resolution fund” was made in January 2018. In total, 
the target level of the “Resolution fund” stands at ALL 6.3 billion. To meet this 
level, the banking sector’s contribution in the first year was ALL 632 million, 
which is paid proportionally to the share of each bank in the liabilities of the 
banking sector. The Bank of Albania calculates and updates the target funding 
level and the annual contribution the banking sector must pay, to adopt them 
to the latest developments in the banking sector’s balance sheet. In addition to 
annual contributions, the “Resolution fund” may benefit also from extraordinary 
contributions of banks, loans, subventions, donations, etc.

The Deposit Insurance Agency manages the 
“Resolution fund” in compliance with the policy on 
the management of financial assets approved by the 
Bank of Albania. This policy sets out the procedures, 
criteria and limits of concentration and maturity 
implemented by the Deposit Insurance Agency with 
the purpose to guarantee the insurance of the fund’s 
financial assets and to maintain a low risk profile 
and high liquidity. 

According to the provisions laid down in the Law 
No. 133/2016 “On the recovery and resolution of 
banks in the Republic of Albania”, the Resolution Fund 
may be used to: guarantee the assets or the liabilities 
of the bank under resolution, a bridge bank or an 
asset management company; provide with liquidity 

Chart 32 “Resolution fund” and its buildup 
through annual contributions

Source: Bank of Albania

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023
2024

2025

2026

2027
Target level

ALL 6.3 billion

ALL 632 million



Annual Report, 2017

80Bank of Albania

the bank under resolution, the bridge bank or the asset management company; 
purchase assets of the bank under resolution; contribute to capital and ensure 
other necessary funds to a bridge bank or an asset management company; 
compensate the bank under resolution for the uncovered loss arising due to the 
exclusion of eligible liabilities of certain creditors arising from the application of 
the bail-in tool; cover the costs for administration of the “Resolution Fund”, etc.

Planning the Resolution 

The drafting of resolution plans is one of the core functions of the new mandate 
of the Bank of Albania. The resolution plan is drafted for every bank and banking 
group operating in the Republic of Albania. The purpose of the resolution plan 
is to determine the critical functions for every bank; assess if a bank may be 
subject of resolution or be subject to mandatory liquidation; and prepare the 
steps to be followed if it is necessary to intervene in a bank. 

Throughout 2017, the Bank of Albania has worked to draft the regulation on 
resolution plan, which lays down the resolution plan and the assessment of the 
possibility for resolution. This regulation, in compliance with the obligations 
set out by law, aims to set out all the steps for the resolution planning and to 
identify the actions to be undertaken and the measures to be implemented in 
the event a bank meets the conditions for resolution. Also, the resolution plan 
identifies whether there are any more impediments to the bank’s resolution, 
and, if so, drawing up the necessary actions to remove those impediments. 

For the drafting of individual plans of banks, in 2018, the Bank of Albania shall 
gather information on the governance and management of the bank’s main 
activities, structure of liabilities, placed collaterals, off balance-sheet items, 
systems used by banks for payments, clearing and settlements, information 
systems, interconnections and financial dependencies, as well as contractual 
agreements that may be affected by the resolution actions. 
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2.6 Currency issue 

The Bank of Albania has the exclusive right for the issue and circulation of 
the national currency – the Albanian lek. The Bank of Albania determines 
the forms, measures, weights, model, and other characteristics of Albanian 
banknotes and coins of legal tender in Albania, as well as coins and banknotes 
for numismatic purposes. 

Banknotes in circulation27

At the end of 2017, there were 134,319,471 banknotes in circulation, 
worth around ALL 270.248 billion. Compared with 2016, the number of 
banknotes in circulation increased by around 3.1 million banknotes, whereas 
their value increased by 5.75%. The change in these indicators is attributable 
to the continuing change in structure in favour of 5000 Lekë and 2000 Lekë 
banknotes. The average value of a banknote in circulation at the end of 2017 
was ALL 2012, from ALL 1941 at the end of 2016.

Coins in circulation 

 At the end of 2017, there were 184,060,761 coins in circulation, worth ALL 
4.437 billion. Compared with 2017, the number of coins increased by 7.9% 

27	I t is the number and value of banknotes put in circulation by the Bank of Albania. 

Chart 33. Structure of banknotes in circulation

Source: Bank of Albania
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and their value increased by 8.2%. At the end of 2017, the overall coin to 
banknotes ratio was almost unchanged from the previous year.

Indicators of currency in circulation 

At the end of 2017, the ratio of currency in circulation to the M2 aggregate 
was 38%28, from 35% at the end of 2016. The circulation coefficient of the 
currency29 in the Bank of Albania was 0.432 in 2017, from 0.412 in 2016. 

Recirculation and quality of banknotes in circulation 

In 2017, around 109 million banknotes were processed, which were checked 
for authenticity and fitness for recirculation. From the process, around 23.4 
million banknotes resulted unfit for use, and were withdrawn from circulation. 
The sorting rate30 was 21.48%, from 22.16% in 2016. Unfit banknotes 
were replaced, on a case by case basis, with new banknotes. The banknote 
circulation coefficient 31 for 2017 was 0.85, implying that a banknote is 
returned to the cash desks of the Bank of Albania, on average less than once a 
year. This rate is higher for 500 Lekë and 1000 Lekë banknotes (around 1.6 
and 1.2, respectively) and lower for 5000 Lekë and 2000 Lekë banknotes 
(around 0.24 and 0.72, respectively), which shows that the latter are returned 
more rarely to the cash desks of the Bank of Albania.

28	 Note: it is the value for aggregate M2 based on preliminary official data for 2017. 
29	 Ratio of the number of banknotes and coins returned to the Bank of Albania cash desks to the 

average annual number of banknotes and coins in circulation.
30	 Ratio of unfit banknotes and coins to the total number of banknotes and coins sorted in a year
31	 Ratio of the number of banknotes returned to the Bank of Albania cash desks to the average 

annual number of banknotes in circulation.

Chart 34. Structure of coins in circulation

Source: Bank of Albania
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Analysing the structure and themes of currency in 
circulation

Bank of Albania objectives for banknotes and coins relate to improving the 
quality of banknotes in circulation, higher engagement with regard to protection 
against counterfeiting, and reviewing themes, design and security features in 
legal tender series of Albanian banknotes. 

In 2017, the review of the banknotes series was approved, regarding the 
qualitative improvement of their design, by maintaining the existing theme, and 
the notable improvement of security features.

Also, in 2017, the theme on the new banknote of 10000 Lekë was determined. 
The obverse will feature the portrait of Asdreni, and the reverse the “National 
flag” and some verses from the national anthem. 

Protecting banknotes and coins against counterfeiting

In view of safeguarding the integrity of the national currency, the Bank of 
Albania continued to work for increasing and upholding the quality of currency 
in circulation. Thus, the new national series is being prepared and approved for 
print. In this series, the security level of the existing security features is increased, 
and new security features are added, to strengthen the resilience of banknotes 
against counterfeiting. 

Addition attention is paid to preventing actions, accompanied with the 
prudential monitoring of all cases of counterfeit banknotes and coins discovered 
in circulation, and the increase of capacities to prevent and protect currency 
from counterfeit, through training and preventive activities in the field of currency 
protection. 

The quantity of counterfeit banknotes and coins 
discovered in circulation trended slightly up in 2017, 
compared with 2016. Overall, compared with 
the number of banknotes and coins in circulation, 
they remain insignificant. The number of counterfeit 
banknotes per 1 million banknotes in circulation was 
5.7 banknotes, in 2017. Compared with the euro 
currency, this ratio is considerably lower. 

By structure, the 1000 Lekë denomination has the 
major share in the total counterfeit banknotes and 
coins, followed by the 500 Lekë and 2000 Lekë 
denominations. In terms of counterfeit coins, the 50 
Lekë coin has the main share, by 134 coins, but 
with a falling trend in years. 

Chart 35. Counterfeit banknotes, over 
the years (pcs) 

Source: Bank of Albania
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In terms of techniques, the counterfeit national banknotes are reproduced by 
the digital colour printing technique, combined with the application of additive 
methods for the imitation of the security features. 
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2.7 Payment systems

The safe and effective operation of the payment systems, as the basis of the 
financial markets, is a crucial precondition for the implementation of the 
monetary policy, the financial stability and the overall economic growth. To 
achieve the objectives in the field of the payment systems, in 2017, the Bank 
of Albania has intensified the efforts to: promote their stability; and guarantee 
the safe and quick money circulation, and at low cost. In this regard, the Bank 
of Albania has taken measures to regulate and oversee the payment systems 
and their respective components, as well as take a more proactive role in 
encouraging initiatives by market actors.

Payment system oversight 

In the framework of further consolidation of payment systems oversight, in 2017, 
the Bank of Albania has implemented the international oversight standards on 
payment systems, which guarantee the safety of these systems. Also, it promotes 
their efficiency by supporting their extensive use by the financial markets and the 
economic agents, thus encouraging the formalisation of the Albanian economy 
and financial intermediation. 

In more concrete terms, in 2017, the Bank of Albania has worked for the 
implementation of the Bank for International Settlements Principles For Financial 
Market Infrastructures32 and the Regulation of the European Central Bank 
(EU) No. 795/2014 “On oversight requirements for systemically important 
payment systems33” with the support of the experts from the central bank of 
Italy and the World Bank. The assessment of payment systems based on these 
principles, and the measures for their implementation, support the safety and 
effectiveness of these systems in Albania, and promote the reliability of these 
systems internationally, and establish the necessary preconditions for adherence 
to the common European market. 

In compliance with the mid-term development objectives, the Bank of Albania 
paid special attention also to the development and regulation of small-value 
payment systems and the instruments used in them. In 2017, the Bank of 
Albania worked on the adoption of the legal and regulatory framework with 
the Payment Services Directive. The establishment and implementation of this 
legal and regulatory framework will contribute to promoting competition in the 

32	 https://www.bis.org/cpmi/publ/d101a.pdf
33	 https://www.ecb.europa.eu/ecb/legal/pdf/oj_jol_2014_217_r_0006_en_txt.pdf
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payment systems’ market, boosting transparency for the provided services and 
consolidating consumer protection. Also, the aligning of the practices on the 
regulation of payments services market with the European ones is a crucial 
step regarding the integration and implementation of recommendations in the 
framework of the free capital movement and the adherence to the Single Euro 
Payments Area (SEPA). Finally, the establishment of the above-stated regulatory 
and legal base will promote the development of innovative services, always 
being developed under safe and effective terms.

In addition to the fulfilment of the above medium-term objectives, in 2017, 
the Bank of Albania has consulted continuously the banking system and the 
Albanian Association of Banks with the aim to promote the development of the 
payment instruments and market through discussions on the latest developments 
and the needs for regulatory amendments, which enhance the effectiveness of 
these systems and instruments. 

The Bank of Albania as a reformer in the field of payment 
systems

The Bank of Albania, as reformer and catalyst, provides a crucial contribution 
to the development of the financial and payment markets to enhance the 
efficiency and credibility of these markets and of the relevant infrastructure. 
To accomplish this goal, the Bank of Albania uses its expertise in the field 
of payment systems and shares it with the market actors through regular 
consultations and coordinated meetings with representatives of the private and 
public sectors. In this regard, the Bank of Albania has continued to work for 
consolidating the inter-institutional collaboration through the National Payment 
Systems Committee ((NPSC). 

Through the Committee, the Bank of Albania has intensified the research 
activity at inter-institutional level aiming at increasing transparency and public 
awareness, as an important tool for promoting market development. In more 
concrete terms, in its meeting, the NPSC initiated a set of projects to research 
on priority issues in the relevant market, in collaboration with national and 
international institutions.

Also, in 2017, the Bank of Albania, in collaboration with the World Bank and 
the Minister of State for Diaspora, engaged in the field of remittances. In this 
framework, special attention is paid to the assessment of remittances market, 
and the efforts to increase the effectiveness of this important resource to the 
economy of Albania.

Finally, in this period, special attention is given to the interaction with various 
actors of the market and the parties that are interested to be involved in the 
Albanian market of payment systems and services. 
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National Payment System Committee (NPSC) 

To promote the development of payment systems and instruments, the NPSC 
continued the efforts for the materialisation of the targeted objectives throughout 
2017. In the meeting held in May 2017 a set of projects were initiated. These 
projects will contribute in establishing the necessary preconditions to promote 
the reformation of small-value payments market, and thus the use of electronic 
payment instruments. 

In concrete terms, the NPSC member institutions were committed to: 

-	 Promoting financial inclusion from the payments point of view. In this 
framework, the members were committed to the implementation of the 
recommendations, which aim to address the spaces identified in the 
report compiled by the World Bank in collaboration with the Bank of 
Albania for the financial inclusion from the payments point of view. 
The above Report analyses the market and addresses recommendations 
based on seven core principles: a) improvement of the applicable legal 
and regulatory framework; b) development and improvement of financial 
services infrastructure; c) expansion of payment account holding and of 
the use of their services; d) expansion of access points of these services; 
e) increase of financial literacy; f) increase of the volume of transactions 
processed in the payment systems; and g) the need for inter-institutional 
engagement from both private and public sectors, that is very important 
for the implementation of the recommendations. 

-	 Formulating a draft-strategy and implementing it for the reformation 
of small-value payments market with the support of the World Bank 
experts. It will serve as medium-term development strategy for the NPSC 
to promote the development in these systems, through an action-plan 
for the market actors. The above strategy includes also the monitoring 
instruments for its implementation and determines the quantitative 
objectives. Currently the drafting of the strategy is finalised and will be 
approved in the next meeting of the NPSC. 

-	 Finalising the study on the costs of payment instruments in Albania. The 
central banks in advanced countries have considered conducting such 
a study as very efficient, in the framework of the fight against the use 
of cash in economy, and in identifying the possibilities to reduce costs 
over the use of payment instruments in the economy. The above-stated 
study is finalised jointly by the Bank of Albania and the World Bank 
and will be made public in the early months of 2018. 

-	 Analysing the remittances market in Albania and the implementation of 
the World Bank Greenback project, in Berat. This project consists in 
increasing financial inclusion and financial education of emigrants and 
their families, who receive these funds, and the establishment of rather 
effective channels in terms of costs for the delivery of these funds. 

-	 Compiling the draft-law on Payment Services. Also, the Bank of Albania 
considers the payment services and the related instruments as a crucial 
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component of payment systems. In this regard, the Bank of Albania 
has worked for the implementation of the EU Directive 2015/2366 
“On payment services in the internal market”. The implementation of 
this directive in practice is assessed to considerably contribute to the 
improvement of safety and efficiency of payment services through the 
promotion of competitiveness, increase of transparency and the clear 
definition of rights and obligations to both payment service providers and 
users. Also, the directive provides the conditions for properly addressing 
the risks arising from the implementation of technology novelties (Fin-
Tech) in the payment services. Currently, the Bank of Albania is finalising 
this draft-law. Nevertheless, by considering the broad effect of this draft-
law, consultation with the market actors assumes special importance. 

-	 Finally , the regulatory framework for the organisation and functioning of 
the NPSC is reviewed, in the light of expanding the participation in the 
NPSC with representatives from payment and transfer services, electronic 
money institutions and operators of settlement and clearing systems. This 
review has taken into account the World Bank recommendations for the 
implementation of the best international practices. 

Performance of AIPS and AECH systems

Albanian Interbank Payment System for large-value payments (AIPS) 

In compliance with the objectives of the Bank of Albania, AIPS, the core structure 
for the settlement of financial markets, reflected safety and efficiency in 2017, 
preventing incidents and deviations from operating rules. In AIPS, 125,641 
transactions were processed, and the total value of the liquidity circulated in the 
system was ALL 8,472 billion. Compared with the previous year, the volume 
and value of processed transactions increased by 3% and 10%, respectively. 
Also, the value of transactions processed in AIPS as a ratio to GDP trended 

Chart 36 AIPS transactions by number and value (left), value of 
transactions in AIPS to GDP (in %)

Source: Bank of Albania
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upward, showing an increasing use of the system and the importance of this 
system to the Albanian economy. 

“Payments for clients” have the highest share in using AIPS in terms of volume34” 
(53.46% payments generated from individuals, enterprises and public 
institutions) showing the importance of the system in the economic activity 
intermediation. On the other hand, in terms of value, “Settlements in AFISAR” 
have the main share (40.35%) for the settlement of securities transactions, thus 
showing the importance of the system for the settlement of financial markets and 
the implementation of the monetary policy. 

A well-functioning AIPS contributes to the development financial markets, by 
accommodating the settlement needs of auxiliary structures based on the 
regulatory spaces for the functioning of the system. In addition, private and 
public initiatives may employ these spaces to guarantee a rather safe settlement 
in the books of the Bank of Albania. 

Regarding the addressing of risks, the growth of AIPS activity is not accompanied 
with needs for liquidity support by the Bank of Albania. In more concrete terms, 
the Intraday Loan Facility (ILF) has decreased in terms of both number and value 
(by 22% and 26%, respectively), also reflecting a decrease of the average value 
per transaction. The above-stated development reflects a fall of the exposure of 
the system to liquidity risk as shown in the Chart 37, where the ILF ratio to the 
value added in AIPS (ALL billion) fell considerably in 2017. 

The downward trend of the need to finance the AIPS 
activity with ILF, beyond the liquidity conditions in the 
market, dictates a new way for using this instrument 
and the collateral management to guarantee it 
through the AFISAR system. 

Albanian Electronic Clearing House 
for small-value payments (AECH)

In 2017, the volume of cleared payments in AECH 
was 553,433 transactions, with an average value 
per transaction around ALL 180,000. Compared 
with the previous year, the activity of the AECH 
system increased in both volume and value of cleared 
payments, by 9% and 8.5%, respectively.

The allocation of payments by participants shows 
that the use of AECH by banks, for the payments of their customers, continued 
to increase. In more concrete terms, regarding the banking activity, both 

34	 The encouragement of the economic stakeholders to use AIPS after the measures taken by the 
Bank of Albania in 2011 regarding the commissions applied on the final user. 

Chart 37 Intraday Loan Facility (ILF) to total 
AIPS in ALL billion 

Source: Bank of Albania
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the number and value of transactions increased by 16.12% and 13.85%, 
respectively, compared with 2016, reaching a level of using this system for 
this purpose at 60% against the total activity (40% transactions for the Ministry 
of Finance). The upward trend in the number of transactions from banks shows 
the familiarity of the public with payment instruments and their use at interbank 
level, as well as the transmission of the measures taken by the Bank of Albania 
in 2011 regarding the commissions applied by banks on the final users. 

The Bank of Albania, by assessing the contribution of AECH system to 
encouraging the use of payment instruments, has continued the efforts to 
promote the expansion of the instruments cleared in the system and the actors 
who clear payments through this system. The approval and in following the 
implementation of the Draft-Law “On Payment services” is assessed to have 
provided a considerable support in this regard.

Also, in terms of risks, the distribution of transactions cleared in AECH system 
by sessions shows a higher concentration in the first clearing session. This 
development avoids the overload in the payment flows in the last clearing 
session by minimising the risks from these overloads. 

Payment instruments

The promotion of the use of payment instruments for transactions among 
economic actors, and mainly in electronic form, which appear more efficient, 
is rather important to the Albanian economy, when considering the fact that 
the use of cash in the economy has a cost of around 1.7 % of GDP35 for the 
Albanian economy. In this framework, market developments are continuously 
monitored by the Bank of Albania, with the aim to promote the development 

35	 The assessment is concluded in the research of the Bank of Albania in collaboration with the 
World Bank. 

Chart 38 Number of AECH transactions in years; ratio of 
transactions processed in AECH to population over 15 years old* 

* It implies that 23.5 % of population above 15 years old carries out an interbank transaction in a year 
via AECH. This  gure becomes more meaningful if considering the fact that in Albania around 40% of 

population (Findex assessment 2014, World Bank) has a bank account to carry out interbank 
payments.

Source: Bank of Albania
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through both the regulatory framework and the infrastructure in compliance with 
the medium-term objective to ensure a safe and fast circulation of the currency 
in the economy at minimum costs. 

Banks’ reporting on payment instruments show that around 13.3 million payment 
transactions by households and enterprises were made in 2017, totalling ALL 
4,665 billion. This development shows an increase in the value and number 
of payment transactions through the payment instruments, 11.18% and 3.41%, 
respectively, compared with 2016. 

From the total number of clients’ payments, during this period, a high use of 
credit transfer is employed (at 61.33%), of which 72.2% are payments in 
paper form. However, in the last years, we have noted an upward trend in the 
use of electronic payments, such as non-paper credit transfers (home banking) 
and card payments. 

Home Banking

“Home banking36” services have been increasingly used in the Albanian 
market. The promotion to use this instrument in the Albanian market, as one of 
the highest efficient instruments in terms of effective productivity and the costs 
borne from the use, based on the studies of the Bank of Albania on the payment 
instruments costs, is quite important. 

At the end of 2017, of the 16 banks of the system, 14 were offering different 
home banking products. The establishment of adequate conditions by the supply 
side (banks) is reflected in an upward trend in the use of these services. In 
more concrete terms, in 2017, we observed that the volume of home banking 
36	 These products provide remote access to the bank account, via on-line, telephone or software 

that the bank makes available to its clients.

Chart 39.	 Volume of payment instruments in years-number (left) and use of payment 
instruments by households and enterprises during 2017 (right) 

Chart 39 Volume of payment instruments in years-number (left) and 
use of payment instruments by households and enterprises during 

2017 (right) 

Source: Bank of Albania
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payments increased significantly a by 26.32% of 
and of the value of the transactions by 60.11%, 
compared with the previous year. 

The increasingly upward trend of home banking is 
closely connected to the presence of infrastructure 
and the expansion of possibilities to access internet 
through a smartphone. Also, the policies of banks, 
in the framework of promoting these payment 
alternatives, was assessed to have provided a 
positive role, reflected in the increase of the remotely 
accessible accounts, from 1% in 2008, to around 
11% in 2017 to the total accounts. 

Nevertheless, the expansion of the accounts’ number 
is not followed by an increase in the transactions 
per account. This development shows the need 

of customers to become familiar with the service, implying the spaces for 
intervention in the framework of public financial education and the awareness-
raising campaigns in this regard. 

Bank cards 

As at the end of 2017, fourteen banks were licenced as card issuers in the 
Republic of Albania, of which nine were also licenced as card accepters. 

In terms of infrastructure provided by banks licenced as card issuers and those 
licensed as card accepters, at the end of 2017, the number of POS terminals 
increased by 2.57%, while the number of ATMs decreased by 6.63% compared 
with 2016. Notwithstanding the positive upward trend in the number of POS 
terminals, their concentration continues to be high in the region of Tirana,37 
85.95%. Also, the number of POS terminals per 1.000.000 citizens was 
2,541, the lowest level compared with the regional countries, followed by 
Kosovo, 5,982 POS terminals per 1.000.000 citizens. 

Terminals for the use of electronic money cards recorded very positive 
developments. They showed an upward pace at 104.56% compared with 
the end of 2016. Nevertheless, it should be highlighted that the above-stated 
growth reflects also the statistical effect of the low comparative base. The 
encouragement to use of the electronic money instruments is assessed to have 
affected the financial inclusion of the population, by providing access to bank 
services (opening an electronic money account and owning a pre-paid card) 
by categories of population who may not access other services, for example 
they do not take a wage. 

37	 Regions are divided according to the branches of the Bank of Albania. 

Chart 40 Trend of remotely accessible accounts 
against total accounts and trend of remotely 

accessible accounts utilisation ratio*

*The utilisation ratio shows how much on average an account is 
used on-line to carry out transactions.

Source: Bank of Albania
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In 2017, the issue of debit and credit cards increased by 4.9% and 12.1%, 
respectively. Also, the functioning in the market of e-money cards showed a fast 
increasing pace. 

The use of bank cards in ATM and POS terminals shows that cash withdrawals 
from ATM terminals have the main share in transactions with cards, an indicator 
of a largely cash-based economy. In 2017, the number and value of card 
payments in physical and virtual POSs decreased by 7.8 % and 24.9%, 
respectively. In relative terms, payments carried out with prepaid cards reached 
up to 8.37% of the payments with debit and credit cards, up 18.47% from the 
previous year. 

The low use of cards as a payment instrument shows the familiarity level of the 
public, the low level of financial education, and the limited infrastructure of 
POS terminals offered from enterprises. 
Cash transactions 

Regarding cash transactions conducted by customers at banks’ cash desks, in 
2017, their number decreased compared with the previous year. This year has 
registered a slight decrease of cash desk transactions by 5.48% in terms of 
number and a slight increase by 0.82% in terms of value, compared with the 
previous year. 

Chart 41 Developments in ATM and POS terminals left); developments 
in debit and credit cards (right)

Source: Bank of Albania
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Table 6. Number and value of cash transactions at banks’ cash desks

Description
Year 2016 Year 2017 Annual change

Number Value
(in ALL mln) Number Value

(in ALL mln) Number Value

Transactions at cash desks 11,388,857 2,572,650 10,765,198 2,593,771 -5,48% 0,82%
1.	Deposits at cash desks 7,645,500 1,577,539 7,175,011 1,608,616 -6,15% 1,97%
2.	Withdrawals at cash desks 3,743,357 995,111 3,590,187 985,155 -4,09% -1,00%

Source: Reports submitted by banks according to the “Methodology for reporting payment 
instruments”. 

Notwithstanding the decrease in using cash, from the perspective of withdrawals 
and deposits at banks’ cash desks, the use of cash in the Albanian economy in 
2017 is dominant38 and has high costs for the various actors and the overall 
economy. Hence, the coordination of efforts at market level to promote the use 
of efficient instruments at lower costs is of special importance and one of the 
priorities of the Bank of Albania. 

38	 A joint study of the Bank of Albania and the World Bank shows that 99.2% of all payments 
are accepted in cash by the interviewed enterprises, while they have carried out 66% of 
payments also in cash. Also, Albanian consumers show a high use of cash (96% of the 
conducted payments are in cash, meanwhile the payments taken from third parties, 90% are 
in cash). 
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2.8 Foreign exchange reserve management

The Bank of Albania is the national authority responsible for maintaining and 
managing the foreign exchange reserve of the Republic of Albania. It uses its 
best opportunities to achieve and maintain a certain level of foreign exchange 
reserve, which supports Albania’s financial stability, and is in accordance 
with the monetary policy. 

The new Regulation “On the policy and management of the foreign exchange 
reserve”, approved by the Supervisory Council in February 2017, lays down 
the purposes of maintaining the foreign exchange reserve. In compliance with 
the international practices, the purposes for maintaining the foreign exchange 
reserve, in addition to the implementation and support to the monetary policy, 
include safeguarding financial stability. The objectives 
of the foreign exchange reserve management are 
subject to the approval by the Supervisory Council. 
The primary objectives of this process are liquidity 
and security, whereas ensuring returns from reserve 
funds management represents the third objective, as 
long as it does not infringe the objective for liquidity 
and security. The Investment Committee approves 
the names of entities where foreign reserves may be 
invested. These names include the governments of 
USA, Japan, Great Britain and those in the euro area, 
as well as government-related agencies or institutions 
that are generally rated at least AA- (for euro area 
governments, the accepted minimum rate is BBB-39). 
The names of entities allowed for investment also 
include multilateral institutions or other institutions 
rated at least AA-. 

Composition of foreign reserve portfolio by currency 

At the end of December 2017, the composition of the foreign reserve by 
currency was: 
Usd Eur Gbp Jpy Aud Sdr Gold Rmb
22.0% 63.4% 2.6% 2.2% 1.5% 5.7% 1.8% 08%

39	  Entities/ instruments rated up to BBB- are included in "Investment" category (investment grade). 

Chart 42 FX reserve performance at the 
Bank of Albania (in EUR million)

At the end of December 2017, the stock of foreign exchange 
reserve was EUR 2,994.28 million, including the monetary gold, 

amounting EUR 54.88 million, 1.8% of total.
Source: Bank of Albania

 1,400,000.00
 1,600,000.00
 1,800,000.00
 2,000,000.00
 2,200,000.00
 2,400,000.00
 2,600,000.00
 2,800,000.00
 3,000,000.00
 3,200,000.00

12/
30/

2011
04/

30/
2012

08/
31/

2012
12/

31/
2012

04/
30/

2013
08/

30/
2013

12/
31/

2013
04/

30/
2014

08/
29/

2014
12/

31/
2014

04/
30/

2015
08/

31/
2015

12/
31/

2015
04/

29/
2016

08/
31/

2016
12/

30/
2016

04/
30/

2017
08/

31/
2017

12/
31/

2017

Gross res.



Annual Report, 2017

96Bank of Albania

The exposure in AUD (Australian dollar) and RMB 
(Chinese renminbi) shows the decision of the 
Supervisory Council to invest part of the reserve 
according to the SDR basket, but the share of the 
RMB, as part of the SDR basket, is distributed onto 
two currencies, the Chinese currency (RMB) and 
Australian dollar (AUD), according to a ratio that 
is subject to the Investment Committee’s revision/
approval. 

Reserve portfolio by maturity term

At the end of 2017, the foreign exchange reserve 
managed by the Monetary Operations Department 
is invested into liquid assets, mainly with maturities 
of 0-3 years. The share of time debt instruments 
with maturity over 5 years does not exceed 1.7% of 
the reserve portfolio. The portfolio managed by the 
external manager (World Bank), is invested against 
a benchmark portfolio of 0-3 years, mainly in debt 
instruments issued by the government.

Reserve portfolio by rating and type of 
issuer

More than 90% of the foreign reserves portfolio is 
invested in institutions of high quality ratings (classes 
AAA and AA). The reserve is mostly invested in debt 
instruments issued by governments / central banks 
(79%), followed by multiparty institutions (8%), banks 

Chart 43. Share of reserve currencies 

Source: Bank of Albania
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Chart 44. Reserve by instrument maturity 
(2017)

Source: Bank of Albania
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Chart 45. Rating of investment instruments and type of issuer

Source: Bank of Albania
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/ other financial institutions (6%), agencies (5%), government-guaranteed 
institutions (1%) and government authorities /public bodies (1%).
	

Return on the investment of reserve portfolio

The absolute return of reserve in total (excluding the part of the reserve in gold, 
and the fund managed by the World Bank as external administrator), was 
around -0.029% in 2017, compared with 0.24% 
in the previous year. The fall in return reflects the 
challenging international environment, where the 
interest rates on debt issues in EUR, the main currency 
of the foreign reserve, are at negative levels, due to 
the monetary policy implemented by the European 
Central Bank (ECB deposit rate continues to be 
-0.40%). In 2017, the interest rates on treasury issues 
in euro area continued to be at a negative territory. 
Hence, the investment possibilities with a positive 
return rate, but by maintaining the accepted credit 
risk, for the part of portfolio in euro reduced further 
compared with the previous year. As at end 2017, 
around 93% of investments in securities in the euro 
dominated portfolio have a negative interest rate that 
varies from -0.3 basis point to -85 basis point. 

Chart 46 Return of foreign reserve in years

*Both the exchange rate and the return form monetary gold are 
excluded in the calculation of the return.

Source: Bank of Albania
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Box 9  Impact of external environment in the investment of 
foreign exchange reserve

Year 2017 was characterised by an improvement 
in the global sentiment on real economic growth 
almost across all economies, in whose currencies the 
international reserve portfolio is held. The economic 
growth in USA and in Europe was particularly 
sound, driving the respective central banks to react 
by increasing the interest rates (Federal Reserve), or 
reducing the monetary stimulus (European Central 
Bank). Globally, the treasury yield curve, particularly 
the US yield curve flattened as at end 2017 (or 
maintained their historic average levels without sloping 
as in the euro area), by expressing the increase in 
interest rates as a result of optimism, mainly in the part 
below three years of the curve. 

The absolute return on foreign reserve at low levels 
reflects the continuation of an environment with still low 
interest rates, in the main currencies/ markets where 
the foreign reserve portfolio is invested. 

Chart 47 Two-year rate on government issues, 
with considerable share in the reserve portfolio 

Source: Bloomberg
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The contribution to the return on investments from the euro, which shares higher 
than 60% of reserve portfolio, was negative by reflecting the negative interest 
rates in the euro area. 

Table 7 The interest rates on government’s issues in euro area at the end 
of 2017 (in %).

 
Maturimi 1 muaj 3 muaj 6 muaj 1 vit 2 vjet 3 vjet 4 vjet 5 vjet 6 vjet
Gjermani (1.34) (0.85) (0.77) (0.70) (0.64) (0.55) (0.39) (0.20) (0.10)
Hollandë - (0.89) (0.82) (0.81) (0.71) (0.56) (0.42) (0.29) (0.06)
Finlandë - - - (0.76) (0.68) (0.49) (0.36) (0.17) 0.00 
Austri - - - (0.67) (0.57) (0.49) (0.39) (0.15) (0.02)
Belgjikë - (0.84) (0.74) (0.64) (0.55) (0.46) (0.35) (0.17) 0.04 
Francë (1.10) (0.79) (0.73) (0.65) (0.49) (0.31) (0.15) (0.01) 0.11 
Irlandë - - - (0.69) (0.57) (0.50) (0.17) (0.02) 0.04 
Slloveni - - - (0.49) (0.49) (0.28) - (0.22) -
Spanjë - (0.60) (0.54) (0.54) (0.42) (0.04) 0.03 0.34 0.58 
Itali - (0.65) (0.46) - (0.46) (0.28) 0.02 0.30 0.71 

Burimi: Bloomberg.

Meanwhile, the contribution to the return from the US 
dollar and other currencies of the reserve was positive, 
due to the higher base of the average interest rates in 
these currencies over 2017. 

The return generated from the active management of the 
reserve portfolio over 2017 was positive. By currency, 
the euro had the highest share of the contribution to 
this return. The same situation was reflected on the 
non-euro currencies, where the relative return was high, 
but at a lower contribution to the total, due to their low 
share in the reserve. 

Chart 48 shows the performance of markets in the two 
main currencies in which the foreign reserve is invested, 
EUR and USD. 

Chart 48 Return of portfolios in treasury 
issues rated AAA - AA, the average duration 

around 1.7 years.

Source: Indices published by Bof AML. 
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Other developments related to the foreign reserve 
management function 

Cooperation with the World Bank in the framework of Reserves Advisory 
Management Program (RAMP) continued in 2017. The World Bank continued 
to provide specialised training and educational programs, such as CFA 
(Chartered Financial Analyst), PRM (Professional Risk Manager) and ACCA 
(Association of Chartered Certified Accountants). These qualifications aimed 



Annual Report, 2017

99 Bank of Albania

years Bank of Albania

at the further consolidation and increase of expertise level of the employees 
engaged in the process of foreign reserve management, the staff that supports 
or monitors the performance of this process and of the Bank’s staff in general. 
In 2017, the training of Investment Committee members began, to obtain more 
experience regarding the responsibility and tasks realised by this decision-
making structure in the context of the foreign reserve management. 

The regulatory framework for the development of foreign reserve management 
was amended in December 2017 regarding the investment policy of foreign 
reserve with the purpose the regulation of the investment into a new instrument 
class - the covered bonds. This instrument represents a standard investment 
alternative to the central banks. In the approving process of this instrument, 
special attention was paid on the accepted credit risk level. The legal risk 
management was important during the investment in this instrument class; hence, 
the Bank of Albania was driven and assisted by the Bundesbank in this regard. 
The continued communication between our institutions will provide updated 
information, and the Bank of Albania will base it work on this information 
to establish a rather complete monitoring framework during the realisation of 
investments in the covered bonds. 

In September 2017, the Supervisory Council adopted the amended Regulation 
“On the functions of the management structures in the decision-making process 
on the foreign currency reserve management”. In the framework of the complete 
revision of this Regulation, its new content reflects: the competencies of the 
Governor in the framework of fulfilling the function of foreign reserve management; 
the supplementing of the competencies of each decision-making unit engaged 
in fulfilling the foreign currency reserve management function, including the 
competencies of the Head of the Monetary Operations Department. 

Box 10: flows affecting foreign exchange reserve in 2017
	
Gross foreign exchange reserve, estimated and reported in euro, grew around 
EUR 50.15 million, in 2017, standing at EUR 2,994.28 million, as at end-
December. Year 2017 is characterised by a high fluctuation of excess reserves 
of commercial banks at the Bank of Albania. There was a significant increase in 
the stock of gross reserves, during the end of December, as a result of shifting of 
liquidity in currency of commercial banks by non-residents in the form of excess 
reserves at the Bank of Albania. 

A. Transactions with the Ministry of Finance provided a positive impact, estimated 
at EUR 48.47 million, according to the following items:

•	 Net inflows from extension of various loans, at EUR 346.83 million;
o	I nternational Monetary Fund (IMF), at EUR 73.60 million;
o	I nternational Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) etc., at 

EUR 273.23 million;
•	 Inflows from the issue of foreign currency debt, at EUR 79.06 million; 
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•	 Transfers (including debt service), at EUR 377.42 million.

B. Commercial banks and other entities’ transactions provided a positive impact, 
at EUR 28.72 million, according to the following items:
•	 Commercial banks’ deposits at the Bank of Albania to comply with the 

required reserve and transactions related to their capital, etc., at EUR 
1,459.29 million;

•	 Transfers, at EUR 1,430.67 million;
•	 Net inflows for the account of other entities (DIA, etc.), at EUR 0.10 

million.

C. Bank of Albania’s transactions provided a positive impact, estimated at EUR 
106.33 million, according to the following items:
•	 Purchasing foreign currency from Ministry of Finance and Economy and 

other institutions, at EUR 72.89 million:
o	F rom commercial banks, at EUR 71.19 million;
o	F rom other institutions, at EUR 0.92 million
o	F rom the Ministry of Finance and Economy, at EUR 0.78 million;
•	 Receipts from interests, coupons, etc. (calculated on cash basis) generated 

from foreign-exchange reserve investments, estimated around EUR 38.88 
million.

•	 Settlement of the Bank of Albania’s dues to the IMF is estimated at EUR 
2.49 million, 

•	 Transfers, around EUR 2.95 million;

D. Market factors provided a negative impact, estimated at EUR 133.38 million, 
according to the following items:
•	 Foreign-exchange rate volatility of currencies composing the foreign-

exchange reserve contributed positively to the gross reserve reported in 
EUR, registering an effect of about EUR 98.58 million.

•	 The portfolio revaluation effect, as a result of interest rate volatility, is 
estimated at a negative value of EUR 34.80 million13.
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2.9 Statistics

Pursuant to the provisions of the Law “On the Bank of Albania”, the Official 
Statistics Program and the Law on Official Statistics, the statistics of the Bank 
of Albania aim at compiling impartial, objective and reliable statistics in 
compliance with the legal objectives of the Bank of Albania as the central 
bank of the Republic of Albania and a statistical agency within the National 
Statistical System.

The Bank of Albania uses and compiles statistics relating to financial markets, 
financial institutions, financial infrastructure and balance of payments. In this 
context, the development of monetary and financial statistics and the external 
sector of the economy is a fundamental responsibility of the Bank of Albania 
and contributes to the decision-making on the monetary policy and financial 
stability. At the same time, the Bank of Albania carries out statistical functions 
serving the public as a national statistical agency, an important source of 
statistics to the Albanian and foreign public.

The Bank of Albania also complies with the reporting obligations to international 
institutions, the IMF, World Bank, Eurostat and the ECB, within the framework 
of the European integration process of Albania. The Bank of Albania is a 
member of the General Data Dissemination System (e-GDDS) and other systems 
ran by the IMF.

In view of the strategic vision, the Bank of Albania has intensified its work on 
(i) methodological approximation of statistics with international standards and 
their alignment the acquis communautaire, (ii) expanding and detailing public 
statistical products, bearing in mind the reporting burden, as well as a faster 
and easier access of external users to the data and (iii) increasing the quality 
and integrity of the Bank of Albania statistics. 

Approximation of methodologies with international 
standards

The Bank of Albania intensified its work for aligning the methodology of 
statistics with the international standards and their harmonization with the 
acquis communautaire. Concrete efforts are undertaken to collect and create 
new indicators, and to improve the data processing system. 

In the field of monetary and financial statistics, in the framework of alignment 
with international drafting/compilation standards (ECB, IMF), and in line with 
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the recommendations of the ECB’s experts report, progress has been made in 
the following directions:

•	 The Regulation “On Bank of Albania reporting on interest rate statistics”, 
which fully approximates the EU Regulation No. 1072/2013 of the 
ECB, dated 24.9.2013 (ECB / 2013/33).

Statistics on the interest rate are the basis for analysing the monetary transmission 
mechanism. They also provide for monitoring structural developments in the 
banking and financial system as well as the analysis of financial stability aspects, 
such as the interest rate spread of banks and changes in bak profitability. 
This statistic further enhances our expertise on the analysis of the monetary 
transmission mechanism and will be offered to the users and the public by the 
end of 2018, after the completion of the series.

•	 The methodological approach and the compilation of financial 
soundness indicators (FSI) have been realized, in line with the standard40 
and, at the same time, the first FSI publication on the Albanian page at 
the IMF (http://fsi.imf.org). 

Since November 2017, this statistic has been offered to 
the users in a time series starting from December 2010.  
FSIs include aggregated information on financial institutions as well as respective 
market indicators.
 
They are widely used in the definition of national standards on risk assessment, 
are the source of information for the compilation of financial stability indicators, 
and represent major quantitative references for the reporting of national, 
regional and global financial stability. 

• 	 The methodology is consolidated and, for the second consecutive year, 
the statistical book of financial accounts - flow of funds for Albania 
is fully drafted, in accordance with the most recent standard for the 
compilation of financial accounts - European Accounting System, ESA 
2010. 

Financial accounts are an important source of information for monetary policy 
and financial stability analyses. Regarding monetary policy, it is important to 
understand the flow of funds and instruments, whereas for financial stability it is 
important to understand the degree of exposure among the sectors.
 
The drafting of this statistical book has received positive assessment by the IMF 
Technical Assistance Mission), which suggested the publication of this statistic.
 
In the medium term, we will work to extend the time series, a necessity and a 

40	 FSI Design Methodical Guide (IMF 2006).
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requirement deriving from the obligations under the calculation and reporting 
of the MIP (Macroeconomic Imbalances Procedure)41.

•	 In December, for the first time, the Bank of Albania published statistics of 
the financial account of the financial corporates since December 2012, 
in annual and detailed periodicity by sub-sectors. Also, on the official 
page of the Bank of Albania, a list of institutional units classified under 
the financial sector was published, according to ESA 2010. 

The compilation of the list of institutional units classified in the financial sector 
is an important aspect for the qualitative compilation of monetary statistics and 
financial accounts. The institution classification process is also discussed in the 
inter-institutional working group (BoA, INSTAT and MFE) as well as with foreign 
experts from EUROSTAT and the IMF.
 
 The publication and updating of the list is an obligation of the Bank of Albania. 
	

•	 In the framework of full coverage of monetary statistics for the 
financial sector, for the first time, the monetary conditions of other 
financial corporations was compiled in accordance with international 
standards.42. 

At the end of October, data were successfully transmitted to the Bank of Albania 
website at the IMF providing users with comprehensive information related 
to the financial sector’s monetary and financial statistics. These statistics are 
provided on a quarterly basis and will be published at the Bank of Albania’s 
official website in March 2018.

•	 Work on the calculation of statistics under the EDP, in accordance 
with methodological standards and best international practices, has 
continued. 

The Excessive Deficit Procedure represents an important statistical book for 
monitoring public finances soundness in member and candidate countries in 
terms of compliance with the two criteria of Maastricht. The IMF and SECO-
funded regional project (2016-2019) has been supporting the inter-institutional 
EDP working group for more than a year and has given a positive contribution 
to the reconciliation of government data compiled by three institutions. Inter-
Institutional Responsibilities for Drafting the Excessive Deficit Procedure Tables 
have been agreed upon in the Memorandum of Understanding43. The Ministry 
of Finance and Economy is the main institution for the data source. INSTAT has 
the obligation to draft the methodology and data of non-financial indicators; 
41	 For Albania, the completion of MIP is a project supported by the ECB and Eurostat and 

coordinated by the Bank of Albania. The most numerous indicators in it are those that the 
BoA drafts, and should be reported in a 10-year timeframe.

42	 SNA 2008 / ESA 2010, MFSMCG IMF 2016.
43	 Signed between the Bank of Albania, INSTAT and the Ministry of Finance (currently the Ministry 

of Finance and Economy), dated 03.10.2016.
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meanwhile, the Bank of Albania has the obligation to draft the methodology 
and data for the financial indicators. 

•	 In February, the International Reserves and Foreign Currency Liquidity 
Module was published for the first time.

The liquidity module has been designed by the IMF after the global financial 
crisis, together with the FSI and external debt statistics, and represents an 
important statistical product for the financial soundness of economies. This 
statistic is monthly reported to the IMF, and is offered to the public on a time 
series from January 2014. 

•	 In accordance with the recommendations given by the IMF’s Technical 
Assistance Mission for external sector statistics, the following indicators 
have been drafted and submitted to the IMF:

- 	 Full set of “Co-ordinated Portfolio Investment Survey (CPIS)”, together 
with the relevant methodology; 

- 	 International Investment Position by Currency; 
- 	 Co-ordinated Direct Investment Survey (CDIS), outword.

•	 The International Transaction Reporting System (ITRS) was finalized. 

ITRS enables the expansion of the information base for the compilation of 
statistics payments statements and the increase of the level of detailing. This 
reporting is necessary in order to meet the criteria (reporting requirements for 
the integration) on the geographic breakdown, division by institutional sectors, 
frequency of compilation for statistics, and publication and dissemination of 
statistics.

Modern statistics cannot be perceived without the powerful support of the IT, 
regarding their collection, compilation and dissemination. 

Regarding the achievement of international standards related to the reporting, 
storage and data control infrastructure, during 2017, in the electronic regulator 
reporting system (ERRS) are included: (i) non-bank financial reporting entities; 
(ii) Savings and loan associations; (iii) consolidated supervision package 
for financial groups. Also, full reporting in the framework of payment system 
oversight and those of the issue function at the Bank of Albania are included. 

Also, during 2017, the Bank of Albania initiated the project “Automation of the 
compilation and dissemination of external sector statistics”. The automation of 
the compilation and dissemination system of external sector statistics constitutes 
the creation of an important foundation for the statistical book produced by the 
Bank of Albania, building a solid architecture for the further development of 
other statistical books.
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enhancing the quality and integrity of statistics 

In March, the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania approved the “Code 
of Practices for Statistics at the Bank of Albania”. The seven principles of the 
Code summarize the Bank’s objectives in seven aspects of its practice in the 
field of statistics. They relate to the importance, integrity, quality, access to the 
statistical product (availability), confidentiality, burden/obligation of reporting, 
and cost effectiveness. 

The document was drawn up in accordance with the Fundamental Principles of 
Official Statistics and the United Nations Statistical Commission, as well as the 
principles set out in the European Statistics Code of Practice. It is similar to the 
IMF Data Quality Assessment Framework, and in compliance with the principles 
of transparency, the Bank of Albania objectives and the direction of its long-
term strategic development. In addition, the drafting of this document meets the 
Eurostat’s recommendations in the LPR questionnaire44 (The Light Peer Review of 
the Implementation of the European Statistics Code of Practice in the Republic 
of Albania). The Code seeks to guarantee the integrity of the statistical process 
at the Bank of Albania. Its existence further improves the public confidence in 
the information corroborating decision-making on monetary policy and other 
economic policies. 

For the first time in 2017, the Bank of Albania published the “Policy and 
Calendar of the Bank of Albania Review of Statistics”. The review is an 
important aspect of good governance in the field of statistics, as well as the 
basic requirement / component of the data quality standard. The publication 
of the review policy provides full transparency to users regarding the review of 
published statistics. 

Since June 2017, Albania implements the IMF’s Enhanced General Data 
Dissemination System (e-GDDS45) and has been committed to meeting a number 
of strict requirements for the production, dissemination, and documentation of 
statistical data. 

The Enhanced General Data Dissemination System was approved by the IMF 
Executive Board in May 2015. The National Data Summary Page, which 
is presented on the official INSTAT website, contains links to the published 
statistics from official statistics producers, namely those of the Bank of Albania, 
the Institute of Statistics and the Ministry of Finance and Economy. This site aims 
to serve as a general publication centre for key macroeconomic statistics. 

Reliable, timely and internationally comparable statistics serve as a guideline 
for increasingly globalized and complex economic activities. Adherence to 

44	  LPRs are part of the European Statistical System (ESS) strategy for the implementation of the 
Code of Practice. Their objective is to increase the integrity, independence and accountability 
of statistical authorities, which are part of the statistical system. 

45	E nhanced General Data Dissemination System e-GDDS.
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e-GDDS testifies for a higher level of development and transparency of the 
Albanian national statistical system and contributes, above all, to ensuring that 
Albania is a right place for doing business and making financial investments. 

Without the user’s confidence, statistics cannot fulfil its role as a public good. 
Measures taken by the Bank of Albania in the governance of statistics at the 
Bank of Albania, coupled with the contribution to the draft law on “Official 
Statistics”, help to further strengthen the reliability of the statistical product of the 
Bank of Albania.

Cooperation at institutional level 

Following the signing of the Memorandum of Cooperation with INSTAT and 
the Ministry of Finance and Economy in September 2016, these institutions 
have cooperated in several aspects, most importantly the establishment of two 
inter-institutional working groups, respectively focusing on (i) national accounts, 
monetary and balance of payments statistics and (ii) excessive deficit procedure 
and government financial accounts. 

The establishment and functioning of the working groups has led to an adequate 
exchange of statistical data collected / drafted by relevant institutions, as 
well as a better methodological harmonization between the three statistical 
agencies. 

With INSTAT, the Bank has worked for drafting the Macroeconomic Imbalance 
Procedure (MIP). The MIP is a system for monitoring economic policies and 
detecting potential harms, early on, to the proper functioning of the economy 
of a Member State or the European Union as a whole. The MIP is part of the 
six legislative proposals on economic governance adopted by the Parliament 
and the European Council in November 2011, and as such it is part of the 
EU acquis to be adapted by candidate countries before the date of accession. 
In November 2017, the new Activity under MIP “Sources of Data for the 
Calculation of the MIP Indicators” (PP7.1) was initiated. This activity will be 
coordinated by the Bank of Albania. 

Also, in the framework of inter-institutional cooperation in the field of statistics, 
in 2017, the Bank of Albania actively participated in the initiative for drafting 
the Law on Official Statistics. 

During 2017, cooperation with AFSA was strengthened to provide statistical 
information on the non-bank financial system under AFSA’s jurisdiction. The 
benefits that will result from these synergies will be used to eliminate and 
address some gaps in information related to policy decisions and to improve 
deadlines and to coverage with relevant information, while enhancing market 
transparency. 
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In the international aspect, the Bank of Albania continues to maintain fair 
and timely reporting of statistics, in accordance with the methodological 
and transmission standards (platforms) of the IMF, EUROSTAT, ECB. It is 
also receiving technical assistance from these institutions in the framework of 
improving the quality of statistics and their approximation to the international 
standards. 
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2.10 Research

The Bank of Albania aims to base its decision-making process on sound 
foundation of a body of tested knowledge on the Albanian economy. 
Investment in creating solid research capacities contributes to improving 
Bank of Albania’s reputation and credibility as an institution with advanced 
methodologies and the required knowledge for guaranteeing the country’s 
macroeconomic equilibriums. Therefore, the active development of research 
assumes a primary role in the Bank of Albania’s development strategy.

In 2017, research at the Bank of Albania focused mainly on the monetary 
policy objective, issues related to the preservation of financial stability and 
banking supervision, and the interaction between these objectives. In line with 
the mid-term research strategy, research has continued to support the decision-
making process for drafting and implementing Bank of Albania’s policies, 
developing new empirical analysis methodologies and enriching the portfolio 
of econometric models on which decision-making is based. 

In the framework of modelling the economy, as a very important aspect of 
research, two new econometric models have been developed: DSGE and 
BVAR, which reflect the characteristics of the Albanian economy and aim 
to support the monetary policy decision-making process. The DSGE model 
aims to improve the Bank’s macroeconomic discussions and analyses by 
identifying various sources of structural shocks and forecasting and assessing 
key macroeconomic indicators. Meanwhile, the BVAR model, a relatively easy 
to use model and less expensive in maintenance, but efficient in forecasting key 
economic indicators, is intended to serve as a comparative model to assess 
the forecasting performance of the DSGE model or more complex models of 
the Bank. 

In the area of financial stability, empirical estimates show that banks’ behaviour 
towards increased competition has been essential to boosting banks’ stability 
after the financial crisis. This correlation has been stronger in the case of 
smaller banks. The results also show that the correlation between the banking 
concentration and the stability indicator is negative, meaning that the full-
fledged competition should be the desired market structure to further boost 
banks’ stability, as a weaker bank power to control the market during crisis 
periods can simultaneously bring greater stability in the Albanian banking 
sector. 

The development of the banking system is considered to be important for 
the country’s economic development, both in the long and in the short term. 
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However, it is noticed that bank crediting has not been very efficient and is 
fragmented, focused only on some sectors of the market. Commercial banks 
have pursued relatively cautious lending policies, positively affecting the stability 
of the banking system. On the other hand, empirical estimates suggest that 
mitigating monetary policy of lowering the key interest rate at record levels may 
have adversely affected the profitability of banks, especially of smaller banks. 

Concerning the external sector of the economy, studies find that the establishment 
of the prices of Albanian exports is almost equally influenced by domestic and 
foreign factors. These findings suggest that our exporters, even though only a 
few in the international market, have a certain impact on price negotiation. 
Meanwhile, importers of goods are more sensitive, as the international price 
performance and exchange rate fluctuations affect around 70% of the import 
price performance. 

Studies and research projects with micro data are focused on assessing the 
consumption of Albanian households; assessment of financial and borrowing 
status of microeconomic enterprises; inclusion and access to finance and 
banking products; assessment of salary scale flexibility in Albania; they are 
also engaged in new projects with “large” data, analysis of the “financial 
inclusion” situation, etc. 

Using micro data that cover 17,000 Albanian households from the Living 
Standards Measurement Survey (LSMS) in 2002-2012, estimates show that 
consumption of Albanian households responds positively to changes in income 
and real estate (measured by real value of the real estate they own). However, 
this response is not homogeneous, as the marginal ratio of consumption to 
income and the value of real estate varies depending on the age of the head 
of the family and household fragility. 

The survey conducted on the assessment of the financial and borrowing situation 
of microeconomic enterprises in the agricultural sector states the low level of 
financial inclusion of this sector, which has a significant share in the gross value 
added as well as in the number of employees. According to the respondents, 
access to finance and the cost of providing banking products is ranked as the 
third most concerning problem after unfair competition and finding a market for 
their products. 

Also, during 2017, the Big Data project was initiated, driven by new 
developments in research technologies in other central banks. In cooperation 
with the Bank of Italy, the Research Department undertook the first steps for the 
recognition and evaluation of “large data” analyses, intended to be used at the 
Bank of Albania for the evaluation of certain economic and financial indicators. 

Another important analytical aspect was the attempt to assess the “financial 
inclusion” situation in Albania. FINDEX data analysis shows a relatively low 
level of financial inclusion in Albania. This environment inhibits further financial 
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development, while improving financial inclusion may require a clear and 
comprehensive formal strategy, which should provide co-ordinate resources 
and actions that promote the inclusion of the population in the financial system. 
These and other studies have become the subject of discussion in the activities 
and conferences organized by the Bank of Albania or other institutions, where 
comments and observations have been provided for their further improvement, 
before being put forward for decision making at the Bank of Albania. In this 
context, for the 11th consecutive year, the Bank of Albania organized the South-
Eastern European Economic Research Workshop on 4-5 December 2017.The 
Workshop serves as a tool for presenting and discussing research work among 
researchers, academics and policy-makers to contribute towards deepening 
economic research as well as to expand knowledge on certain features of 
economic development and research methodologies. This year, 25 studies 
were presented by the central banks of the countries of the region, such as 
Italy, Greece, Kosovo and Macedonia, as well as academic institutions such 
as LUISS Guido Carli University in Italy, University of Orléans in France, and 
Rovira of Virgili University in Spain. The important topics were the assessment of 
various aspects of monetary policy, fiscal policy and central banking, financial 
stability assessment, various aspects of international trade and analysis of 
macroeconomic models. 

The Bank of Albania’s official website, under the category “Publications/
Research“, contains more detailed and complete information on all Bank of 
Albania’s research works. Other research works are published in the form of 
articles in the Economic Review of the Bank of Albania. A half yearly magazine 
“The Research Newsletter “, aims at informing about recently completed or 
on-going study papers, materials presented in the “Friday Seminars” or other 
activities organized by the Bank of Albania.

SOME RESEARCH MATERIALS PREPARED throughout THE YEAR 

During 2017, a series of studies and articles were prepared which aimed to 
explore the features of the functioning of the country’s economy and the banking 
system. The results of this research work serve to improve economic and financial 
analysis and to provide a more solid grounding for decision-making. The focus 
of these studies and empirical analysis was on topics regarding the monetary 
policy objective, financial stability and supervision, interaction between these 
objectives, monetary operations, and so on. Below we will briefly present some 
of the scientific materials prepared during 2017. 

Financial Development and Economic Growth - new evidence for Albania
Authors: Gent Sejko, Elona Dushku
The study re-evaluates the long-term relationship between financial development 
and economic growth in Albania over the period 2002-2016, based on the 
vector error correction model (VECM) error vector and the Granger tests. 
Estimates confirm a positive and statistically significant relationship between 
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financial development and long-term growth. This connection is also confirmed in 
the short term. Empirical results show that not only macroeconomic developments 
positively impact banking sector developments but also financial development 
positively impact economic growth, proving the dual cause relationship between 
these two indicators.

Banking stability and competitiveness - evidence from the Albanian banking 
system
Author: Gerti Shijaku
The main purpose of banking prudence regulations to reduce bank risk incentives 
often coincides with the restriction of competition between banks, although many 
theoretical and empirical studies argue that in fact the increase in competition 
leads to lower levels of bank risks. This study analyses the dynamic link between 
competition and Albanian banking stability over the period 2008-2015. The 
results strongly support the view of “competitiveness - stability” after global 
financial crises - that the highest degree of competition improves the stability of 
banks. Greater concentration also has a negative impact on the stability of banks. 

A Model with Autoregressive Vectors for the Albanian Economy 
Authors: Ilir Vika, Meri Papavangjeli 
This project aims to build a relatively simplified model for the Albanian economy, 
which is more driven by data than by the transformations resulting from the 
theoretical views. Such a model is easier to use and less costly in maintenance, 
and would therefore serve as a comparative benchmark with the projections and 
analyses generated by other more complex templates currently used. Preliminary 
evidence provides lasting results. Evaluation according to the Bayesian method 
improves the predictive power of the model with autoregressive vectors, hence 
the ongoing work will focus on the use of this technique. 

Has the global crisis changed the monetary transmission mechanism in Albania? 
An application of the probability density evaluation technique
Authors: Altin Tanku, Kliti Ceca
This study analyses the hypothesis that the relationship between interest rate, 
currency and inflation has changed in the post-crisis period for the case of 
Albania. The paper uses probability density estimation techniques, based on 
Tanku and Ceca (2013), as an alternative method of empirical evaluation. Two-
dimensional inflation, money and interest rates are estimated for two different 
periods: before and after the crisis. 

An estimate of the marginal trend for consumption of income and real property 
for Albanian households
Authors: Elona Dushku, Ola Çami
Using micro data that cover 17,000 Albanian households from the LSMS in 
the period 2002-2012, this study aims to assess the extent to which household 
consumption responds to changes in income and real wealth. Empirical results 
suggest a positive relationship between income and consumption change and 
change in real wealth and consumption. 

Price effects according to the market in Albania: how competitive is the foreign 
sector?
Authors: Ilir Vika, Arlind Rama 
This study examines the effects of price according to the-market in the case 
of Albania and contributes to improving the external sector specification in 
macroeconomic models for the Albanian economy. The analysis focuses on 
Albania’s trade relationship with the Eurozone, where import and export prices 
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of goods are directly explained by two factors: the international environment 
and domestic costs. The econometric results suggest that price-by-market effects 
are important in determining foreign trade prices in the case of Albania. These 
findings, in fact, reject the hypothesis or perception that small economies accept 
market-determined prices without negotiating power. 

Potential output and growth, output and unemployment gap in Albania - 
Comparative Analysis of Recent Estimations- 2015
Authors: Evelina Çeliku, Enian Çela, Iris Metani
This research project aims to re-evaluate the results from the existing and new 
methods applied in the case of Albania for assessing potential output, natural 
unemployment rate and relevant gaps. It explains the dynamics in the Albanian 
economy that have influenced the potential growth and the trend of the natural 
unemployment rate. Estimates support mid-term projections and monetary policy 
decision-making. The material has not been published yet. 

Evaluation of bank credit determinants in Central and South-eastern Europe 
Authors: Sofika Note, Erjona Suljoti
This paper empirically evaluates the factors that have affected banks’ lending 
activity in CESEE before and after the financial crisis. The obtained results 
show that economic growth, credit quality, financial intermediation rate, and 
together with foreign and domestic funding sources are the key determinants of 
credit growth. The credit contraction after the crisis is largely due to the lack of 
willingness to take risks, as well as the lowering of banks’ external financing. 

Euroisation drivers and effective policy response: An application to the case of 
Albania 
Authors: Guido della Valle; Vasilika Kota; Romain M Veyrune; Ezequiel Cabezon; 
Shaoyu Guo 
This material proposes a methodology for drafting de-euroization policies 
based on empirical and theoretical approaches. The material introduces for 
the first time an empirical assessment of the optimum level of euroization. The 
results show that euroization in Albania is above the optimal level, so it needs 
to be dealt with Euroization policies. In the long run, de-euroization requires 
maintaining a low and stable inflation rate under the terms of exchange rate 
flexibility. In the short term, policies addressing the risk of financial stability 
also contribute to de-euroization, making banking intercession in the euro less 
attractive to the public. 

An Alternative to Measure the Clarity of the Monetary Policy Communication at 
the Bank of Albania: 2005-2016 
Author: Evelina Çeliku 
The article explores the clarity of Bank of Albania’s communication on monetary 
policy inflation and decision-making during 2005-2016, using the Flesch-Kincaid 
(FK) grade level indicator. The results show a downward trend of FK, suggesting 
the development of a clearer monetary policy communication over the years. 

Indicators of Early Warning of Systemic Banking Stress in Albania’s Case 
Author: Odeta Koçillari (Minka)
This material is primarily aimed at finding indicators of early warning of systemic 
stress in the Albanian banking sector, which may serve to the decision-making 
for the activation of certain macro prudential policies. The study concludes 
that the private sector credit gap ratio against GDP against its long-term trend, 
shows good warning skills accumulation of banking sector imbalances, which 
may cause future crises. 
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An assessment of the financial cycle for Albania 
Authors: Vasilika Kota and Arisa Goxhaj (Saqe) 
The assessment of the financial cycle and its various phases is important for 
building appropriate macro prudential policies and instruments aimed at 
mitigating systemic risk. This material has the main purpose to assess the financial 
cycle in Albania by creating a synthetic indicator as its potential gauge. The 
results show that the ratio of credit to GDP ratio, housing price index and credit 
growth rate are the best choice in building a synthetic index in measuring the 
financial cycle and that this cycle is positively correlated with periods of financial 
stress, which should be considered in policies that can be implemented.

The impact of low interest rates on the profitability of the banking system
Authors: Adela Bode, Meri Papavangjeli, Besa Vorpsi
The decline of the key interest rate on the part of the Bank of Albania in recent 
years has made it necessary to investigate the impact of monetary policy on the 
profitability of banks. The material analyses the impact of monetary policy on 
net interest income through the investigation of a non-linear relationship between 
the two variables. The results suggest a significant concave link between the key 
interest rate and the net interest margin only for small banks, while for the bigger 
banks, the bond appears poorly. The study was presented at the XI European 
Economic Research Workshop of South Eastern Europe (4-5 December 2017). 

The lower limit of the effective interest rate in euroized economies -the case of 
Albania
Authors: Guido della Valle; Erald Themeli; Romain M Veyrune; Ezequiel Cabezon; 
Shaoyu Guo
This material proposes the creation of a framework for the assessment of the 
lower interest rate in small and euro-denominated economies, based on the 
experience of the Bank of Albania. It introduces a monitoring tool to identify the 
negative consequences of low interest rates. A high preference for banknotes 
encourages economic agents to demand higher deposit rates, raising the lower 
interest rate limit to zero. Financial euro-adoption brings the lower interest rate 
increase due to the higher currency substitution trend. Policies aimed at reducing 
financial euroization contribute to lowering the lowest interest rate limit. 
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2.11 EUROPEAN INTEGRATION AND INTERNATIONAL CO-
OPERATION 

European integration is a national objective. On 24 June 2014, Albania 
received the EU candidate status. On 9 November 2016, the European 
Commission recommended the conditional opening of accession negotiations. 
EC periodical reports have commended the contribution of the Bank of Albania 
towards maintaining macroeconomic stability, financial stability, improving 
supervisory practices and promoting market development and payment 
systems in Albania.

European integration

The Bank of Albania continued to contribute to the fulfilment of the obligations 
deriving from the Stabilization and Association Agreement, the Progress Report 
of the European Commission, participation in joint EU-Albania subcommittees 
and the National Plan for European Integration. It coordinates and prepares 
relevant reports related to Chapter 4, “Free Movement of Capital”, and Chapter 
17 “Economic and Monetary Policy”. On the other hand, it is also contributing 
to six other chapters of the European Union acquis. 

Throughout the year, the Bank of Albania has given its contribution for the timely 
and qualitative preparation of all the relevant documents described above, 
and has been an active member of all joint meetings between Albania and the 
European Commission. 

The document “EU-Western Balkans Strategy: a credible enlargement 
perspective” confirms the will of the European Union for the further enlargement 
of the European family with SEE countries. More concretely, membership 
of these countries is assessed as an important geo-strategic investment for a 
stable, strong and united Europe based on common values. In the absence of 
the Progress Report, the most important document related to the prospects of EU 
accession was introduced by the European Commission in early 2018.

The document commends the progress achieved insofar and states that: “Albania 
is making significant progress on its European path and the Commission is 
ready to prepare recommendations to open accession negotiations, on the 
basis of fulfilled conditions.” 

At the same time, it should be noted that deepening economic reforms is vital for 
rapidly and effectively addressing structural weaknesses, like low competition 
and high unemployment rates. 
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In all joint meetings during 2017, Bank of Albania’s contribution to preserving 
and further consolidating the macroeconomic and financial balances has 
been commended. The monetary policy pursued by the Bank of Albania is 
considered as adequate for the return of inflation to target and supporting the 
recovery of economic activity. 

The Bank of Albania has continued to regularly follow the implementation of 
the Stabilization and Association Agreement as well as the National Plan for 
European Integration. It has participated in the Stabilization and Association 
Committee meetings, as well as in the meetings of the Subcommittee on Internal 
Market and Competition, and economic, financial and statistics issues. 

In the context of foreign technical assistance, the Bank of Albania has continued 
its close cooperation with the representatives of the Directorate-General for 
Neighbourhood and Enlargement Negotiations to benefit under the Technical 
Assistance for and Information Exchange (TAIEX), a short-term assistance 
instrument. This instrument is provided by the European Union to assist candidate 
and potential candidate countries in knowing and approximating the legislation 
and standards with those of the EU.

For 2017, assistance within TAIEX focused mainly on approximation of the 
legislation in the fields of banking supervision, human resources, payment 
systems, document administration and electronic security system. 

International cooperation

Relations with the International Monetary Fund
The Republic of Albania continues to stand in the SDR 139.3 million quotas 
and owns 2,858 votes or 0.06% of the total sum of the votes of all members of 
the IMF. It is in the same constituency with Italy, Greece, Portugal, Malta, and 
San Marino. This constituency has a total of 207,948 votes or around 4.13% 
of the total amount of votes of all members of the IMF. 

In February 2017, the three-year agreement under the Extended Fund Facility 
(EFF) program for Albania aimed at boosting economic growth and controlling 
the rapidly rising public debt that had threatened economic stability. On 24 
February, the Fund completed two final program reviews, which resulted in a 
disbursement of SDR 57.28 million (about EUR 73.2 million), bringing total 
disbursements to SDR 295.42 million (about EUR 377.3 million). 

The completion of the three-year agreement closes an intensive co-operation 
chapter with the IMF. Currently, Albania will have normal monitoring and 
consultation relations with the IMF, like all other countries, in the context of 
discussions on Article IV. The latest consultations ended on 4 December 2017. 
According to the IMF Executive Board’s statement, published on 13 December 
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2017,46 ’’Albania’s economy continues to strengthen, benefitting from rising 
domestic demand, large energy-related FDI, and a recovery in key EU trading 
partners. Fiscal and financial vulnerabilities have been lowered; however, 
challenges remain from the high level of public debt and financing needs, non-
performing loans (NPLs), and institutional weaknesses that hinder investment. 
The clear government mandate following election victory in June, the favourable 
economic outlook, and the prospects for opening negotiation for EU accession 
provide a window of opportunity to resume implementing the reform agenda. 
Albania remains under Post-Program Monitoring.’’

The Bank of Albania has continued to benefit from IMF technical assistance. 
During 2017, in addition to the two long-term advisors, the Bank of Albania 
has been visited by several IMF missions to provide technical assistance and 
expertise in areas such as banking supervision, financial stability, statistics, 
monetary policy and accounting. 

Relations with the World Bank Group
The World Bank Group supports Albania through the Partnership Framework 
covering the period 2015-2019, which aims to support Albania’s aspirations 
for equal growth and integration into the European Union. Over the years, 
the World Bank Group has provided over $ 2.2 billion in assistance to the 
country. Currently, nine projects amount to a total of USD 544 million under 
IDA loans and IBRD loans. Albania is in the same constituency as Greece, Italy, 
Portugal, Malta and Timor Leste. 

In the framework of the “ Reserves Advisory and Management Program “ (RAMP), 
cooperation with the World Bank has continued for the annual training related 
to the needs of the Bank of Albania staff in order to maintain, consolidate and 
further increase professionalism of employees involved in reserve management. 

The World Bank has also continued to fund staff participation in specialized 
education programs such as CFA (Chartered Financial Analyst), CIDA (Certified 
Investments and Derivatives Auditor) and PRM (Professional Risk Manager). 

The Bank of Albania continued its cooperation with the World Bank in the 
framework of the implementation of the project “On measuring the cost of 
payment instruments”. The project, which is based on the World Bank’s 
methodology, aims to identify and measure all types of costs of various payment 
instruments used in the economy in order to create a strategy for reform and 
efficient development of the payments market. Following this cooperation, two 
other projects have been initiated, also aimed at promoting payment services 
from the perspective of remittances, as well as fostering public financial inclusion 
in these services.

46	 https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/CR/Issues/2017/12/13/Albania-2017-Article-IV-
Consultation-Press-Release-Staff-Report-and-Statement-by-the-45468
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Following the entry into force of the Law on Recovery and Resolution, the Bank 
of Albania has obtained WB assistance for the establishment of the Resolution 
Department and drafting relevant regulatory acts. 

Relations with other international institutions
Throughout the past year, the Bank of Albania cooperated with central banks 
of the European Union, including with the Bank of Italy, in the framework of a 
bilateral agreement addressing a number of areas of central banking. It has 
also cooperated intensively with the central banks of France, the Netherlands, 
Germany and Poland. 

Over the past year, cooperation with University of Oxford continued, culminating 
in the annual conference of the Bank of Albania on “Developments in the 
banking market and the infrastructure of financial markets. The role of structure, 
size and market infrastructure in risk mitigation and financial intermediation“,   
9 November 2017. 

The Bank of Albania continued to co-operate with the FSVC, focusing on 
capacity building in the management of operational risk and of business 
continuity.

During 2017, cooperation with the Geneva Institute continued, with the 
support of the Secretariat for Economic Affairs of the Swiss State (SECO). 
This cooperation focused on research at the Bank of Albania in terms of 
better modelling and understanding long-term macroeconomic relations and 
interdependencies.

During the year, the Bank of Albania continued to maintain contacts with the 
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) in reviewing the 
regulation on capital adequacy and continued to be an active participant 
in all the training activities provided by the Centre for Financial Excellence, 
an institute specialized in economic and financial affairs of the South-east 
European countries.

PARTICIPATION IN INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCES, SEMINARS AND 
FORUMS

Following is a summary of international activities, attended by the Administrators 
of the Bank of Albania: 

•	 On 16 January 2017, Governor Sejko attended a seminar organized 
by the National Bank of Austria and the World Bank on the presentation 
of the WB report on “Risks and Returns: Managing Financial Trade-offs 
for Inclusive Growth in Europe and Central Asia”, Vienna, Austria.

•	 On 17 - 18 January 2017, First Deputy Governor Ms Gjoni attended 
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the Central and Eastern European Forum, organized by Euromoney 
Conferences in Vienna, Austria.

 
On 8 February 2017, Governor Sejko attended the Constituent Meeting 
of the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank Group, in 
Rome. This meeting aimed to discuss the latest developments in the 
global economy and other respective economies among governors and 
finance ministers of the member states of this constituency. 

•	 On 6 March 2017, Second Deputy Governor Ms Ahmetaj attended 
the 9th meeting of the Vienna Initiative Forum, organized at the 
headquarters or the European Investment Bank in Luxembourg.

•	 On 9-11 May 2017, Governor Sejko attended the Annual Meeting 
of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), 
“Targeting Green and Inclusive Growth - Meeting Regional and Global 
Challenges”, Cyprus. 

•	 On 23 May 2017, Second Deputy Governor Ms Ahmetaj attended 
the Economic and Financial Dialogue between the EU and the Western 
Balkans and Turkey, in Brussels, Belgium.

•	 On 17-18 May 2017, Governor Sejko attended the Advisory Group 
Meeting and Annual Meetings of the European Fund for South Eastern 
Europe (EFSE) in Split, Croatia. This year marked the 10th annual 
meeting organized by EFSE. On this occasion, the conference focused 
on “Enabling financial inclusion, start-ups and entrepreneurship”, 
and was attended by central bank governors and senior managers, 
EFSE representatives, and leading banking and microfinance industry 
executives, representatives of the business and media organisations. 

•	 On 12 June 2017, Governor Sejko delivered a lecture at the South 
East European Studies Centre of the University of Oxford, London, on “ 
Economic and financial challenges in South East Europe, and the role 
of the central bank as guardian of price and financial stability. 

•	 On 16 June 2017, Governor Sejko attended the annual summit of 
regional countries on “Regional financial stability in a new global 
environment”, Bečići, Montenegro, which was attended by the central 
bank governors of Montenegro, Macedonia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Croatia, and the deputy governors of the central banks of Kosovo 
and Slovenia, as well as finance ministers and tax directors from the 
countries of the region. This summit addressed the latest developments 
in the economies of the region and the steps to be taken to ensure 
sustainable economic growth. 

•	 On 10-11 July 2017, Governor Sejko attended the High Level 
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Conference “Re-accelerating convergence in Central, Eastern and South-
Eastern Europe - The Role of Governance and Institutions” organized by 
the Croatian National Bank and the International Monetary Fund in 
Dubrovnik, Croatia.

•	 On October 5, 2017, Governor Sejko attended the 7th Conference 
on Central, Eastern and South Eastern European countries (CESEE) 
on “Institutional Quality and Sustainable Economic Convergence” 
organized by the European Central Bank (ECB) in Frankfurt, Germany. 

•	 Annual and Spring Meetings of the International Monetary Fund and the 
World Bank Group, in Washington DC, in April and October 2017, 
where the Bank of Albania was represented by Governor Sejko, First 
Deputy Governor Gjoni and other senior officials. 

•	 37th and 38th Meetings of the Governors’ Club of Central Asia, Black 
Sea region and Balkan countries in April 2017 in Antalya, Turkey and 
in September 2017 in Moscow, Russia. 
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2.12 TRANSPARENCY AND COMMUNICATION WITH PUBLIC 

Public communication is an important aspect in the Bank of Albania’s activity, 
for fulfilling the obligation to provide maximum transparency of the decision-
making and its effectiveness, as well for achieving the permanent objective of 
increasing confidence in it. In this framework, interactive communication with 
the public is a primary issue of strategic importance to the Bank of Albania, to 
transmit its monetary policy directly and comprehensively to the public.

An open and transparent central bank

Beyond the legal obligations, the Bank of Albania communicates to the public 
a variety of information about its role and activity, from the decision-making 
of the Supervisory Council to its daily operational activity. This transparent 
communication helps to increase the effectiveness of the policies pursued by 
the Bank of Albania, enabling the public to understand timely and properly the 
decisions taken by the Bank and in order to evaluate them fairly. 

In this context, the Bank of Albania uses a variety of communication channels, 
in order to explain the role and its main objective more clearly, to maintain 
price stability as well as the way of its realisation.

The Monetary Policy strategy is based on a defined decision-making cycle in an 
annual calendar of 8 meetings of the Supervisory Council. A press conference 
with the Governor is held after each meeting to explain to the public the decision 
taken by the Supervisory Council and the analysis used to corroborate this 
decision. Relevant press conferences were organized in response to this cycle, 
in 2017, during which the Governor has responded to the media interest on 
various issues related to the Bank of Albania. In 2017, press conferences were 
followed by the publication of the Governor’s speeches, and the related Q&A 
in Albanian and in English.

Also, during 2017, after each meeting, a brief summary of key decisions taken 
by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania was published. All public 
decisions of the Supervisory Council were fully published in the Official Bulletin 
of the Bank of Albania, in 9 editions of this publication. 

In addition to monetary policy decision-making, the Bank of Albania publishes 
comprehensive information also in the area of banking supervision and 
financial stability, notably the Annual Supervision Report and the Financial 



Annual Report, 2017

121 Bank of Albania

years Bank of Albania

Stability Report, which analyse the important developments of the financial 
system during one half-year period and evidences the factors that represent 
systemic risk. 

The Bank of Albania’s communication is complemented continuously and in 
real time with a series of surveys, analyses, data, and assessments of Bank of 
Albania’s opinions on the country’s macroeconomic situation and the role of the 
Bank in supporting financial stability. During 2017, the activity of the Bank of 
Albania was communicated to the public mainly through 122 press releases, 
speeches, interviews and TV shows. 

Communication with the public is tailored according to the interest, academic 
level and professional level of targeted groups by the Bank of Albania, among 
which, media has an important role. In this framework, the media is continuously 
informed and sensitized on issues related to BoA and on economic and financial 
performance of Albania. Also, during 2017, media communication continued 
through press conferences, speeches, presentations and lectures in activities 
organized by the Bank of Albania or other domestic and foreign institutions, 
dedicated interviews or participation in TV shows, expression of positions on 
specific issues of interest to the Bank of Albania or other public activities of 
the Governor and other representatives of the Bank. During this year, 7 of its 
periodic reports were presented “off-the-records” to the media. These meetings 
aim to guide the media for a correct understanding of the decision-making of 
the Bank of Albania and are seen as effective means of communication with 
the public. 

In order to increase interaction with the public, in 2017 we have added digital 
communication through social networks such as Twitter (information), YouTube 
(video) and Flickr (photo), transmitting the Bank of Albania’s general activity to 
the public, in real time. 

Activities in ALBANIA

•	 On 2 February 2017, under the auspices of the Second Deputy Governor, 
Ms Natasha Ahmetaj, the Bank of Albania, in cooperation with the World 
Bank, organized the workshop on “Financial system in Albania - From 
2025 scenarios, to action today”. The workshop was conceived as a 
dynamic discussion platform to exchange views on challenges, identify 
and manage risks, test different strategies, bringing the future to day-to-
day thinking.

•	 On 15 February 2017, on the initiative and under the auspices of the 
Governor of the Bank of Albania, Mr Gent Sejko, a discussion meeting 
was held between the Bank of Albania and the Executive Committee of 
the Albanian Association of Banks. The main purpose of this meeting 
was to intensify the dialogue and cooperation between the Bank of 
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Albania, the Albanian Association of Banks and commercial banks 
operating in Albania, on issues particularly related to the security of 
conducting the banking activity, the transport of monetary values, 
and to discuss the financial, lending and operational activity of the 
banking system. 

•	 On 4-5 May 2017, the Bank of Albania, in cooperation with the 
International Monetary Fund, and sponsored by the Swiss State Secretariat 
for Economic Affairs, Economic Cooperation and Development (SECO), 
organized the conference “Negative Euro Area Interest Rates and 
Spillovers on Western Balkan Central Bank Policies and Instruments”. 
Participants attending this conference were senior officials Western Balkan 
central banks, including the central banks of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 
Kosovo, the Republic of Macedonia, Serbia; European Central Bank; 
other European central banks, including Bulgaria, Croatia, Hungary, 
Romania; the Swiss National Bank, the Bank for International Settlements 
(BIS) and representatives of the academy.

•	 The National Payments System Committee held its third meeting on 9 
May 2017, chaired by the First Deputy Governor of the Bank of Albania, 
Ms Elisabeta Gjoni, who also chairs this Committee. The purpose of this 
Committee is to support and contribute to enhancing the security, stability 
and efficiency of the national payment system in Albania. Beyond the 
advisory role, the Committee aims to facilitate the implementation of 
measures of the relevant authorities by fostering cooperation.

•	 On 5 September 2017, the Bank of Albania organized the workshop 
“Factoring in Albania”, in cooperation with the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development. The purpose of this workshop was to 
help banks and financial institutions become aware of the advantages of 
expanding the factoring service in Albania as an opportunity to finance 
business, especially small and medium-sized enterprises. 

•	 On 6 November 2017, the Governor of the Bank of Albania, Mr Gent 
Sejko hosted, in an official visit to the Bank of Albania, the Governor of 
the Central Bank of the Republic of Turkey, Mr Murat Çetinkaya. During 
this visit, a Memorandum of Cooperation was signed, which aims to 
foster cooperation between the two central banks. 

•	 On 9 November 2017, the Bank of Albania, in co-operation with the 
South East European Studies Centre of the University of Oxford, held 
its annual conference on “Banking developments and financial market 
infrastructure.”The role of structure, size and market infrastructure in risks 
mitigation and financial intermediation” This conference was organized in 
three sessions, with welcoming addresses by the President of the Republic 
of Albania, Mr Ilir Meta, the Governor of the Bank of Albania, Mr Gent 
Sejko, the Minister of Finance and Economy, Mr Arben Ahmetaj and the 
Director of the South East European Studies Centre at Oxford University, 
Mr Othon Anastasakis. 

•	 On 4-5 December 2017, the Bank of Albania organized the 11th 
South-east European Economic Research Workshop. This workshop 
aims to encourage discussion and promote economic research, as well 
as regional cooperation in Southeast Europe. The event was attended 
by representatives of the central banks of the region, academics from 
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universities and international financial institutions as well as experts from 
the Bank of Albania. 

•	 On 11 December 2017, a high level meeting was held between the Bank 
of Albania, the Minister of State for Diaspora, commercial banks and 
non-bank financial institutions conducting monetary transfer operations. 
At the end of this meeting, a Memorandum of Understanding between 
the Bank of Albania, the Minister of State for Diaspora and the Ministry 
of Finance and Economy was signed. This Memorandum aimed at raising 
the awareness, facilitating dialogue and fostering effective cooperation 
between the parties on issues related to the contribution of remittances 
by Albanian emigrants for the development of the economy. 

•	 On 15 December 2017, Governor Sejko met with the journalists of 
print and electronic media, economic analysts, managers and other 
media representatives in Albania. During this activity, the winners of 
“The Governor’s Award for Best Diploma for 2017” were announced. 
This annual event is dedicated to Albanian students graduated this 
year in Albania and abroad, for scientific research on issues related to 
international monetary economics, price and financial stability, economic 
integration, etc.

A responsible and accountable central bank

The Bank of Albania aims to inform citizens, and in particular the Parliament, 
on all its activities.

Institutional relations with the Parliament are held in several directions. Governor’s 
hearing sessions in the Parliamentary Commission of Economy and Finance 
are the most significant ones. Like every year, in May 2017, the Governor 
presented the Annual Report of the Bank of Albania to this Commission, 
responding to the MPs’ interest in specific issues related to it. During 2017, the 
Governor presented a public hearing in November, dedicated to the Bank of 
Albania’s opinion on the main points of the draft state budget for the following 
year 2018. 

Citizens can find comprehensive and up-to-date information on the economic 
and financial situation and the country’s key macroeconomic developments, 
as well as the role of the Bank of Albania’s contribution in this regard, on 
the official website www.bankofalbania.org. During 2017, the website had 
about 960 thousand visitors who checked our page around 2.800.000 times 
and browsed in total about 5.300.000 sections.

Our website is constantly enriched with a broad statistics system for many sector 
of the Albanian economy, such as: banking sector, fiscal sector, real sector 
and external sector, which are published according to a defined schedule 
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that is updated semi-annually. Bank of Albania’s statistics are also found in the 
monthly statistical reports and in quarterly monetary policy reports.

This site also offers all publications of the Bank of Albania, which summarize 
updated information on the Albanian and world’s economy; on developments 
in the banking and financial system; financial stability and money; changes 
and enrichments of banking legislation and its regulatory framework; as well 
as on other issues, thus consolidating as a source of accurate and reliable 
information to the public. 

As the website is one of the main means of communication with the general 
public and all interest groups, the Bank of Albania has undertaken the project 
of redesigning this site during 2017. This project aims to improve quality, 
visual appearance and facilitate its use, which will help to forward the Bank of 
Albania’s philosophy and communication. The new website will be launched 
within the first quarter of 2018. 

Periodic and non-periodic publications, in 2017, consisted of about 3400  
pages of analyses, statistics and research in both Albanian and English. The 
set of periodic reports was the same as in the previous year: Annual Report, 
Quarterly Monetary Policy Report, Financial Stability Report (semi-annual) and 
Annual Supervision Report. In addition to the periodical reports, this range 
is further enriched with the Official Bulletin (depending on the Supervisory 
Council meetings), the Economics Magazine (half-yearly), the “Research 
Newsletter” at the Bank of Albania” (half-yearly), the Annual Conference Book 
2016. This year, “Central Banking” magazine has been added to the series 
of publications, which summarizes all of the activities of the Bank of Albania’s 
through which economic and financial policy decision-making has passed 
during a six-month period. It also reflects the most important moments related 
to the supervisory activity, the operational one, the educational role, the social 
and cultural contribution, and the Bank’s activity dedicated to the promotion of 
national values. 

During 2017, the Bank of Albania continued to free distribute of all its 
publications, taking into account the social responsibility regarding reducing 
paper publication. 

In order to inform the public, the Bank of Albania informs its citizens in writing 
or in electronic form, depending on how they want to receive this information. 
During 2017, 177 official requests were sent to the coordinator for the right 
of information and about 180 e-mails to the general electronic address of the 
Bank of Albania. 
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2.13 Public education and the Museum of the Bank 
of Albania 

The vast majority of modern central banks pay special attention and resources 
to the financial and economic education of the public. This is because an 
informed public is more likely to understand and accept the complex decisions 
the Central Bank takes. Investing in the financial culture of the general public 
helps central banks increase the effectiveness of monetary policy, to build and 
operate through efficient mechanisms of its economic decisions. Such a culture 
helps consumers, producers and investors make wise financial decisions, and 
the central bank can achieve its objective more easily. 

For more than a decade, the Bank of Albania has been engaged in expanding 
and deepening the financial culture of the public in the country, especially 
that of the younger generation. Two are the main goals of the programmes, 
activities and special educational publications prepared by the Bank of Albania: 
presenting the central bank, its functions and role to the public; and cultivating 
and strengthening financial literacy in the society Public education was seen 
by the Bank of Albania as an opportunity to ensure an adequate environment 
for the development of its activity; as a necessity to establish the basis for 
developing an interactive communication with the public; as an irreplaceable 
tool in view of increasing its reputation and credibility from the public and as 
an efficient way of increasing the transparency and accountability it intends to 
transmit.

In order to fulfil the objective of increasing financial literacy in Albania during 
2017, the work to educate the public in several directions has continued, such 
as:

The Museum of the Bank of Albania - The Museum of the Bank of Albania is not 
only a museum with numismatic information but it also serves for the distribution 
of financial knowledge to its visitors through educational publications, audio-
visual materials and presentations on topics related to central banking and 
finances for the groups of pupils and students who visit it. 

Educational publications - the distribution of educational textbooks: “Personal 
finance in your hands” continued during 2017 in 10 high schools (in total 1990 
textbooks) On the other hand, the distribution of brochures and educational 
materials prepared in previous years has continued too. 

Global Money Week - On 27 March 2017, the Bank of Albania launched the 
Money Week (March 27 - April 2, 2017), a worldwide holiday celebration 
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aimed at raising the awareness of the new generation to be future responsible 
and financially capable citizens. 

The Bank of Albania participated for the fourth time in this celebration, in 
cooperation with the Albanian Association of Banks, with the support of the 
Ministry of Education and Sports, the Deposit Insurance Agency (ASD), the 
Junior Achievement (JA) and the National Youth Service (NES), organized 
educational and awareness activities, including directly around 2200 children 
and young people.
 
Educational activities of the Week of Money in Albania include: lectures for 
university students held by the Governor and Bank of Albania, school and 
television competitions, visits to the Museum of the Bank of Albania and 
commercial banks, theatrical performances and educational exhibitions with 
paintings for children. 

The Facebook web page of the Bank of Albania - Created in 2014, with the 
purpose of promoting and cultivating a financial culture, the Bank of Albania 
website on Face book has served as another way of approaching the public, 
mainly the youngest in age. During 2017, about 125 posts were published to 
acquaint the public with educational material, numismatic curiosities, activities 
and publications of the Bank, reaching over 11,000 followers 

The Museum of the Bank of Albania

The Bank of Albania Museum was inaugurated on 30 October 2015. It is 
located within the central bank building in the capital’s main square and 
extends into two floors, each of which is conceived as an independent space 
from one another. 

On the first floor, where the Treasury Room is located or otherwise known as 
“Rondo”, is presented the rich numismatic collection of the Bank of Albania. 
Visitors can get to know the historical and numismatic values that the coin has, 
through treasury exhibits, collections of coins and banknotes that have been 
circulated and used in the country’s historic territories, from antiquity to the 
present day. 

The second floor presents the history of the central bank institution in Albania, 
its role in maintaining price stability and guaranteeing the financial stability of 
the country, as well as constitutional functions. With a particular focus on public 
education, its second floor also serves as an information centre where visitors 
can be interactively informed, as well as develop lessons, lectures or other 
didactic activities in the field of money and economy. 

During 2017, the Bank of Albania Museum was visited by 3248 visitors 
compared to 2103 visitors during 2016. 
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Highilghts of the Museum of the Bank of Albania in 2017

Each year, the Museum of the Bank of Albania organizes activities to attract 
new visitors and increase cooperation with scholars, academics, museums and 
other institutions, as well as specialized institutions in economic, historical and 
cultural heritage research. 

For 2017, the Museum organised the following activities: 
 
1. Treasury curiosities: The Art of the Albanian Banknote”.

On 18 May 2017, within the framework of the International Museum Day, the 
Museum of the Bank of Albania organized a lecture titled “Treasury curiosities: 
The Art of the Albanian Banknote”. The activity continued with a temporary 
exhibition of sketches, drawings and auxiliary materials used for designing 
Albanian banknotes and sketches and other works by students of the University 
of Arts related to the banknote. 

2. International Conference “Money and banking in Albania, from antiquity to 
the present day”

The first conference of the Museum of the Bank of Albania was organized on 
14-15 June 2017 on “Money and banking in Albania from antiquity to modern 
times.” The first day of the conference brought together historians, numismatists, 
archaeologists and researchers of monetary and economic history to present 
and discuss the findings of their studies in the fields of monetary production and 
circulation, economic history and banking development in our country, from 
antiquity to our day. The event was organized in four sessions in which 20 studies 
were presented. The second day of this conference focused on the educational 
role of museums of central banks in knowing the history of money, banking and 
on enhancing financial literacy through exhibitions, education and innovation, 
bringing together experts from seven museums of central banks in the region. 

3. “Museum Nights” lectures

The “Museum Nights” lectures co-ordinate and integrate knowledge about the 
currency at the exhibition of the Museum of the Bank of Albania with information 
found in archives, libraries, private collections or exhibited through architecture, 
sculpture, visual arts and pictures across other museums in the country. Lectures 
are followed by visits to the Museum. 

The first lecture was held by Mr Artan Lame, on “Currency circulation in Albania 
during the Ottoman Period”, 30 October 2017. The lecture addressed the 
Ottoman currency, from its introduction in the XIV cent. until the Tanzimat Reforms 
in XIX cent., characteristics and types of the currencies that circulated in Albanian 
territories.” The lecture also focused on the circulation of European currencies in 
Albanian territories before and during the use of the Ottoman currency.

The second lecture of the “Museum Nights” was delivered by Prof. Dr Nevila 
Nika, UET, on: “Archive: the bank of memory “, 20 November 2017. The lecturer 
referred to the archives as a unique legacy that passes from one generation to 
the other, as well as on the essential role they play in developing societies as 
they preserve and contribute to individual and collective memory. 
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3. INSTITUTIONAL CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT
 

The objectives, activity, and human resources policies aim to create a 
motivational work environment that serves, among other things, to develop 
professional capacities of employees, adopt the best standards of central banks 
in this area, as well as continuously improve the administrative processes of 
the institution.

HUMAN RESOURCES 

Pursuant to the medium-term strategic objectives of the institution, the human 
resources management policy has focused on the acquisition and implementation 
of the best human resource management practices applied in similar institutions 
in the European Union. The pursuit of proactive policies on employment, 
management and career promotion of human capacities for a structured 
professional and flexible organization remains a priority of the institution. 
These policies primarily aim at rationalizing the organizational structure and 
improving the Bank’s effectiveness, in line with its strategic objectives and the 
relevant regulatory framework. 

Effective human resources management attaches particular importance to 
adapting the institution’s regulatory infrastructure to the best standards, as 
well as offering promotion opportunities for professional employees, aiming 
at increasing employee motivation. Also, through policies for professional 
motivation, the goal is to retain the staff, one of the main challenges faced by 
central banks. 

Gender representation at the level of specialists and managers is balanced. 
The ratio of women to men in total employees is 58% - 42%, while this ratio at 
the management level is 56% - 43%. 

During 2017, within the legal changes in the field of banking, some changes 
were made to the organizational structure of the Bank. These changes aimed 
to improve and strengthen some important processes, like better adaptation 
of the structures of some of the Bank’s units with specific tasks stemming from 
the objectives and activity of the institution as well as the creation of a new 
organizational unit that will exercise the function of the resolution authority, a 
function the Bank of Albania did not have. 

The Bank of Albania has consistently paid attention to combining experience 
with innovation, within departments and beyond. Currently, the average age of 



Annual Report, 2017

129 Bank of Albania

years Bank of Albania

the staff is 43 years old. About 57% of employees have completed postgraduate 
studies at the Master / PHD level, and have obtained internationally-recognised 
professional certificates, while 2% of employees are studying to get them. 

As noted in the chart No 49 84% of employees in the Bank have higher 
education. 37% have completed postgraduate studies in the country and 17% 
in prestigious universities abroad. 

Another important element of human resources policy is the identification 
of interpersonal and professional skills and their usage to train and build 
professional capacities of the employees. Bank of Albania staff has grown 
professionally, as a result of the professional trainings they have attended in 
Albania and abroad. Participation in these specialized training, organized 
by central banks, international financial institutions 
(IFIs) or other institutions, besides increasing the 
professional knowledge, serves the staff of the Bank 
also to exchange professional and managerial 
experiences with representatives of these institutions. 
Below, we graphically present the training activities 
according to the organizers. 

As noted from the chart No.50, the highest 
participation in training (37%) was respectively 
in European central banks of Germany, Italy, the 
Czech Republic, the Netherlands, France, the 
European Central , etc. The trainings conducted by 
International Financial Institutions account for 25% of 
the training courses attended, namely: International 
Monetary Fund, EBRD, BIS. About 35% of training 
courses has been offered in cooperation with other 

Chart 49. Employees according to education level

Source: Bank of Albania
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organizers such as JVI (Joint Vienna Institute), European 
Commission, EBA, EUROSTAT, IFC, JP Morgan, CEF 
(Center for Excellence in Finance).

Compared with 2014, in 2016 and 2017, the 
number of training courses organised abroad 
decreased, enabling a fairer and more targeted 
distribution of activities. Most of the professional 
trainings in 2017 were carried out in the field of 
Financial Stability (12.89%), Monetary Policy 
(12.44%), Banking Supervision (9.78%), Central 
Banking (9.78%) and Financial Statistics (8.89%). 
The rest of the training has been organised in areas 
such as: internal auditing, currency issuance and 
money management, statistics, accounting and 
finance, economics and models, etc. 

It should be noted that the largest number of professional training is focused on 
building the central bank’s institutional capacity to fulfil its core functions. 

Agreements and collaboration 

Within the three-year programme as part of the SECO agreement (Swiss State 
Secretariat for Economic Affairs), in 2017, four workshops were organized 
with lecturers from prestigious Institutions / Universities. Thirty-four employees 
from various departments of the Bank participated in these activities. Also, 
within this cooperation, four staff participations were recorded in the IV Annual 
Conference organized by SECO and the Graduate Institute of International 
and Development Studies (GIIDS).

Chart 51. Training activities and participation in 
Albania and abroad

Source: Bank of Albania
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Social policIES and social responsibility

The Bank of Albania aims to maintain and to further strengthen social values, 
increase the awareness of its employees in terms of support for vulnerable 
groups or various social causes. Examples of these efforts are initiatives 
to support financial education, create a better environment for vulnerable 
communities, and volunteer activities to contribute to improving the quality of 
life for the marginalized segments of the society. Based on the law “On the 
Bank of Albania”, the latter cannot allocate financial aid or donations. Yet, 
within social responsibility and civic sensitivity, during 2017, employees have 
voluntarily contributed to various humanitarian activities as a moral response 
to the achievement of common community goals. 

On 1 June, on the “International Children’s Day”, Bank employees provided 
monetary and material support (gifts from employees), on a voluntary basis, 
for the purchase of sports clothing, teaching aids, computers and professional 
printers, and others items, according to the needs presented by the “Institute of 
Blind Students - Ramazan Kabashi”, Tirana. 

In cooperation with the “Albanian Red Cross” and the “Blood Donor Centre”, 
on the occasion of World Blood Donor Day, in May, the Bank’s employees 
expressed solidarity with the humanitarian initiative for voluntary blood donation 
as an act of humanity to help the sick people in need. 

On 2 April 2017, the Bank of Albania’s central building was decked in blue to 
mark the World Autism Day as part of a common national awareness raising 
initiative for it. On the occasion of the end of the year, a sale of postcards 
prepared by the children of the village “SOS” and the children of the “Down 
Syndrome Foundation” was organized, at the premises of the Bank. Profits from 
the sale of cards will be used to meet their needs.
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4. Internal Audit

 

Internal audit at the Bank of Albania is carried out by the Control Department. 
The main objective of the Control Department is to ensure compliance with 
the laws and by-laws in the activity of the Bank of Albania. The internal audit 
function ensures periodically and independently to the Bank’s Administrators 
the verification and evaluation of internal audit systems by testing certain 
controls and procedures but not being their substitute. 

4.1	 Highlights in internal audit in 2017

Implementation of the Internal Audit Policy 

With the approval of the Internal Audit Policy and the revision of the Regulation 
on the Functioning of the Control Department, the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
at the Bank of Albania was reviewed and approved in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. The annual plan for 2017 was drafted 
by the Control Department and the Inspector General and was submitted for 
review by the Audit Committee. Furthermore, agreed by the Audit Committee, 
the plan was presented to the Supervisory Council, and was approved by its 
Decision No.7 of 01.02.2017. 

Implementation and use of an application for internal audit and 
risk management purposes

During 2017, the implementation of an application for automated audit 
management and operational risk management started. Thus, during April, the 
staff members of the Control Department and of the Operational Risk Unit were 
trained on how to use it and on the newest options offered by this application. 
Later, the staff worked on entering historical records of Internal Audit and 
Operational Risk. With the implementation of the new system, the audit 
universe of the Bank of Albania was revised, according to unified functions 
and processes, also for operational risk management purposes. During 2018, 
most of the internal audit activity are expected to be realized and documented 
in the new application. 

Implementation of the audit methodology for risk assessment 
purposes through the internal audit application

The proposed 2018 plan was based on the Risk Assessment process for audit 
purposes through the first planning application with the new Pentana system. 
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Risk-based planning through this system increases the quality of planning based 
on the risks identified during the audit and updating of the audit universe 
with the risks and processes identified continuously from the Operational Risk 
Management process. 
 
This process is also one of the issues identified by the External Quality Assessment 
by the central bank of the Netherlands (DNB) in 2015, implementing a fully 
risk-based audit plan. 

Consolidation of relations with the ORM unit

With the establishment of the Operational Risk Management (ORM) Unit in 
2016, and the approval of the Operational Risk Management Policy and the 
Regulation on the functioning of this Unit, the reporting and cooperation lines 
between this Unit and the Control Department were consolidated to meet the 
objectives of each party.

The ORM Unit, at the beginning of each audit, makes available to audit teams 
(inspectors) the list of operational risks that have been identified, managed by 
the Unit and monitored by the ORM. Meanwhile, the Control Department makes 
available to the ORM Unit, at the end of each engagement, the audit report, 
risk assessment of the function and findings, format of risk-check processes, 
and any other information that may apply to operational risk management, 
in addition to the monthly reporting of operational risks related to the internal 
audit itself. 

Implementation of Recommendations from the External Quality 
Assurance and Results of Internal Assessment 

During 2017, the Control Department carried out the “Self-Assessment of Internal 
Audit Quality Assessment”, based on the (The Institute of Internal Auditors) IIA 
Guide and its standards on assessment of the internal audit function (Quality 
Assessment). This commitment, beyond fulfilling the main objective for the 
quality assessment of Internal Audit, fulfils one of the recommendations left by 
the External Quality Assessment Project, conducted by the central bank of the 
Netherlands (DNB) in May 2015.

At the end of this engagement, the Control Department assessed the 
compliance of the Internal Audit Activity with the International Professional 
Practices (Standards / IPPF), as well as evaluated the current status of the 
recommendations given by the External Quality Assessment (EQA). The table 
below shows the situation at the end of 2017 regarding the External Quality 
Assessment (EQA) recommendations left by the central bank of the Netherlands 
(DNB) and the results of the engagement of the Internal Audit Self-Assessment:
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Compliance levels according 
EQA

External quality assessment 
(EQA) 2015

Quality self-assessment (IQA) 
2017 

Does not comply 14 -
Partly complies 29 16
Complies 61 88
TOTAL 104 104

According to the chart above, only 15% of the standards are not fully 
implemented (in accordance with the best practices provided by the IPPF of the 
International Institute of Internal Auditors):

4.2 About the Control Department

In accordance with the Law “On the Bank of Albania”, the main objective 
of the Control Department is to ensure the implementation of laws and by-
laws in the Bank of Albania activity and to act as a general control measure 
and provide consultancy services for the Administrators and the Supervisory 
Council, contributing to preserving the integrity of information, the efficient use 
of resources and the effectiveness of internal control systems at the Bank of 
Albania.

Chart 52. Internal audit assessment (EQA, 2015) and self-assessment of 
quality (2017) 

Source: Bank of Albania
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Organizational structure of Control Department 

During 2017, the organizational structure managed by the Inspector General 
was almost complete and had the necessary resources to engage. 

Professional capacity building and continuous training

In order to meet the strategic objective of capacity building of internal audit staff 
members, audit inspectors have been involved in training programs for internal 
audit and risk management provided by central banks, have attended individual 
programs for their professional development, and have taken professional 
membership / certification exams from international institutions in the field 
of finance and audit. During 2017, audit inspectors initiated and continued 
attending the ACCA, CIA, CISA certification programs and attending minimum 
mandatory classes for upholding CIDA, ACCA, CA titles.47

4.3 Engagements and main findings in 2017
 
Audit engagements in 2017 focused on: (i) giving an opinion on the adequacy 
of internal audits set by the Management for the audited functions / processes, 
including applications supporting activities; and (ii) other not planned audit 

47	 ACCA - Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
	 CIA - Certified Internal Auditor 
	 CISA - Certified Information Systems Auditor 
	 CIDA - Certified Investments and Derivatives Auditor
 	 CA - Chartered accountant 
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and non-audit engagements with a special request by Administrators or other 
institutions. 

During 2017, in total, 48 new recommendations resulted from 7 audit 
engagements for security, excluding suggestions resulting from consultancy 
engagements and engagement in “Self-Assessment of Internal Audit Quality 
in BoA”. The findings and recommendations for each of the audits carried out 
during this period were first addressed to the heads of the units and then to the 
Bank of Albania’s Administrators. 

4.4 Highlights in the operational risk management 
in 2017

Following the successful completion of the project “On the Implementation of 
the Framework for Banking Operational Risk Management” in June 2016, the 
Bank of Albania managed to establish within a year the proper infrastructure, 
the functionality and efficiency of the responsible unit for the Operational Risk 
Management. 

The objective of the Operational Risk Management is to manage uncertainties, 
and to inform and assist the decision-making process on risks that may hinder 
the achievement of Bank of Albania’s objectives or have adverse financial and 
/ or reputational impacts. 

Assessment of Operational Risk Management by international 
experts 

The operational risk management function was consolidated during 2017 at 
the Bank of Albania. This was achieved due to: a) the expression of tolerance 
on operational risk by the Supervisory Council, b) Drafting and approval of 
action plans by the Administrators, c) Periodic review and reassessment of the 
Operational Risk Database by the ORM unit. 

As a result of these developments, the level of maturity of ORM’s activity 
(estimated by the IORWG international experts) was significantly increased to 
69.22% for 2017 (from 50.32% at the end of 2016). This is considered the 
initial stage of the third level of risk assessment as “Managed” (≥69% of this 
level III). 

AD-HOC BASIC MANAGED ADVANCED MATURED
<61% ≥61% ≥69% ≥86% ≥94%

The assessment is carried out by the International Operational Risk Working 
Group (IORWG), part of which is also the Bank of Albania. This organization 
is made up of 70 central banks and has been active since October 2005. 
Following this process, the progress of the maturity level of the Operational 
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Risk Management has shifted from ‘ad-hoc’ to ‘managed’, thus overcoming the 
‘basic’ level. This assessment exceeds the Bank of Albania’s expectations for 
the end of 2017. 

This maturity level indicates that in the risk management policy, the Board 
(Council) determines the implementation of the risk management structure, and 
supports the expression of risk appetite. There is a defined risk matrix and a 
governance structure directly reporting to Senior Management. The exchange 
of information between the risk units is ad-hoc (as necessary) and periodic. 
Qualitative and quantitative methods are used for assessing and monitoring 
operational risks, which may include, as appropriate, Key Risk Indicators (KRIs), 
risk analysis, incidents and internal losses. Also, the results from the assessment 
of the Operational Risk Management Unit are taken into consideration in the 
tactical / operational decision-making processes by the Bank of Albania units.

Independent rating certifies the level of maturity by an independent international 
organization and demonstrates the importance given by the Bank and the 
Supervisory Council to the Risk Management function at the Bank of Albania, 
awareness raising and education of people at all levels for risk management, 
which has affected and will affect the well-functioning and the continuous 
improvement of the basic and supportive functions regarding risk management. 

Increase and implementation of operational risk culture at bank 
level

One of the main engagements of the ORM unit is to further increase the 
operational risk culture at the bank level in order to reach the objective of the 
well-functioning of the ORM process in the short term, with a view to ensuring 
that all employees have the knowledge and speak the same language regarding 
the operational risk. 

Particular importance was given to the incident reporting standard during 
2017, to the consistency of reporting the horizontal events (which affect some 
units except the reporting one), near-miss events and immediate notification in 
case of high-impact incidents. 

Continuation of the next important BCM Project - Business 
Continuity 

Business Continuity Management (BCM) is an activity-oriented process that 
establishes a strategic and operational regulatory framework according to the 
needs, which:

•	 Proactively improves the organization’s recoverability in case of 
operational disruptions that make it impossible to meet the main 
objectives; 

•	 Provides a method for restoring the ability of the organization to deliver 
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the products and services at the agreed time and quality after the 
termination of the activity occurs; 

•	 Provides a proven ability to manage the discontinuation of activity and 
protects the organization’s reputation.

During 2017, we worked on the selection, organization and creation 
of the Working Group that will implement the project for the drafting and 
implementation of the BCM at the Bank of Albania. This Working Group was 
created by the Governor’s Order no.6025 dated 30.12.2016.

In June 2017, the working group organized several-day training in cooperation 
with external experts by the Financial Services Volunteer Corps. Along with 
exchanging experiences and best practices for BCM, this training included a 
whole day dedicated to the coordinators assigned to follow the BCM in order 
to familiarize them with topics such as: general information on BCM, main 
goals, the importance of this program for the Bank, etc. 

Upon completion of the Operational Risk Management Project in 2016, 
the products and data bases created during this project are serving as the 
foundation for the progress and finalization of the newly initiated project 
for BCM in the Bank of Albania. Now, with and increased risk culture and 
drafting/ identification of business processes from all the units of the Bank of 
Albania, the project for the Business Continuity Management has the necessary 
basis to develop benchmarks provided in the project plan, which, together 
with the commitment of each unit, can guarantee the successful achievement 
of objectives.

Whistleblowing, a new legal function at the Bank of Albania

Pursuant to point 2 of the decision of the Council of Ministers no. 816, dated 
16.11.2016, the Bank of Albania, as a public authority which meets the legal 
requirement for the number of employees, has the obligation to establish a 
responsible unit to handle and investigate signalling. Pursuant to this decision, 
and Law No. 60/2016 “On Signalling (Whistleblowing) and Protection of “, 
in 2017, the responsible unit for whistleblowing at the Bank was appointed, as 
well as the responsible persons, to carry out the functions of the administrative 
investigation process following signalling. 

Also during 2017, the Bank of Albania drafted and approved the internal 
regulation “On the Administrative Investigation of Signalling, Protection 
of Confidentiality and Protection from Retaliation at the Bank of Albania” 
with Decision of Council of Ministers No. 75, dated 06.12.2017. The 
implementation of this regulation aims to a) prevent and supress corruption at 
the Bank of Albania; b) to promote alerts on suspected corruption actions or 
practices; c) protect whistleblowers who signal suspected corruption actions or 
practices at their workplace. 
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5. Medium-term development strategy of the 
Bank of Albania 2018-2020

The medium-term development strategy represents the ambition of the Bank 
of Albania for the period 2018-2020. The strategy aims to give a proactive 
response to the challenges of the environment where the Bank of Albania 
operates; increase the cooperation within the institution; promote the effective 
and efficient use of resources; as well promote public transparency and 
accountability. 

This document is an update of the 2016-2018 strategy, which extends its 
implementation deadline beyond 2018 and sets the main objectives for the 
next three year period. The extension of the implementation period provides 
adequate programmatic support for the Bank of Albania medium-term orientation 
budget for 2019 and 2020. 

The extension of the deadline reflects, at the same time, the medium-
term objectives achieved so far, which no longer appear in the content of 
the strategy. Where necessary, new objectives are foreseen for the period 
2019-2020, or the existing objectives have been updated. Determining new 
objectives has been necessary in areas such as bank resolution, or operational 
risk management, which are new to the Bank of Albania. 

The Bank of Albania has adopted the model of several banks of the European 
System of Central Banks, which have a dual strategic planning system: (i) a 
major planning process, once in 3-5 years; and (ii) a (minor), annual, update 
process. 

The Medium-Term Development Strategy 2018-2020 has the mission, vision 
and core values of the institution unchanged, which represent the starting point 
of the document. The Mission expresses the reason for the existence of the Bank 
of Albania and the fundamental purpose orienting its activities . The values 
summarize the common principles that are part of the Bank of Albania culture 
and guide the behaviour of employees. The vision clarifies the direction of the 
Bank of Albania and the way the institution seeks to be perceived from the 
world (i.e. state institutions, the banking system and the public). 

The Objectives derive from the organic law and set the priorities in the Bank 
of Albania’s activity in fulfilling its mission and vision. The implementation of 
the objectives is based on: (i) human resources: skills, talents and knowledge 
of employees; (ii) information technology: databases, information systems, 
networks and technology infrastructure; and (iii) internal organization: culture, 
management, employees and group work. 
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The main challenges that the Bank of Albania will face over the next three years 
are: 

a) 	 Maintaining monetary stability
Bank of Albania’s monetary policy continues to be oriented towards maintaining 
price stability and aims to foster cooperation with partners in Albania and 
abroad through better coordination of macroeconomic policies and exchange 
of information and expertise. 
 
The Bank of Albania’s operations aim to increase the flexibility of instruments 
for the implementation of the monetary policy and the safeguarding of financial 
stability. The further development of the money market and of the secondary 
market of government securities, as well as the improvement of AFISaR 
infrastructure remain Bank of Albania priorities.

b)	  Ensuring a stable and efficient financial system 
The implementation of the Macro-prudential Policy Strategy aims to take actions 
to prevent and treat systemic risk. The Bank of Albania will aim to finalize the 
definition of the indicators and critical levels for some systemic risk indicators, 
with a view to operationalizing the macro-prudential instruments and preparing 
the relevant methodologies. At the same time, efforts will be made to enrich and 
consolidate databases and reporting forms, harmonize analyses and indicators 
used by different organizational units within the Bank of Albania, and strengthen 
analytical and modelling capacities. In particular, work will be done to clarify 
the relationship between macro and micro- prudential policies with monetary 
policy, focusing on exchanging and analysing important information as well as 
on the interaction in relevant decision-making. 

c)	  Ensuring a sound banking activity 
Banking supervision focuses on obtaining a secure sound financial system 
which guarantees the citizens’ confidence and contributes to sustainable 
economic growth. The development of the regulatory framework is oriented 
towards Basel’s standards and the European Union legislation. Also, efforts will 
be made to consolidate the risk-based supervision process and improve the 
quality of financial reporting of supervised entities.

d)	 Addressing Possible Issues of Financially Challenged Banks 
As the Resolution authority, the Bank of Albania aims to implement resolutions 
organized in binancially challenged banks, minimizing the impacts on the real 
economy, public finances and financial stability. The work focuses on setting up 
a regulatory framework, drafting resolution plans, contributions to the resolution 
fund, and coordinating actions with other domestic and foreign institutions. 

e) 	 Increase of the quality of statistical data 
Objectives in the statistical field are oriented towards meeting the quantitative 
standards of international methodologies and European Union legislation, as 
well as meeting the quality criteria of data, according to international standards.
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f) 	 Improving quality of the national currency
One of the main objectives of the Bank of Albania is to maintain the quality 
of banknotes in circulation, in order to increase the public confidence in the 
currency. This will be achieved through the production of new banknotes that 
are redesigned with security elements of state-of-the-art technology. 

g) 	 Strengthening the governance of the institution 
Strengthening good governance implies, in addition to consolidating the 
independence of the institution, in accordance with the Statute of the European 
System of Central Banks, increasing accountability in the fulfilment of tasks, and 
in the management of physical, human and financial resources. 

Operational risk management is also defined as a primary objective in 
accountability. This implies a structured, systematic and comprehensive 
approach to addressing the non-financial risk faced by the institution in all the 
aspects of activity. 

Transparency is another aspect of good governance, closely related to the 
concept of accountability. The Bank of Albania’s main objective in this regard 
is to provide information and improve communication channels with the public 
and groups of interest, in order to foster the institution’s credibility and monetary 
policy efficiency.

h)	 Bank of Albania’ resources 
The Bank of Albania is continuing the work for the reconstruction of the former 
Hotel Dajti. The building will enable accommodation in optimal conditions for 
around half of the Bank of Albania staff members.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2017
(WITH INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
THEREON)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

In ALL million Note 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 8 161,765 105,490
Trading assets 12 14,240 16,183
Monetary gold 9 7,291 7,516
Accounts with the International Monetary Fund 10 41,733 43,683
Loans to banks 11 39,871 29,934
Available-for-sale investment securities 13 245,375 298,930
Property, equipment and intangible assets 14 20,226 20,604
Other assets 15 2,351 2,316

Total assets 532,852 524,656

LIABILITIES

Currency in circulation 16 274,685 258,821
Trading liabilities 12 - 2
Due to banks 17 146,635 152,352
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 18 4,033 3,310
Due to Government and state institutions 19 35,295 19,892
Due to the International Monetary Fund 10 26,751 28,078
Other liabilities 20 484 1,263

Total liabilities 487,883 463,718

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Capital 2,500 2,500
Reserves 21 42,469 58,438

Total capital and reserves 44,969 60,938

Total liabilities, capital and reserves 532,852 524,656
The notes on pages 153 to 197 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Supervisory Council 
of the Bank of Albania and signed on 28 March 2018 on its behalf by:

___________________________________
Gent Sejko

Governor

____________________________________
Ledia Bregu

Head of Payment Systems and Accounting 
and Finance Department
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

In ALL million Note 2017 2016

Interest  income 22 2,731 2,494
Interest expense 22 (806) (737)
Net interest income 1,925 1,757

Fee and commission income 75 69
Fee and commission expense (48) (56)
Net income from fees and commissions 27 13

Net trading income 23 767 1,036
Other revenues 24 568 480
Net (loss)/gain from changes in the fair value of monetary gold 9 (225) 754
Net foreign exchange losses 21 (15,022) (1,720)
Total revenue (11,960) 2,320

Employee benefit expenses 25 (1,306) (1,238)
Depreciation and amortization 14 (455) (488)
Other general and administrative expenses (611) (652)
Net loss (14,332) (58)

Other comprehensive income:
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial assets) 21 (736) (464)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (736) (464) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year (15,068) (522)

The notes on pages 153 to 197 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

In ALL million Note 2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss (14,332) (58)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 14 455 488 
Net interest income 22 (1,925) (1,757)
Net trading income 23 (767) (1,036)
Profit from sale of available-for-sale investment securities 24 (533) (470)
Net loss/(gain) from changes in the fair value of monetary gold 9 225 (754) 
Provisions 20 25 83 

(16,852) (3,504)
Changes in:
Held-for-trading assets  2,708 709
Accounts with the International Monetary Fund  1,950 (9,280)
Loans to banks  (9,937) (16,947)
Other assets  (35) (57) 
Currency in circulation  15,864 19,630
Due to banks  (5,717) 9,385
Deposits and borrowings from third parties  723 (51) 
Due to Government and state institutions  15,411 (7,372)
Due to the International Monetary Fund  (1,327) 9,367 
Other liabilities  (805) 613

1,983 2,493
Interest received 3,287 2,650
Interest paid (770) (737)
Net cash generated from operating activities 4,500 4,406

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment securities (267,399) (274,117)
Proceeds from sold and matured investment securities 320,158 282,983
Acquisition of property, equipment and intangible assets (76) (164)
Net cash generated from investing activities 52,683 8,702

Cash flows from financing activities
Distributions to Government 19 (908) (1,095)
Net cash used in financing activities (908) (1,095)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 56,275 12,013
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 105,490 93,477 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 161,765 105,490 

The notes on pages 153 to 197 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements as of and for 
the year ended 31 December 2017 

(Amounts in ALL million, unless otherwise stated)

1.	 GENERAL

The Bank of Albania (the ‘Bank’) is the central bank of the Republic of Albania 
established pursuant to the Law No. 8269, dated 23 December 1997 ‘On 
the Bank of Albania’, amended. 

Under the terms of its charter, the Bank’s main responsibilities include:

•	 formulating, adopting and executing the monetary policy of Albania, 
which shall be consistent with its primary objective;

•	 formulating, adopting and executing the foreign exchange arrangement 
and the exchange rate policy of Albania;

•	 issuing or revoking licenses and supervising banks that engage in the 
banking business in order to secure the stability of the banking system;

•	 holding and managing its official foreign reserves;
•	 acting as banker and adviser to, and as fiscal agent of, the Government 

of the Republic of Albania; and
•	 promoting an effective operation of payment systems.

The Bank is subject to the regulatory requirements of the Assembly of the 
Republic of Albania and the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’.

2.	 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 

3.	 Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except for the following items:

Items Basis of measurement 
Derivative financial instruments Fair value
Non-derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss Fair value
Available-for-sale financial assets Fair value

4.	F unctional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Albanian Lek (‘Lek’), which is the 
Bank’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest 
million, except when otherwise indicated.
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5.	Us e of estimates and judgments 

When preparing the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs, the Bank 
makes judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities for the following financial year. Estimates and judgments 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under certain circumstances.

These disclosures supplement the commentary on financial instruments (see note 
7).

(a)	 Judgments 

Information about critical judgments made in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements is included in the following notes:

•	 Note 17. Currency in circulation: The Bank has classified cash in 
circulation as a financial liability; and

•	 Note 9. Monetary gold: The Bank has valued monetary gold at fair 
value. Changes in the fair value are recognized in profit or loss.

(b)	A ssumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant 
risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the next financial year is set out 
below in relation to the impairment of financial instruments and determination 
of the fair value of financial instruments.

(i)	 Impairment of financial instruments 

Assets accounted for at amortized cost and available-for-sale assets are 
evaluated for impairment on a basis described in the accounting policy 6.a.(vii). 
The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment 
applies to financial assets evaluated individually for impairment and is based 
upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are 
expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes 
judgments about the counterparty’s financial situation and the net realizable 
value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its 
merits, and an estimate of cash flows considered recoverable is independently 
approved. 

(ii)	 Determining fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in 
active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 
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For all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using other 
valuation techniques. 

For financial instruments that are traded infrequently and have little price 
transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of 
judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, 
pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

Measurement of fair values

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. 

•	 Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical instruments. 

•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for 
identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than 
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are 
directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

•	 Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all 
instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs not based 
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant 
effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments 
that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which 
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to 
reflect differences between the instruments.

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at end 
of the reporting period, during which the change has occurred.

For more information on the determination of the fair value of financial instruments 
see Note 7.e. Financial instruments: risk management and fair values.

6.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these financial statements.

(a)	F inancial assets and liabilities

(i)	 Recognition

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances on the date on which they 
are originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases 
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and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the 
date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for 
an item not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to its acquisition or issue.

(ii)	 Classification

Financial assets

The Bank classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories: 

•	 available-for-sale; 
•	 loans and receivables; and
•	 at fair value through profit or loss.

See c., d., e., f., and g. 

Financial liabilities 

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost. See 
b. and h. 

(iii)	 Derecognition 

Financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive 
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 
Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

On the derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the 
asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including 
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) 
is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank is recognised 
as a separate asset or liability. 

Financial liabilities 
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The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled, or expire. 

(iv)	 Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented 
in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Bank has a 
legal right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net 
basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under 
the IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions 
such as in the Bank’s trading activity. 

(v)	 Amortised cost measurement 

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at 
which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition, 
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using 
the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount 
recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

(vi)	 Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 
market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability 
reflects its non-performance risk. 

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the 
quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as 
active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency 
and volume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis. If there is 
no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques 
that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the 
factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. 
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition 
is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given 
or received. If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition 
differs from the transaction price and the fair value is neither evidenced by a 
quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based 
on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then 
the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the 
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. 
Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate 
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basis over the life of the instrument, but no later than when the valuation is 
wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, 
then the Bank measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities 
and short positions at an ask price. 

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on 
demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required 
to be paid. 

The Bank recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of 
the end of the reporting period, during which the change has occurred. 

(vii)	 Identification and measurement of impairment 

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired.
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is ‘impaired’ when objective 
evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset(s) and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of 
the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes: 

•	 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
•	 default or delinquency by a borrower; 
•	 indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy; 
•	 disappearance of an active market for a security; or 
•	 observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes 

in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.

Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost are calculated as the 
difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance 
account against loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments. Interest 
on the impaired assets continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the 
discount. If an event occurring after the impairment was recognized causes the 
amount of impairment loss to decrease, then the decrease in impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognized by 
reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity to profit 
or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the 
difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and 
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amortization, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognized in profit or loss. Changes in impairment attributable to application 
of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt 
security increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss; otherwise, any increase in fair value is 
recognized through the OCI. 

The Bank writes off a loan or an investment debt security, either partially or in 
full, and any related allowance for impairment losses, when it determines that 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

(viii)	 Securities lending agreements

Investments lent under securities lending agreements are reported in the statement 
of financial position and are valued in accordance with the accounting policies 
applicable to assets held for trading and assets available-for-sale. Investments 
lent under securities lending agreements continue to be recognised in the Bank’s 
statement of financial position. The Bank receives cash or securities collateral for 
such lending. Income arising from the securities lending agreements is reported 
as interest income.

(b)	C urrency in circulation

Currency in circulation includes banknotes and coins in circulation and is 
presented under liabilities by deducting the nominal value of the banknotes and 
coins on hand from the nominal value of all the banknotes and coins issued.

(c)	C ash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents include banknotes and coins on hand in foreign 
currency and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three 
months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of 
its short-term commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of 
financial position.

(d)	T rading assets and liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities that the Bank 
acquires or incurs principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term, or holds as part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-term 
profit or position taking.
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Trading assets and liabilities are initially recognized and subsequently 
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, with transaction 
costs recognized in profit or loss. All changes in fair value are recognised as 
part of net trading income in profit or loss. Trading assets and liabilities are not 
reclassified after their initial recognition. 

General information on the derivative instruments, which comprise future and 
forward contracts, is disclosed in Note 7 (d).

(e)	A vailable-for-sale investment securities

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct 
transaction costs.

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated 
as available-for-sale or are not classified as another category of financial assets. 
Available-for-sale investments comprise debt securities. All other available-for-
sale investments are measured at fair value after initial recognition.

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
Foreign exchange gains or losses on available-for-sale debt security investments 
are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or 
loss (see a. (vii)). 

Other fair value changes, other than impairment losses (see a. (vii)), are 
recognized in OCI and presented in the revaluation (fair value) reserve within 
equity. When the investment is sold, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

(f)	L oans and receivables

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the Bank does not 
intend to sell immediately or in the near term. Loans and advances to banks and 
loans to employees are classified as loans and receivables. 

Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct 
transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an 
agreement to resell the asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed price 
on a future date (reverse repo), the arrangement is accounted for as a loan or 
advance, and the underlying asset is not recognized in the Bank’s financial 
statements.
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(g)	 Monetary gold

Monetary gold is valued at its fair value being the market value based on 
the official London Bullion Market price at the reporting date. Changes in the 
fair value are recognized in profit or loss and then transferred from retained 
earnings to the revaluation reserve in accordance with Article 64 (a) of the Law 
‘On the Bank of Albania’.

(h)	 Deposits and borrowings

Deposits and borrowings are initially measured at fair value minus incremental 
direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

(i)	P rinting and minting costs

Freshly printed banknotes and minted coins, which have not yet been put into 
circulation, are recognized as assets at acquisition cost. The costs of printing 
banknotes and minting coins are deferred and amortized over 5 years and 10 
years, from the date of recognition, respectively.

(j)	I ntangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Bank and the cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are comprised of computer 
software.

Intangible assets acquired by the Bank are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditure on software is capitalised only when it increases the 
future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All 
other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the software, from the date that it is available for use. 
The estimated useful life of a software product is two years. Work in progress 
is not amortized.

(k)	P roperty and equipment 

(i)	 Recognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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(ii)	 Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property or equipment is recognized in 
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs 
of the day-to-day maintenance of property and equipment are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.

(iii)	 Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Land, 
work in progress, and numismatic coins and objects are not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

•	 Buildings 40 - 70 years
•	 Installations 4 – 20 years 
•	 Vehicles 5 - 10 years
•	 Furniture and equipment 3 - 20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the 
reporting date.

(l)	 Interest 

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective 
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset or financial liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to 
the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees 
and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) include:

•	 interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost calculated on an effective interest basis; and

•	 interest on available-for-sale investment securities calculated on an 
effective interest basis.
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Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are considered 
to be incidental to the Bank’s trading operations and are presented together 
with all other changes in the fair value of trading assets and liabilities in net 
trading income (see accounting policy (o)).

(m)	F ees and commissions 

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective 
interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of 
the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, fund 
transfer fees, placement fees and credit registry fees are recognised as the 
related services are performed.

Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service 
fees, which are expensed as the services are received.

(n)	T ransactions in foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at 
the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that 
date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference 
between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the 
year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the 
amortised cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at 
the end of the year. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate 
at the date when the fair value is determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences 
arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

According to the Law No. 8269, dated 23 December 1997 ‘On the Bank 
of Albania’ and the Decision No. 104 dated 27 December 2006 of the 
Supervisory Council, the net gains/(losses) from foreign exchange that are 
initially recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, are then 
transferred from retained earnings to the ‘Revaluation reserve’ included in 
Capital and Reserves. According to Article 64 (b) the above mentioned law, 
the Government of Albania issues debt securities at market interest rates to cover 
any negative balance of the revaluation reserve arising from the Bank’s activity. 
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(o)	N et trading income

Net trading income comprises gains and losses related to trading assets and 
liabilities, and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest, 
and foreign exchange differences.

(p)	I ncome from other financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss

Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
relates to financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss. It 
includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange 
differences.

(q)	T axation and profit distribution policy of the Bank

Based on the law ‘On the Bank of Albania’ the Bank is not subject to income 
tax.

The Bank’s policy of distribution of profit from banking operations is defined in 
the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’. According to Article 10(2) of this Law, the 
Bank allocates all the realised profit to the State Budget after having fulfilled its 
requirement for the reserve fund pursuant to the Law and as determined by the 
Supervisory Council of the Bank.

According to Article 11 of the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’, no transfer, 
redemption or payment under Articles 8, 9 or 10 of this Law shall be made 
if the assets of the Bank are less than the sum of its liabilities and paid-up 
capital. If such conditions arise, based on Article 7 of the Law ‘On the Bank 
of Albania’, the Ministry of Finance shall transfer interest bearing negotiable 
government securities to the Bank, in such amount as would be necessary to 
remedy the deficiency.

(r)	E mployee benefits

(i)	 Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the 
related service is provided and recognised as personnel expenses in profit or 
loss. Defined contribution plans include voluntary and compulsory contribution 
plans.

The Bank makes compulsory social security contributions that provide pension 
benefits for employees upon retirement. The local authorities are responsible 
for providing the legal minimum threshold set for pensions in Albania under a 
defined contribution pension plan. 
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(ii)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Bank is 
demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal 
detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, 
or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are 
recognized if the Bank has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is 
probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can 
be estimated reliably.

(iii)	 Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted 
basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is 
recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if 
the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as 
a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

(s)	O perating leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are 
recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 
lease.

(t)	I mpairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the highest of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if a change has occurred in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
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that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized.

(u)	P rovisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present 
legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as 
finance cost.

(v)	N ew standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new Standards, amendments to Standards and Interpretations are 
not yet mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2017, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The 
Bank plans to adopt these pronouncements when they become effective. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with 
early adoption permitted. It replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement.

The Bank will apply IFRS 9 for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2018. 
Based on assessments undertaken to date, the total estimated adjustment of the 
adoption of IFRS 9 on the opening balance of the Bank’s equity at 1 January 
2018 is not expected to be material.

The assessment undertaken to date covers both the classification and 
measurement and an estimation of the impairment (expected credit losses) that 
should be recognized under the new standard and it is preliminary, because 
not all transition work has been finalised. The actual impact of adopting IFRS 9 
on 1 January 2018 may change because:

—	 IFRS 9 will require the Bank to revise its accounting processes and 
internal controls and these changes are not yet complete;

—	 the Bank is refining and finalising its models for expected credit loss 
(“ECL”) calculations; and

—	 the new accounting policies, assumptions, judgements and estimation 
techniques employed are subject to change until the Bank finalises its 
first financial statements that include the date of initial application.
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(i)	 Classification and measurement – Financial assets

IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial 
assets that reflects the business model in which assets are managed and their 
cash flow characteristics. The Standard includes three principal classification 
categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, measured at fair 
value through OCI (FVOCI) and measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). The Standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to 
maturity, loans and receivables and available–for- sale.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

—	 it is held within a business model, whose objective is to hold assets to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

—	 its contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding.

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following 
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

—	 it is held within a business model, whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

—	 its contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount 
outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the 
Bank may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in 
OCI. This election is made on an investment by investment basis. All financial 
assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described 
above are measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may 
irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to 
be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if so doing eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The standard will affect the classification and measurement of financial assets 
held as at 1 January 2018 as follows:

—	 Debt investment securities classified as available-for-sale and measured 
at FVOCI under IAS 39 will, in general, be also measured at FVOCI 
under IFRS 9. The Bank has assessed that these assets are held within 
business models, whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and the cash flows 
relating to the assets comprise solely payments of principal and interest 
(SPPI).
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—	 Debt investment securities classified as held-for-trading and measured 
at FVTPL under IAS 39 will continue to be measured at FVPL under IFRS 
9. The Bank has assessed that these assets are held within a business 
model, whose objective is achieved by security trading. 

—	 For cash and cash equivalents comprising current accounts and short-
term deposits with banks, measured at amortised cost under IAS 39, 
the Bank is still in the process of finalizing the assessment as to the most 
appropriate classification and measurement of these financial assets 
under IFRS 9.

—	 Loans to commercial banks and to employees, classified as loans and 
receivables and measured at amortized cost under IAS 39, will, in 
general, also be measured at amortized cost under IFRS 9.

—	 For financial assets included in accounts with IMF, classified as loans 
and receivable and measured at amortised cost under IAS 39, the 
Bank is still in the process of finalizing the assessment as to the most 
appropriate classification and measurement of these assets under IFRS 
9. 

(ii)	 Impairment – Financial assets

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking 
‘expected credit loss’ model. This will require considerable judgement over 
how changes in economic factors affect ECLs, which will be determined on a 
probability-weighted basis.

The new impairment model will apply to financial assets not measured at 
FVTPL. Under IFRS 9, no impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 
The impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are complex and require management 
judgements, estimates and assumptions, particularly in the following areas:

—	 assessing whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition; and 

—	 incorporating forward-looking information into the measurement of 
ECLs.

The Bank has drafted the general criteria for defining default and significant 
increase in credit risk and further refining is necessary to adapt staging criteria 
to each portfolio of assets.

IFRS 9 requires a loss allowance to be recognised at an amount equal to either 
12-month ECLs or lifetime ECLs. Lifetime ECLs are those that result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument, whereas 
12-month ECLs are those that result from default events that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date.

The Bank will recognise loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs 
in the following cases:
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—	 debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at 
the reporting date. The Bank considers a debt security to have low credit 
risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood 
definition of ‘investment-grade’; and

—	 other financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition.

In other cases, the Bank will recognize loss allowances at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECLs.

The key inputs into the measurement of ECLs are likely to be the following 
parameters:

—	 probability of default (PD) 
—	 loss given default (LGD) 
—	 exposure at default (EAD). 

These parameters will be derived from internally developed statistical models 
and other historical data that leverage regulatory models. They will be adjusted 
to reflect forward-looking information. 

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which will be calculated based 
on statistical rating models and assessed using rating tools tailored to the 
various categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models 
will be based on internally compiled data comprising both quantitative and 
qualitative factors. Where it is available, market data may also be used to 
derive the PD for sovereign and non-sovereign counterparties. If a counterparty 
or exposure migrates between rating classes, then this will lead to a change 
in the estimate of the associated PD. PDs will be estimated considering the 
contractual maturities of exposures. 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank will 
estimate LGD parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims 
against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models will consider the structure, 
collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any 
collateral that is integral to the financial asset.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The EAD of a 
financial asset will be the gross carrying amount at default.

For portfolios in respect of which the Bank has limited historical data, external 
benchmark information will be used to supplement the internally available data. 
The portfolios for which external benchmark information represents a significant 
input into measurement of ECLs include international reserves and government 
securities.
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The main impact on the Bank’s financial statements from the implementation of 
IFRS 9 is expected to result from the new impairment requirements. Although 
the Bank has not yet completed its final assessment, the assessment of the Bank 
to date is that, on the adoption of IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018, the impact of the 
new impairment requirements is not expected to be material.

IFRS 9 incorporates the requirements of IAS 39 for the derecognition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities without substantive amendments. 

(iii)	 Transition

Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will generally be recognised in retained 
earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. 

If a debt investment security has low credit risk at 1 January 2018, then the Bank 
will determine that the credit risk on the asset has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition. 

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance and introduces a single, on-balance 
sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use 
asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability 
representing its obligation to make lease payments. There are recognition 
exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. The Standard is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with early 
adoption permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15 at or before the date of initial 
application of IFRS 16.

The Bank does not expect that the new standard, when initially applied, will have 
a material impact on its financial statements. The current lease arrangements 
of the Bank expire on 31 December 2018. The actual impact of applying 
IFRS 16 on the financial statements in the period of initial application will 
depend on the composition of the Bank’s lease portfolio at that date, the Bank’s 
latest assessment of whether it will exercise any lease renewal options, and the 
extent to which the Bank chooses to use practical expedients and recognition 
exemptions. A more detailed assessment will be made in the following period.

Other standards and interpretations

The following new or amended standards and interpretations are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements:

—	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
—	 Annual Improvements to IFRS: 2014-2016 Cycle – Amendments to 

IFRS 1 and IAS 28
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—	 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 
(Amendments to IFRS 2)

—	 Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40)
—	 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 

Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)
—	 IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
—	 IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
—	 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to 

IFRS 9)
—	 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 

28)
—	 Annual Improvements to IFRS 2015-2017 Cycle – Amendments to IFRS 

3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23
—	 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19).

7.	FINANCIAL  INSTRUMENTS: RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES 

(a)	 Risk management framework

The financial instruments of the Bank are mainly used for the purposes of 
the foreign reserve management. The significance of risk is assessed within 
the context of the foreign reserve management. The Bank has exposure to 
the liquidity risk, credit risk, market risk, legal risk and operational risk from 
investments in financial instruments and manages such risks in the framework of 
the foreign reserve management. 

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above 
risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing 
risk.

Pursuant to the legal requirements, the Bank holds and manages the foreign 
reserves of the Republic of Albania. The Supervisory Council has the overall 
responsibility for the establishment of the risk management framework and reserve 
management policies. The Supervisory Council has approved the regulation ‘On 
the functions of the management structure in the decision-making process of the 
management of the reserves’. This regulation defines the responsibilities of the 
management, the Supervisory Council, the Governor, the Investment Committee, 
and the Monetary Operations Department, in managing the foreign reserves. 
The Supervisory Council is responsible for approving the regulation ‘On the 
policy and management of the foreign reserve’, the Investment Committee is 
responsible for approving the ‘Operational Procedure of Investment’ document, 
while the Governor approves other guidelines to ensure a more comprehensive 
regulation of the reserve management function. The regulation ‘On the policy 
and management of the foreign reserve’ defines the objectives of the portfolio 
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management ranked by priority, and the principles and qualitative criteria 
used as the basis of the financial risk management. The Investment Committee 
approves the quantitative criteria based on the limits set forth by the Supervisory 
Council and monitors the compliance with the restrictions for permitted level of 
risk and foreign reserve investment portfolio performance.  

In accordance with the decisions of the Supervisory Council on the eligible 
instruments, the reserve is invested in fixed or floating income securities, in 
deposits or certificates of deposit, and in derivative instruments. The remaining 
foreign reserves are held in SDR and in monetary gold. Monetary gold is 
managed in accordance with the regulation ‘On the policy and the management 
of gold’, approved by the Supervisory Council. Following the review of the 
accounting policy for monetary gold (see Notes 5(a) and 6(g)) in 2016, the 
Bank concluded that monetary gold is not a financial instrument.

(b)	L iquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that: a) the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities in due time; and b) the Bank 
will not be able to sell a financial instrument within a specific time frame without 
causing significant loss compared to the market value. Liquidity is amongst the 
primary objectives of the foreign reserve management and is defined as the 
goal to insure the availability at all times of sufficient funds to meet the liquidity 
needs associated with: 

—	 implementing the monetary policy and the exchange rate policy of the 
Bank; and

—	 maintaining financial stability and meeting the needs of the country in 
periods of crisis.

The implementation of these objectives is performed through the breakdown 
of the foreign reserve in certain tranches that, within the context of a prudent 
management of the liquidity risk, serve specific purposes and carry specific 
features. 

The foreign currency liability tranche represents investments in assets that are 
financed by the liabilities in foreign currency, which are mainly composed by 
the funds deposited by commercial banks as part of the reserve requirement 
and by the government. 

The net reserve is composed of: 

1.	 the working capital tranche: designed to meet the monthly liquidity 
needs arising within one month; 

2.	 the liquidity tranche: designed to meet the liquidity needs arising within 
one year; 

3.	 the investment tranche: it represents the remaining balance as surplus and 
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is designed to meet the liquidity needs arising beyond the timeframes 
described in the first two tranches. 

The amount and currency composition of the tranches is determined based 
on the needs to use such tranches. The selection of the financial instruments in 
which the majority of each tranche is invested, (the ‘benchmark portfolios’) and 
the duration of each benchmark portfolio are determined in line with the use 
of each tranche to meet the liquidity needs of the Bank. Although the overall 
reserve is invested in highly liquid instruments, the first and the second tranches 
described above are invested in highly liquid short-term sovereign issues with 
high credit rating.

The tables below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the Bank’s 
financial liabilities and financial assets. The Bank’s expected cash flows on 
these instruments may vary from the contractual cash flows. 

31 December 2017 (In ALL million) Up to  1 
month 

From 1 to 
3 months 

From 3 to 
6 months  

From 6 
months to 

1 year

From 1 to 
5 years 

Over 5 
years 

Undefined 
maturity    Total

Financial assets                
Non-derivative assets
Cash and cash equivalents 159,375 2,390 -  - - - - 161,765
Trading assets 112 557 914 2,630 9,950 - - 14,163
Account with the IMF 18,437 - - - - - 23,296 41,733
Loans to banks 30,519 9,352 - - - - - 39,871
Available-for-sale investment securities 16,777 30,039 47,465 51,636 96,515 2,943 - 245,375
Other assets (note 15) - - - - - 1,712 - 1,712

225,220 42,338 48,379 54,266 106,465 4,655 23,296 504,619
Derivative assets
Foreign exchange forwards 77 77
Total financial assets 225,220 42,415 48,379 54,266 106,465 4,655 23,296 504,696
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative liabilities
Currency in circulation  - - - - - - 274,685 274,685
Due to banks 146,635 - - - - - - 146,635
Deposits and borrowings from third 
parties 4,033 - - - - - - 4,033

Due to Government and state institu-
tions 33,894 - 901 - - - 500 35,295

Due to the IMF 19,260 35 19 70 35 - 7,332 26,751
Other liabilities 56 - - - - - - 56
Total financial liabilities 203,878 35 920 70 35 - 282,517 487,455

Asset-liability maturity mismatch as at 
31 December 2017 21,342 42,380 47,459 54,196 106,430 4,655 (259,221) 17,241
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31 December 2016 (In ALL million) Up to  1 
month 

From 1 to 
3 months 

From 3 to 
6 months  

From 6 
months to 

1 year

From 1 to 
5 years 

Over 5 
years 

Undefined 
maturity    Total

Financial assets                
Non-derivative assets
Cash and cash equivalents 94,459 10,661 370 - - - - 105,490
Trading assets 387 644 790 3,679 10,683 - - 16,183
Account with the IMF 19,688 - - - - - 23,995 43,683
Loans to banks 24,155 5,779 - - - - - 29,934
Available-for-sale investment securities 21,769 38,264 34,237 57,021 139,755 7,884 - 298,930
Other assets (note 15) - - - - - 1,718 - 1,718
Total financial assets 160,458 55,348 35,397 60,700 150,438 9,602 23,995 495,938
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative liabilities
Currency in circulation  - - - - - - 258,821 258,821
Due to banks 152,352 - - - - - - 152,352
Deposits and borrowings from third 
parties 3,310 - - - - - - 3,310

Due to Government and state institu-
tions 18,484 - 908 - - - 500 19,892

Due to the IMF 19,619 77 21 153 230 - 7,978 28,078
Other liabilities 78 - - - - - - 78

193,843 77 929 153 230 - 267,299 462,531
Derivative liabilities

Interest rate futures 2 - - - - - - 2

Total financial liabilities 193,845 77 929 153 230 - 267,299 462,533
Asset-liability maturity mismatch as at 
31 December 2016 (33,387) 55,271 34,468 60,547 150,208 9,602 (243,304) 33,405

(c)	C redit risk 

For the purpose of the foreign reserve management, the credit risk is the risk 
of financial loss to the Bank, if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans 
and advances to other banks and investment securities. For risk management 
reporting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of credit 
risk exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk). 
The management of this risk is an important objective in the process of the 
foreign exchange reserve management. 

The risk in respect of changes in value in trading assets arising from changes 
in market credit spreads applied to debt securities and derivatives included in 
trading assets is managed as a component of market risk; for further details, 
see (d) below.

(i)	 Settlement risk 

Foreign reserve management activity may give rise to risk at the time of 
settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to 
the failure of an entity to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or 
other assets as contractually agreed. The Bank minimizes settlement risk through 
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implementation of best practices for the recognition and ongoing monitoring of 
settlement procedures and conditions.

(ii)	 Custody risk 

Custody risk is the risk of a loss of assets placed in custody in the case of 
insolvency, negligence, fraud, mismanagement or inadequate portfolio 
maintenance practices by the custodian. The Bank minimizes this risk by selecting 
for securities’ custody services reputable international financial institutions with a 
minimum of USD 1,000 billion in assets under custody. 

(iii)	 Management of credit risk

The Supervisory Council has established base criteria of exposure to 
counterparties, and by type of investment, issuer, credit rating band, market 
liquidity, with the governments and central banks issues prioritized. The evaluation 
and monitoring process of the credit rating of the eligible issuers is based on the 
analysis and the rating determined by the principal rating agencies, including 
Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch, as well as in the reviewing processes, 
on a daily basis, of the performance of several market indicators of the quality 
of the credit rating of the issuer. In accordance with the limits imposed by 
the Supervisory Council, the Investment Committee is authorized to establish 
other qualitative and/or quantitative limits on the exposure level for the issuer/
financial institution on an individual basis, category, or combined category 
and instrument basis. Depending on the market environment and conditions, 
the Bank may decide to adapt even more conservative limits for an issuer/
financial institution. 

The investment of the foreign exchange reserve is limited to: government/
central bank issues with minimum credit ratings of A- and BBB- for governments 
of the euro area; sovereign agencies, multilateral institutions, public entities 
with a minimum credit rating of AA-; and banks and other financial institutions 
with a minimum credit rating of AA-. The credit rating refers to the credit rating 
of an issuer/financial institution, and if such rating is not provided, the credit 
rating of the long-term debt of the financial institution is used. For the purpose of 
the reserve management operations and for payments, the Bank may operate 
through current accounts opened with banks with a minimum credit rating of 
BBB. 

The loans to the local banks are collateralized by treasury bills issued by the 
Albanian Government.

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of the financial assets that are 
exposed to credit risk as at 31 December 2017 and 2016:
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Assets 2017 2016
(In ALL million)
Accounts and deposits with financial institutions (note 8) 161,747 105,466
Accounts with the IMF (see below) 11,105 11,719
Loans to banks 39,871 29,934
Trading assets 14,240 16,183
Available-for-sale investment securities 245,375 298,930
Other assets (note 15) 1,712 1,718
Total 474,050 463,950

An amount of ALL 7,332 million (2016: ALL 7,978 million), which is included 
in the SDR Holdings with the IMF (see Note 10) does not represent credit risk 
for the Bank, since it represents the counter-account of the amounts acquired 
through the SDR allocations. Only the amount of holdings above allocations of 
ALL 11,105 million (2016: ALL 11,719 million) is included in the assets, which 
represent credit risk.

A segregation of the financial assets by geography is set out below: 

31 December 2017
(In ALL million) Germany France Other EU 

countries 
Switzer-

land

United 
States of 
America 

Republic 
of Albania Other Total 

Accounts and deposits with finan-
cial institutions (Note 8) 5,632 122,246 6,372 8,657 10,106 3 8,731 161,747

Trading assets 3,307 967 2,441 - 7,227 77 221 14,240
Accounts with the IMF - - - - - 11,105 11,105
Loans to banks - - - - - 39,871 - 39,871
Available-for-sale investment 
securities 13,271 25,516 91,351 269 53,009 52,719 9,240 245,375

Other assets (Note 15) - - - - - - 1,712 1,712
Total 22,210 148,729 100,164 8,926 70,342 92,670 31,009 474,050

31 December 2016
(In ALL million) Germany France Other EU 

countries 
Switzer-

land

United 
States of 
America 

Republic 
of Albania Other Total 

Accounts and deposits with finan-
cial institutions (Note 8) 416 44,143 11,361 39,594 9,949 3 - 105,466

Trading assets 2,714 1,216 3,039 - 8,959 - 255 16,183
Accounts with the IMF - - - - - 11,719 11,719
Loans to banks - - - - - 29,934 - 29,934
Available-for-sale investment 
securities 27,426 25,741 131,059 4,833 48,796 53,235 7,840 298,930

Other assets (Note 15) - - - - - - 1,718 1,718
Total 30,556 71,100 145,459 44,427 67,704 83,172 21,532 463,950
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A segregation of the financial assets by counterparty type is set out below: 

31 December 2017
(In ALL million)

Accounts and de-
posits with financial 

institutions

Trading 
assets

Accounts 
with the 

IMF 

Loans to 
banks 

Available-
for-sale 

investments 
securities

 Other 
assets Total

Central Bank 146,869 - 11,105 - - - 157,974
Bank for International Settle-
ments (“BIS Basel”) 7,330 - - - 269 - 7,599

Foreign governments and 
multilateral institutions 111 8,125 - - 150,552 - 158,788

Foreign agencies - 6,038 - - 25,303 - 31,341
Commercial Banks 7,437 - - 39,871 16,532 - 63,840
Albanian Government  - 77 - - 52,719 - 52,796
Other - - - - - 1,712 1,712
Total 161,747 14,240 11,105 39,871 245,375 1,712 474,050

31 December 2016
(In ALL million)

Accounts and de-
posits with financial 

institutions

Trading
assets

Accounts 
with the 

IMF

Loans to 
banks 

Available- 
for-sale 

investment 
securities

 Other 
assets Total

Central Bank 55,696 - 11,719 - - - 67,415
BIS Basel 32,841 - - - 4,833 - 37,674
Foreign governments and 
multilateral institutions - 10,755 - - 171,844 - 182,599

Foreign agencies 5,428 - - 53,497 - 58,925
Commercial Banks 16,929 - - 29,934 15,521 - 62,384
Albanian Government  - - - - 53,235 - 53,235
Other - - - - - 1,718 1,718
Total 105,466 16,183 11,719 29,934 298,930 1,718 463,950

An analysis of concentration of the credit risk by quality of credit rating is shown 
below: 

Credit Risk 
31 December 2017
(In ALL million)

Accounts 
and de-

posits with 
financial 

institutions

Investment 
securities 

 Special 
Drawing 

Rights 
(SDR)**

Loans to 
banks 

and other 
assets 

Total 

AAA 6,645 94,062    - - 100,707
AA 141,548 81,012    - - 222,560
A 5,907 17,793    - - 23,700
BBB 314 13,683    - - 13,997
B+* 3    52,796    - - 52,799
BIS Basel 7,330 269    - - 7,599
Unrated - - 11,105 41,583 52,688
Total 161,747 259,615    11,105 41,583 474,050
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Credit Risk
31 December 2016
(In ALL million)

Accounts 
and de-

posits with 
financial 

institutions

Investment 
securities 

 Special 
Drawing 

Rights 
(SDR)

Loans to 
banks 

and other 
assets

Total 

AAA 6,752 65,422 - - 72,174
AA 58,800 152,968 - - 211,768
A 6,654 19,179 - - 25,833
BBB 415 19,476 - - 19,891
B+* 3 53,235 - - 53,238
BIS Basel 32,842 4,833 - - 37,675
Unrated - - 11,719 31,652 43,371
Total 105,466 315,113 11,719 31,652 463,950

	 The credit ratings included above show the second best rating amongst Standard & Poor’s, 
Moody’s and Fitch. 

*) 	The Albanian Government is rated as B+, stable, based on the credit rating of Standard & 
Poor’s and Ba2, stable, based on the credit rating of Moody`s. 

**) The currency value of the SDR is determined by summing the values in the US dollar, based 
on market exchange rates, of a basket of major currencies (US dollar, euro, Japanese yen, 
and pound sterling). The SDR currency value is calculated daily and the valuation basket is 
reviewed and adjusted every five years.

(d)	 Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity 
prices, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in 
the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing) will affect the Bank of Albania’s income 
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.

The key elements of price risk affecting the Bank are:

•	 Interest rate risk associated with fluctuations in the fair value of financial 
instruments due to changes in market interest rates; and

•	 Currency risk associated with fluctuations in the fair value of financial 
instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Bank’s exposure to currency risk is monitored on a continual basis. Financial 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are disclosed in the 
relevant notes of the financial statements.

For the purpose of foreign reserve management, function performed by the 
Monetary Operations Department, Supervisory Council has established a set 
of criteria for the currency composition of the foreign reserve, in accordance 
with the objectives of holding the reserves. This serves as a reference for the 
management of the exchange rate risk. As a result, the Bank is passive in the 
management of the exchange rate risk. The Investment Committee defines a set 
of narrow ranges of the currency composition of some of the tranches of the 
foreign exchange reserve. The limits are monitored by the Monetary Operations 
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Department, which carries out the necessary rebalancing operations in order to 
preserve the required weights of the currencies’ composition.

i)	 Interest rate risk

The Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations, which 
affect the prices of interest-earning assets (including investments) and interest-
bearing liabilities. 

The Monetary Operations Department of the Bank monitors the interest rate risk. 
The Bank mitigates such risks by maintaining a significant excess of interest-
bearing assets over liabilities. The Bank maintains a portfolio of interest-bearing 
financial assets and liabilities such that the net interest income is significantly 
higher than operating needs, in order to minimize the potential adverse effects 
of interest rate fluctuations. Interest rates applicable to financial assets and 
liabilities are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 

The interest rate risk management, for the purpose of foreign reserve 
management, in its core process includes the selection of the portfolio/duration 
benchmark for each market (currency) in which the foreign reserves are 
held. The benchmark selection is reviewed annually or whenever changes in 
market conditions require a reassessment. Besides determining the benchmark 
portfolio, the Investment Committee, in accordance with the limits imposed by 
the Supervisory Council, determines limits at the tranche level for the additional 
risk factors that can be taken by the portfolio manager specialist during the 
active administration. The limits at portfolio level are established by the Head 
of the Monetary Operations Department.

The principal tools used to measure the interest rate risk for individual portfolios 
within the foreign exchange reserve are Duration and VaR (Value at Risk).

•	 Duration measures the sensitivity of the price of a fixed-income security 
against the volatility of the interest rates in the market.

•	 The VaR is defined as the estimated maximum loss that will arise on a 
portfolio over a specified period of time from its exposure to the risk 
factors with a specified confidence interval.

The Bank uses parametric methods such as the covariance matrix, calculated 
based on the historical changes of the interest rates, weekly data from the last 
three years with a confidence interval of 95%, and weighted methods such as 
Exponentially Weighted Moving Average (EWMA ) to calculate the estimated 
maximum loss from the portfolios for a one-year period. A VaR of 95% (VaR (95%)) 
can be interpreted as the maximum loss in 95% of the cases in a one-year period.

For the purposes of reserve management, the calculated VaR includes only 
the exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates for all positions, including 
benchmark instruments and non-benchmark instruments. 
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For benchmark instruments, the data used encompasses changes in interest 
rates for treasury issues for each currency and for non-benchmark instruments 
the data used encompasses issues rated as AA, given that this rating constitutes 
the major share of non-benchmark instruments of the reserve portfolios.
  
The following is a summary of the VaR (95%) position of the Bank’s portfolios at 
31 December 2017 and 2016: 						    
			 
(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
VaR (95%) in Lek (1,118) (1,832)

Furthermore, an important method to measure market risk is the sensitivity 
analysis of the value of the reserve to hypothetical changes in market factors. 
The data used in the sensitivity analysis calculations include the duration of 
portfolios and weight of each currency. The duration of the portfolio shows 
the degree of change in the market value of the portfolio, assuming a parallel 
shift of the yield curve based on interest rates for all the instruments within the 
portfolio. 

Assuming an immediate parallel increase (decrease) in interest rates by 50 
basis points and 100 basis points and a correlation equal to 1 between the 
curves, and based on the duration of the aggregate foreign exchange reserves, 
the estimated loss (gain) for each scenario is as follows:

Estimated effect on Profit (loss) ALL million 2017 2016
100 bp 50 bp 100 bp 50 bp

Increase (3,085) (1,543) (4,006) (2,003)
Decrease 3,085 1,543 4,006 2,003

Assets and liabilities with variable interest rates carry the risk of changing the 
base that serves to determine interest rates.

The position of the Bank’s sensitivity to interest rate by contractual repricing is 
presented in the following table, showing the carrying amounts of financial 
instruments classified by contractual repricing or maturity date.
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31 December 2017
Total Floating rate 

instruments

Fixed rate instruments Non-interest 
bearing 

instruments(In ALL million) Up to 1 
month

From 1 to 3 
months

Over 3 
months  

Interest-earning assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 161,765 147,175 12,050 2,393 - 147
Trading assets 14,240 1,616 - 77 12,547 -
Accounts with the IMF 41,733 18,437 - - - 23,296
Loans to banks  39,871 - 30,519 9,352 - -
Available-for-sale investment securities 245,375 557 16,777 30,039 198,002 -
Other assets (Note 15) 1,712 - - - 1,712 -
Total 504,696 167,785 59,346 41,861 212,261 23,443

Interest-bearing liabilities 
Currency in circulation 274,685 - - - - 274,685
Due to banks 146,635 - 146,635 - - -
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 4,033 - 3,848 - - 185

Due to Government and state institutions 35,295 500 - - - 34,795

Due to the IMF 26,751 7,447 - - - 19,304
Other liabilities 56 - - - - 56
Total 487,455 7,947 150,483 - - 329,025

Interest-bearing financial instruments gap 17,251 159,838 (91,137) 41,861 212,261 (305,572)

31 December 2016
(In ALL million) Total Floating rate 

instruments

Fixed rate instru Non-interest 
bearing 

instruments
Up to 1 

month
From 1 to 3 

months
Over 3 
months  

Interest-earning assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 105,490 77,659 15,943 10,667 370 851
Trading assets 16,183 1,234 - - 14,949 -
Accounts with the IMF 43,683 19,697 - - - 23,986
Loans to banks  29,934 - 24,155 5,779 - -
Available-for-sale investment securities 298,930 1,960 9,622 14,468 272,880 -
Other assets (Note 15) 1,718 - - - 1,718 -
Total 495,938 100,550 49,720 30,914 289,917 24,837

Interest-bearing liabilities 
Currency in circulation 258,821 - - - - 258,821
Trading liabilities 2 - - - - 2
Due to banks 152,352 - 142,358 - - 9,994
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 3,310 - 3,119 - - 191

Due to Government and state institutions 19,892 500 - - - 19,392

Due to the IMF 28,078 8,292 - - - 19,786
Other liabilities 78 - - - - 78
Total 462,533 8,792 145,477 - - 308,264

Interest-bearing financial instruments gap
Interest-earning assets 33,405 91,758 (95,757) 30,914 289,917 (283,427)

Future contracts

A future contract is a standardized contract to buy or sell a financial or non-
financial asset, at a certain date in the future and at a market determined price. 
To minimize the credit risk, depending on the type of instrument, the investor 
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should post a margin to the clearing house. This margin or performance bond is 
valued every day according to the prices in the market (mark to market), which 
means that every change in value is shown in the account of investor at the end 
of each trading day until the expiry day.

The net fair value of future contracts at 31 December 2017 is nil (2016: ALL 
2 million) (see Note 12).

The nominal value of these contracts as at 31 December 2017 is composed 
by the following:

•	 buy contracts in the amount of ALL million 1,668 (2016: ALL 695 
million); and

•	 sell contracts in the amount of ALL million 2,096 (2016: ALL 1,474 
million).

ii)	 Exchange rate risk 

Exchange rate risk results from the difference between the currency structure of 
assets and liabilities. From an accounting point of view, the Bank is exposed to 
currency risk due to its principal central bank functions.

This risk can affect the size of its capital. In order to manage this type of 
exposure, over the years, action has been taken to increase capital, inflow 
funds and, in exceptional cases, when the value of the revaluation of the foreign 
currencies was negative, debt instruments of the Republic of Albania were 
issued in compliance with the provisions of the law ‘On the Bank of Albania’.

Forward contracts 

Trading derivatives include forward exchange contracts that are entered into 
by the Bank with the Albanian Government. These instruments are not usually 
closed out before contractual maturity.

The fair value of forward contracts at 31 December 2017 is ALL 77 million 
(2016: nil) (see Note 12).

The Bank’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2017 and 31 
December 2016 is as follows:
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31 December 2017 (In ALL million) ALL USD EUR GBP Other Total

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 10,515 137,541 1,528 12,181 161,765
Trading assets - 14,163 75 - 2 14,240
Accounts with the IMF - - - - 41,733 41,733
Loans to banks 39,871 - - - - 39,871
Available-for-sale investment securities 52,718 63,218 114,821 8,708 5,910 245,375
Other assets 1,712 - - - - 1,712
Total assets 94,301 87,896 252,437 10,236 59,826 504,696

Liabilities 
Currency in circulation  274,685 - - - - 274,685
Due to banks 50,838 14,936 80,861 - - 146,635
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 4,027 - 6 - - 4,033
Due to Government and state institutions 22,390 250 11,894 - 761 35,295
Due to the IMF - - - - 26,751 26,751
Other liabilities 23 33 - - - 56
Total liabilities 351,963 15,219 92,761 - 27,512 487,455
Net currency position (257,662) 72,677 159,676 10,236 32,314 17,241

31 December 2016 (In ALL million) ALL USD EUR GBP Other Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 12,876 78,428 1,778 12,408 105,490
Trading assets - 16,183 - - - 16,183
Accounts with the IMF - - - - 43,683 43,683
Loans to banks 29,934 - - - - 29,934
Available-for-sale investment securities 53,235 60,339 171,078 9,446 4,832 298,930
Other assets 1,718 - - - - 1,718
Total assets 84,887 89,398 249,506 11,224 60,923 495,938

Liabilities
Currency in circulation  258,821 - - - - 258,821
Trading liabilities - 2 - - - 2
Due to banks 57,981 14,038 80,333 - - 152,352
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 3,309 - 1 - - 3,310
Due to Government and state institutions 9,088 119 7,281 1 3,403 19,892
Due to the IMF - - - - 28,078 28,078
Other liabilities - 78 - - - 78
Total liabilities 329,199 14,237 87,615 1 31,481 462,533
Net currency position (244,312) 75,161 161,891 11,223 29,442 33,405

(e)	F air value of financial instruments

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow 
models, comparison with similar instruments for which market observable prices 
exist, and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation 
techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and 
other premiums used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, 
foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected 
price volatilities and correlations. 
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The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement 
that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer 
the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. 

The Bank uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the fair 
value of common and more simple financial instruments, such as interest rate 
and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little 
management judgment and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are 
usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities. Availability of 
observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management 
judgment and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with 
determining fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs 
varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based 
on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors, 
such as liquidity risk or model uncertainties, to the extent that the Bank believes 
that a third party market participant would take them into account in pricing 
a transaction. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include 
adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Bank entity and the 
counterparty where appropriate. 

Model inputs and values are calibrated against historical data and published 
forecasts and, where possible, against current or recent observed transactions 
in different instruments and against broker quotes. This calibration process is 
inherently subjective and yields ranges of possible inputs and estimates of fair 
value, and management judgment is required to select the most appropriate 
point in the range.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active 
markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For 
all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using valuation 
techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash 
flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable 
prices exist and other valuation models. The objective of valuation techniques 
is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the financial 
instrument in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the 
fair value of common and more simple financial instruments that use only 
observable market data and require little management judgment and estimation. 
Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the market for 
listed securities, exchange traded derivatives like interest rate futures and 
simple over the counter derivatives. Availability of observable market prices 
and model inputs reduces the need for management judgment and estimation 
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and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination of fair values. 
Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the 
products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and 
general conditions in the financial markets.

Financial instruments measured at fair value – Fair value hierarchy

The following table analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the 
reporting date, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value 
measurement is categorized. The amounts are based on the values recognised 
in the statement of financial position.

31 December 2017 (In ALL million) Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets
Non-derivative trading assets 12 14,163 - - 14,163
Derivative trading assets 12 - - 77 77
Investments in securities 13 180,008 65,367 - 245,375
Total 194,171 65,367 77 259,615

31 December 2016 (In ALL million) Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets
Non-derivative trading assets 12 16,183 - - 16,183
Investments in securities 13 232,149 66,781 - 298,930
Total 248,332 66,781 - 315,113
Trading liabilities
Derivative trading liabilities 12 2 - - 2
Total 2 - - 2

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table sets out the fair values of certain financial instruments not 
measured at fair value by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each 
fair value measurement is categorised.

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Note Fair value 
Level 2

Carrying 
amount

Fair value 
Level 2

Carrying 
amount

2017 2017 2016 2016
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 161,765 161,765 105,490 105,490
Loans to banks  11 39,871 39,871 29,934 29,934
Special Drawing Rights (“SDR”) 
held 10 41,733 41,733 43,683 43,683

Other financial assets 15 1,712 1,712 1,718 1,718
Liabilities
Due to the IMF 10 26,751 26,751 28,078 28,078
Due to banks 17 146,635 146,635 152,352 152,352
Deposits and borrowings from 
third parties 18 4,033 4,033 3,310 3,310

Due to Government and state 
institutions 19 35,295 35,295 19,892 19,892
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(f)	O perational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a variety of 
causes associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and 
infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 
risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of 
the Bank’s operations.

Operational risk management is supported by the internal control systems on 
several activities of the Bank of Albania and standards for the management 
of operational risk and a wide range of common policies, staff management 
regulations and obligatory requirements. 

8. cash and CASH EQUIVALENTS

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Cash 18 24
Current accounts 147,306 78,493
Short-term deposits 14,441 26,973
Total 161,765 105,490

The annual interest rates for short-term deposits are as follows:

In  % EUR USD AUD CNH
31 December 2017 (0.40) 1.46 N/A 3.26 – 3.95
31 December 2016 (0.45) – (0.35) 0.46 1.41 – 1.42 3.35 – 6.45

9. Monetary gold

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Monetary gold 7,291 7,516
Total 7,291 7,516

The monetary gold is placed in time deposits (2016: time deposits and current 
account) with foreign banks.

The decrease of ALL 225 million compared to the previous year (2016: increase 
of ALL 754 million compared to 2015) is a result of valuing the monetary gold 
at the market price at the reporting date, and is initially recognized in profit 
or loss, and subsequently transferred from retained earnings to the revaluation 
reserve (see Note 21).

10. Accounts with/DUE to the international monetary fund (imf)

Accounts with the IMF (In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Quotas with IMF 23,296 23,986
Special Drawing Rights (“SDR”) held 18,437 19,697
Total assets 41,733 43,683
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Due to the IMF (In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
SDR allocations 7,332 7,978
IMF securities account 16,813 17,258
IMF account No.1 2,481 2,524
IMF account No.2 1 1
Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (‘PRGF’) 115 314
Accrued interest 9 3
Total liabilities 26,751 28,078

Quotas with the IMF of ALL 23,296 million or SDR 139 million (2016: ALL 
23,986 million or SDR 139 million) originate from the membership of the 
Republic of Albania in the IMF, according to the Law No.8269, dated 23 
December 1997 ‘On the Bank of Albania’. 

The SDR holdings of ALL 18,437 million or SDR 117 million (2016: ALL 
19,697 million or SDR 115 million) represent deposits with the IMF. The SDR 
holdings bear interest, which is determined on a weekly basis. The interest rate 
at 31 December 2017 is 0.743% p.a. (2016: 0.246% p.a.).

SDR Allocations of ALL 7,332 million or SDR 46 million (2016: ALL 7,978 
million or SDR 46 million) represent amounts borrowed from the IMF with 
two tranches in August and September 2009, whose purpose is to provide 
immediate response to the short-term and long-term liquidity needs of the 
member countries. The SDR Allocations bear interest, which is determined on 
a weekly basis and is payable on a quarterly basis. The interest rate at 31 
December 2017 is 0.743% p.a. (2016: 0.246% p.a.).

The IMF accounts represent liabilities of the Bank towards Albania’s participation in 
the IMF. The IMF accounts do not have a defined maturity. The IMF securities account 
includes certain borrowings that are part of the Extended Fund Facility (EFF) program 
originally disbursed during the period from 2006 to 2009. At 31 December 2017, 
EFF borrowings amount to ALL 96 million or SDR 0.6 million (2016: ALL 261 million 
or SDR 1.5 million). The facility will mature on 28 January 2019. The interest on 
these borrowings is floating and is paid on quarterly basis. The annual interest rate 
at 31 December 2017 is 1.747% p.a. (2016: 1.247% p.a.).

IMF pays remuneration to members with remunerated reserve tranche positions, 
at 0.738% p.a. (2016: 0.241% p.a.). The reserve tranche position is calculated 
as the difference between Quotas in the IMF and the currency holdings in the 
IMF accounts, excluding holdings acquired as a result of the use of the Fund 
credit and holdings in the IMF account No.2. 

PRGF borrowings of ALL 115 million or SDR 0.7 million (2016: ALL 314 million 
or SDR 2 million) include PRGF No. 4 that was granted in 2006 and bears 
an interest rate of 0.5% p.a. This facility had a grace period of five and a 
half years and is payable in 10 semi-annual equal instalments. The facility will 
mature on 30 January 2019.
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Direct budget support provided by the IMF

Direct budget support provided by the IMF to the Government of Albania, 
where the Government assumes the Fund liability, is not recognised as a 
liability of the Bank to the Fund, even though the funds are initially deposited 
in the Government accounts at the Bank. During the years 2014 - 2017, the 
IMF disbursed tranches with a total balance of ALL 50,041 million (2016: ALL 
41,029 million), as part of the EFF facility program approved by the IMF in 
favour of Albania. These tranches are used to provide direct budget financing 
to the Government of Albania represented by the Ministry of Finance. The 
borrowing is repayable within 3 years, by the Albanian Government through 
the accounts of the Bank with the IMF. The Albanian Government will repay all 
principal, interest and any other expense associated with the above tranches, 
and those expected to be disbursed in the future. In relation to this borrowing, 
the Ministry of Finance issued promissory notes in favour of the IMF. 

11.	 lOANS TO BANKS

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Reverse repurchase agreements 39,461 29,934
Overnight loans to banks 410 -
Total 39,871 29,934

At 31 December 2017, reverse repurchase agreements between the Bank 
and commercials banks have original maturities from one week to three months 
(2016: from one week to three months).

12.	T RADING ASSETS

Trading assets (In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Non-derivatives:
Bonds of foreign agencies 6,038 5,428
Bonds of foreign governments and multilateral 
institutions 8,125 10,755

Derivatives:
Foreign exchange forwards 77 -
Total 14,240 16,183

Trading assets are administrated by the International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (‘IBRD’) as stated in the agreement ‘On the administration 
and technical assistance on investing the foreign reserve of Bank of Albania 
(Reserves and Advisory Management Program) signed between Bank of 
Albania and IBRD on 23 September 2005. Investments in this portfolio are 
denominated in USD.

Trading liabilities (In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Derivatives: Interest rate futures - 2
Total - 2
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The annual interest rates for non-derivative assets at 31 December 2017 and 
2016 are as follows:

In % 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
USD 0.750 - 2.375 0.625 - 2.875

13.	AVAILA BLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Available-for-sale investment securities by type of issuer and security are 
presented as follows:

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016 
Treasury Bills of foreign governments and multi-
lateral institutions 5,813 3,389

Bonds of banks and other institutions 16,532 15,521
Bonds of foreign agencies 25,303 53,497
Bonds of foreign governments and multilateral 
institutions 145,008 173,288

Treasury Bills of the Albanian Government 52,719 53,235
Total 245,375 298,930

The classification of certain comparative figures by type of issuer has been 
refined to conform with the current year presentation. As a result, an amount 
of ALL 23,989 million, previously classified as agencies and corporate 
securities, is included in the comparative amount presented as Bonds of foreign 
governments and multilateral institutions. 

The annual yields for each currency at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as 
follows: 

In  % ALL USD GBP AUD EUR
31 December 2017 1.25-2.68 1.33-2.64 0.34 – 0.76 1.88 - 2.14 (0.85)-1.82
31 December 2016 1.23-3.17 0.50-3.65 0.00-0.48 1.73-2.04 (0.80)-1.73

Available for sale investments in ALL at 31 December 2017, represent Albanian 
Government treasury bills with a maturity period from 3 months to 12 months 
(2016: from 3 months to 12 months). 

As a result of further relaxing monetary policies of certain central banks during 
2015 and onward, the return rates of the main part of foreign reserve portfolio 
in EUR, are negative. 
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15.	 other assets

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Loans to employees 1,712 1,718
Numismatics (banknotes and coins) 302 304
Printing and minting costs 291 228
Inventory 21 26
Other 25 40
Total 2,351 2,316

Loans to employees at 31 December 2017 are net of allowance for impairment 
of ALL 8 million (2016: ALL 8 million). 

16.	CU RRENCY IN CIRCULATION

The exclusive right of issuing Albanian currency is vested with the Bank. 
Currency in circulation comprises domestic banknotes and coins in circulation 
issued by the Bank.

The following banknotes and coins were in circulation as at 31 December 
2017 and 2016:
(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Nominal value ALL Number in
thousand

Total ALL
(million)

Number in
thousand

Total ALL
(million)

Notes:
100 3,402 340 3,404 340
200 11,333 2,267 11,399 2,280
500 17,921 8,961 19,343 9,671
1,000 39,006 39,006 39,658 39,658
2,000 31,203 62,405 28,075 56,149
5,000 31,454 157,269 29,325 146,625
Coins 4,437 4,098

274,685 258,821

17.	 DUE TO BANKS 

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Compulsory reserve and current accounts 146,635 135,602
Compulsory reserve – cash  in custody - 9,990
Overnight deposits - 6,760
Total 146,635 152,352

Based on the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No. 39, dated 25 June 2014, 
amended by the Decision No. 76, dated 06 July 2016, the compulsory reserve in 
euro is negatively remunerated at 0.4%, which is the deposit rate defined by ECB 
(2016:  negative 0.4%), whilst the compulsory reserve in USD is not remunerated. 
The compulsory reserve in ALL is remunerated at 0.875% (2016: 0.875%). 

Based on the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No. 29, dated 16 May 
2012, ‘On the minimum compulsory reserve held at the Bank of Albania by 
commercial banks’, amended by the Decision No. 75, dated 06 July 2016, 
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the Bank allows the commercial banks to maintain the compulsory reserve in the 
form of cash in custody with the Bank. 

18.	 Deposits and borrowings from third parties

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Deposits from individuals for participation in 
Treasury Bills auctions 80 122

Deposits from the pension fund 97 47
Deposits from the Deposit Insurance Agency 3,856 3,141
Total 4,033 3,310

Deposits from the pension fund relate to the pension plan scheme, which is 
based on employee contributions and employer contributions. Based on the 
Decision No. 17, dated 26 February 2014 of the Supervisory Council the 
pension fund reports its financial statements separately from the Bank.

19.	dUE  TO GOVERNMENT and state institutions

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Profit to be distributed to the Government 901 908
Deposits from the Government 29,821 17,975
Due to state institutions 4,573 1,009
Total 35,295 19,892

Based on the agreement between the Bank and the Ministry of Finance, 
the Bank of Albania pays interest only for the cases of time deposits by the 
Albanian Government, as well as a guarantee deposit of ALL 500 million 
(2016: ALL 500 million) for which the interest rate is based on the decisions 
of the Supervisory Council. The remuneration rate on 31 December 2017 is 
1.25% (2016: 1.25%).

Profit to be distributed to the Government at 31 December 2017, of ALL 901 
million represents the portion of reserves and of the profit for the year 2017, that 
is payable to the Government in the subsequent year. Profit to be distributed to the 
Government at 31 December 2016, of ALL 908 million was distributed in 2017.

20.	OT HER LIABILITIES

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Due to international financial institutions 168 871
Accrued expenses 166 253
Provisions for claims and litigations 150 139
Total 484 1,263

Balances due to international financial institutions include amounts payable 
to IBRD of ALL 111 million (2016: ALL 793 million) for the purchase of 
securities that are managed by the IBRD, and other amounts payable to IBRD, 
International Development Agency (‘IDA’), Multilateral Investment Guarantee 
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Agency (‘MIGA’), and Islamic Development Bank (‘IDB’) totalling ALL 57 million 
(2015: ALL 78 million).

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the 
movements in provisions for claims and litigations are presented below:

(In ALL million) 2017 2016
Balance at 1 January 139 65
Provisions made during the year 25 83
Provisions used during the year  (5) -
Provisions reversed during the year (9) (9)
Balance at 31 December 150 139

21.	r eserves

(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Legal reserve 12,500 12,500
Revaluation reserve 7,993 23,240
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale assets) (205) 531
Other reserves 22,181 16,548
Transition reserve - 5,619
Total 42,469 58,438

The legal reserve is created based on the requirements of Article 9 of the Law 
‘On the Bank of Albania’, according to which, the Bank sets aside 25%  of the 
net profit for the year into a Legal Reserve until the reserve amounts to 500% of 
the capital. The Bank has complied with this requirement as at 31 December 
2011 with its legal reserve amounting to ALL 12,500 million.

The revaluation reserve results from the net gain/(loss) from changes in the fair value 
of the monetary gold (Note 9) and net foreign exchange gains/(losses), which are 
initially recognized in profit or loss and then transferred to revaluation reserves. The 
decrease of ALL 15,247 million in Revaluation Reserve is a result of the depreciation 
of foreign currencies, and in particular of USD and EUR versus ALL. The transition 
reserve was created as a result of the first-time adoption of IFRSs. The transition date 
was 1 January 2014. During 2017, this reserve was reallocated (see below).

Other reserves include the following:
(In ALL million) 31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Reserve for the Balance of Payments 7,209 7,209
Reserve of gold and precious metals 7,042 7,042
Reserve for property and equipment 	 7,902 -
Reserve for the estimated effect from financial 
instruments 28 -

Other - 2,297
Total 22,181 16,548

The reserve for the Balance of Payments represents financial assistance provided 
by the European Community during the years 1992 and 1993. There have 
been no movements in such reserve since 1995. 
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The reserve of gold and precious metals represents the reserve created based 
on Law No. 9862, dated 24 January 2008 ‘On the transfer of ownership of 
gold and other precious metals from the Albanian Council of Ministers to the 
Bank of Albania’. 

The reserve for the estimated effect from financial instruments is created based on 
the Decision of the Supervisory Council of Bank of Albania No. 20, dated 15 
March 2018. This reserve will be used to cover the estimated effect of expected 
credit losses upon adoption of the IFRS 9 (see accounting policy 6.(v)).

Other reserves of ALL 2,297 million at 31 December 2016 were created from the 
allocation of profits based on Supervisory Council decisions taken in previous years. 

The reserve for property and equipment of ALL 7,902 was created based on 
the Decisions of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania No. 19 and 
No. 20, dated 15 March 2018, as a result of the reallocation of the transition 
reserve of ALL 5,619 million and other reserves of ALL 2,297 million, less net 
distributions to the Government of ALL 14 million, presented as follows:

(In ALL million) 2017
Certain negative differences, part of the transition reserve  (2,335)
Remaining reallocations from the transition reserve 7,954
Net reallocation of the transition reserve 5,619
Total reallocation of other reserves 2,297
Distributions to the Government (14)
Balance at 31 December 2017 7,902

From the total reserve for property and equipment, an amount of ALL 2,453 
million is distributable in the future and such distributions are subject to decisions 
of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania. The remaining part of the 
reserve for property and equipment is not distributable.

22.	NET  INTEREST INCOME 

(In ALL million) 2017 2016
Interest income
Available-for-sale investment securities 1,702 1,957
Loans to banks 444 300
Deposits with banks 161 52
Accounts with IMF 130 21
Other 294 164
Total interest income 2,731 2,494
Interest expense
Compulsory reserves 316 380
Loan from the Republic of Greece - 9
Due to the International Monetary Fund 42 10
Due to the Albanian Government 10 62
Deposits from third parties 46 19
Negative interest from deposits with financial institutions 392 257
Total interest expense 806 737
Net interest income 1,925 1,757
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Negative interest from deposits with financial institutions of ALL 392 million 
(2016: ALL 257 million) represents charges arising from negative yielding 
deposits and accounts placed with foreign financial institutions.

Interest income from available-for-sale securities include income received from 
treasury bills issued by the Albanian Government with a total value of ALL 
1,091 million (2016: ALL 1,012 million). Income from security lending and 
available-for-sale foreign reserve securities, after accounting for the amortization 
of premium/discount is ALL 611 million (2016: ALL 945 million).

23.	NET  TRADING INCOME

(In ALL million) 2017 2016
Interest income from trading assets 200 176
Net loss from the sale of trading assets (37) (2)
Unrealized fair value changes (36) 3
Net profit from forward and future contracts 640 859
Total 767 1,036

24.	OT HER REVENUE

(In ALL million) 2017 2016
Net profit from sale of available-for-sale investments 533 470
Other 35 10
Total 568 480

25.	E MPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(In ALL million) 2017 2016
Employee salaries and compensations 1,094 1,040
Contributions for health and social security 98 91
Contribution for pension fund (see Note 18) 114 107
Total 1,306 1,238

As at 31 December 2017, the Bank had 496 employees (2016: 509 
employees).

26.	CONTIN GENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

(i)	 Reverse repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements, as at 31 December 2017, represented collateralized 
loans (see Note 11). The nominal value of the securities used as collateral as at 31 
December 2017, was ALL 42,200 million (2016: ALL 31,860 million).

(ii)	 Rent agreements

The Bank has entered into rent agreements for its premises. Rent agreements in 
force expire on 31 December 2018. Rent commitments payable within one 
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year are ALL 34 million (2016: 36 million), whilst there are no rent commitments 
payable between one and five years (2016: ALL 34 million) and after five years. 

(iii)	 Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2017, the Bank has entered into capital commitments of 
ALL 2,148 million (2016: nil) for the reconstruction of one of its buildings.

(iv)	 Credit commitments and collaterals received from employees

The total value of registered collateral for long-term loans extended to employees 
(see note 15) at 31 December 2017, is ALL 2,372 million (2016: ALL 2,414 
million). At 31 December 2017, unused credit commitments for employees 
amount to ALL 77 million (2016: ALL 171 million).

(v)	 Legal proceedings

Claims against the Bank may be raised in the normal course of business. In two 
cases brought by third parties, although liability is not admitted, if the defense 
is unsuccessful, then certain amounts and legal costs would be paid by the 
Bank. The outcome of these actions and the amounts claimed by third parties 
have not yet been determined. The Bank estimates that no material losses will 
be incurred in respect of claims, in excess of provisions that have been made 
in these financial statements (see Note 20).

27.	 MANAGED ASSETS

At 31 December 2017, the Bank acts as custodian for short-term treasury bills 
with maturities from 3 to 12 months, with total nominal value of ALL 199 billion 
(2016: ALL 213 billion) and for long-term securities with maturities varying 
between 2 and 10 years, with nominal value of ALL 337 billion (2016: ALL 
311 billion) and EUR 114 million (2016: EUR 78 million). These securities are 
issued by the Albanian Government. 

28.	 RELATED PARTIES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the 
other party or to exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and other decisions. 

Considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the 
substance of the relationship and not merely to the legal form.

The related parties of Bank of Albania include the directors and members of 
the Supervisory Council. As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, balances with 
related parties comprised:  
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(In ALL million) 2017 2016
Loans to directors
Directors 126 91
Total 126 91

Loans to directors have an interest rate of 0.5% p.a. and a grace period of 
two years, and are repayable within maximum of 30 years in equal monthly 
instalments. The mortgage loans are collateralized.

The increase of ALL 35 million (2016: ALL 35 million) of management staff 
loans in 2017 represents new granted loans of ALL 33 million (2016: ALL 
35 million), the normal loan repayments of 5 million ALL (2016: repayment of 
ALL 3 million) and reclassification of loan level, according to changes in the 
hierarchy structure of management staff during 2017, increase of ALL 7 million 
(2016: increase of ALL 3 million as a result of changes in the hierarchy structure 
of the management staff).

(In ALL million) 2017 2016
Administrative expenses
Directors and Supervisory Council members:
Telephone expenses 4 4
Salaries and bonuses 136 125
Per diems 6 6
Directors:
Fuel compensation 3 3
Contribution to pension plan scheme 13 12
Total of administrative expenses for related parties 162 150

Balances with/(due to) the Albanian Government and state institutions are 
disclosed in Notes 13 and 19, and related interest income from securities 
and interest expenses are included in Note 22. Promissory notes issued by 
the Albanian Government in favour of the IMF are detailed in Note 10, whilst 
securities issued by the Albanian Government and managed by the Bank are 
detailed in Note 27.

29.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no significant events after the reporting date that may require 
adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.
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Statistical appendix, december 2017

Main macroeconomic indicators 198
Monetary developments and interest rates 1. 198
Gross domestic product, price indexes and labor market 2. 198
Balance of payments 9, reserves and exchange rate 3. 199
Fiscal balance, domestic debt stock and external debt 4. 199

FINANCIAL SECTOR 1 200
 Sectoral balance sheet of Bank of Albania 1-1 200
Monetary survey of Bank of Albania 1-2 201
Sectoral balance sheet of deposit money banks/ Assets 1-3.a 202
Sectoral balance sheet of deposit money banks/ Liabilities 1-3.b 203
Monetary survey of deposit money banks 1-4 204
1-5 Bilanci sektorial i shoqërive të kursim-kreditit 205
Sectoral balance sheet of savings and loan associations 1-5 205
1-6 Paraqitja monetare e korporatave të tjera depozituese 206
Monetary survey of other depository corporations 1-6 206
Monetary survey of depository corporations 1-7 207
 Monetary aggregates and their components 1-8.a 208
Counterparts of monetary aggregates 1-8.b 209
Lek denominated deposits by sectors* 1-9 210
Foreign currency denominated deposits by sectors* 1-10 210
Credit to economy by sector * 1-11 211
Loans of non-financial corporations by economic activity (Nace - Rev.2) * 1-12 212
Private non-financial corporations loans by purpose and currency* 1-13a 213
Public non-financial corporations loans by purpose and currency * 1-13b 214
Households + Non-profit institutions serving households loans by purpose and currency* 1-14 215
Loans by districts* 1-15 216
Bank of Albania interest rates* 1-16 217
Interest rates on new deposits of non-financial corporations, households and NPISH by currency * 1-17 218
Interest rates on new loans of non-financial corporations, households and NPISH by currency* 1-18 219
Interest rates on new loans of private non-financial corporations by purpose and currency * 1-18a 220
Interest rates on new loans of households and NPISH by purpose and currency * 1-18b 221
Maturity breakdown of Treausury bills yields * 1-19 222
Interbank payment system 1-20 223
Number of ATM & POS terminals by region 1-21 223
Number of customers accounts with banks 1-22 223

EXTERNAL SECTOR 2 224
Balance of payments 1 2-1 224
Exchange rate 2-2 225
Export by commodity groups* 2-3 225
Import by commodity groups* 2-4 226
Gross external debt 2-5 226

FISCAL SECTOR 3 227
Fiscal indicators regarding consolidated budget* 3-1 227
Domestic debt stock by instruments1 3-2 228

REAL SECTOR 4 229
Gross domestic product by economic activities, (Production Method NACE Rev 2) 4-1 229
Producer price index and construction cost index 4-2 (for dwellings) 230
Consumer price index 4-3 231
Employment, unemployment and wages1 4-4 232
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1-19 Normat e interesit për bonot e thesarit 
sipas afatit *
Në përqindje 

Maturity breakdown of Treausury bills  
yields * 1-19

 In percentage

 
Normat e interesit për bonot e thesarit / Maturity breakdown of Treausury bill yields

 3 mujor / 3 months 6 mujor / 6 months 12 mujor /12 months

2009/12 6.30 7.52 9.14

2010/12 5.29 6.41 7.09

2011/12 5.31 6.23 6.95

2012/12 5.03 5.65 6.37

2013/12 3.40 3.54 3.66

2014/12 3.15 3.16 3.33

2015/01 3.23 3.23 3.50

02 3.19 3.23 3.58

03 3.11 3.25 3.59

04 3.00 3.14 3.50

05 2.90 3.11 3.42

06 2.79 3.04 3.29

07 2.71 2.97 3.24

08 2.66 2.90 3.22

09 2.61 2.87 3.21

10 2.57 2.82 3.18

11 _ 2.82 2.97

12 _ 2.46 2.40

2016/01 1.45 1.99 2.10

02 _ 1.36 1.78

03 _ 1.26 1.63

04 0.90 1.15 1.52

05 _ 0.99 1.35

06 _ 0.95 1.28

07 0.88 0.94 1.29

08 _ 0.86 1.46

09 _ 0.90 1.60

10 1.22 0.90 1.94

11 _ 1.57 2.47

12 2.00 2.92

2017/01 1.22 2.25 3.20

02 _ 2.01 2.93

03 _ 1.70 2.25

04 _ 1.52 1.79

05 _ 1.54 1.98

06 _ _ 2.04

07 _ 1.54 2.12

08 _ 1.65 2.20

09 _ _ 2.31

10 _ 1.82 2.46

11 _ 2.04 2.54

12 _ _ 2.63

 Burimi: Banka e Shqipërisë 
* Përfaqësojnë normat mesatare të ponderuara të periudhës.

 Source: Bank of Albania. 
* Weighted average interest rates.
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1-20 Sistemi i pagesave ndërbankare Interbank payment system 1-20

 

Volumi i transaksioneve / Volume of transactions Vlera e transaksioneve (në milionë lekë) / Value of transactions (in milions ALL)

AIPS AECH AIPS AECH

1 2 3 4

Totali i periudhës / Total of period

2015 123,578 466,708 6,329,598 84,405

2016 122,550 508,935 7,676,910 90,137

2017 125,641 553,433 8,472,615 97,779

 Flukse mujore / Monthly flows 

2017/07 10,192 46,214 639,639 8,301

08 11,154 43,366 700,269 8,079

09 10,367 43,607 635,363 7,894

10 10,648 48,877 651,182 8,422

11 9,612 46,336 755,969 8,017

12 11,910 65,669 714,776 11,318

1-21 Shpërndarja rajonale e terminaleve të ATM & 
POS
Fund periudhe

Number of ATM & POS terminals by region 
1-21

End of period

 

Shpërndarja rajonale e ATM / Number of ATM by regions

Total (2+ 3+ 4+ 5+ 6+ 7)
           

Tirana Shkodra Korça Gjirokastra Elbasani Lushnja

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

2015 826 469 93 54 53 44 113

2016 800 472 78 68 45 36 101

2017 747 456 75 59 42 32 83

  Shpërndarja rajonale e terminaleve POS / Number of POS terminals by regions

2015 6,689 5,331 320 146 211 222 459

2016 7,111 5,823 343 180 241 164 360

2017 7,294 6,269 320 138 173 137 257

1-22 Numri i llogarive të klientëve në banka
Fund periudhe

Number of customers accounts 
with banks 1-22

End of period

 
Llogaritë totale / 

Total accounts (2+5)

 

Llogari rezidente / 
Resident accounts 

  Llogari jo rezidente 
/ Non resident 
accounts (6+7)

 
Individë / Individuals 

(3+4)
Kompani / Com-

panies Individë / Individuals Kompani / Companies 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

2015 3,307,663 3,287,990 3,094,995 192,995 19,673 18,347 1,326

2016 3,477,985 3,449,267 3,238,440 210,827 28,718 26,154 2,564

2017 3,141,739 3,109,886 2,922,314 187,572 31,853 30,045 1,808
Burimi: Banka e Shqipërisë. Source: Bank of Albania.
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